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PART I
Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Information
This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains, in aduditto historical information, certain forwaloleking statements within the meaning
the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of B9\l statements other than statements of hisabfercts contained in this Annual Report on

Form 10-K, including statements regarding our fettesults of operations and financial positioratsgy and plans, and our expectations for

future operations, are forward-looking statemefibe words “believe,” “may,” “estimate,” “continue’anticipate,” “design,” “intend,”

“expect” and similar expressions are intended émiifly forward-looking statements. We have basedeforward-looking statements largely
on our current expectations and projections ahauté events and trends that we believe may aff@ctinancial condition, results of
operations, strategy, short-term and long-termriassi operations and objectives, and financial néexdward-looking statements include, but
are not limited to, statements about:

e our opportunities and expectations for growth i skudent lending, healthcare and other mar

* anticipated trends and challenges in our businedsampetition in the markets in which we oper

» our client relationships and future growth oppoities;

» the adaptability of our technology platform to nearkets and processt

» our ability to invest in and utilize our data anthlytics capabilities to expand our capabiliti

» our growth strategy of expanding in our existingkess and considering strategic alliances or adipns;

e our ability to meet our liquidity and working caglineeds

e maintaining, protecting and enhancing our intellatproperty:

e our expectations regarding future expen

» expected future financial performance;

e our ability to comply with and adapt to industrguéations and compliance deman

These statements reflect current views with resjgeftiture events and are based on assumptionsudajelct to risks and uncertainties.

We note that a variety of factors could cause dctsaults and experience to differ materially fréme anticipated results or expectations
expressed in our forward-looking statements. Gise uncertainties, you should not place undugned on these forward-looking

statements. Forward-looking statements are alsesuio risks and uncertainties that could causeahcesults to differ materially from those
expected. These risks and uncertainties includeadgunot limited to, those risks discussed in lie%of this report.

Forward-looking statements contained in this repogsent management’s views only as of the datiei®feport. We undertake no
obligation to publicly update forward-looking statents, whether as a result of new information,ruevents or otherwise. You are advised,
however, to consult any further disclosures we nakeelated subjects in our quarterly reports omFd0-Q and current reports on Form 8-K
reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Cdgsion.

ITEM 1. Business
Overview

We provide technology-enabled recovery and relatelytics services in the United States. Our sesvielp identify and recover
delinquent or defaulted assets and improper payrfenboth government and private clients in a Bn@nge of markets. Our clients typically
operate in complex and regulated environments atgbarce their recovery needs in order to redussel® on billions of dollars of defaulted
student loans, improper healthcare payments amaodelnt state tax and federal treasury receivalilesgenerally provide our services on an
outsourced basis, where we handle many or all &spéour clients’ recovery processes.
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We believe we have a leading position in our markaised on our proprietary technology-enabled ees\platform, long-standing client
relationships and the large volume of funds we haeevered for our clients. In 2012, we providetbreery services on approximately $8.2
billion of combined student loans and other delewjufederal and state receivables and recoveramxpately $482 million in improper
Medicare payments. Our clients include 11 of thep@llic sector participants in the student loarusidy and these relationships average more
than 10 years in length, including a 22-year refathip with the Department of Education. Accordinghe Department of Education, total
government-supported student loan originations westienated to be approximately $115 billion in 2042d, as of September 30, 2012,
approximately $78 billion of government-supportéatent loans were in default. In the healthcareketamve are currently one of four prime
Medicare Recovery Audit Contractors, or RACs, ia United States for the Centers for Medicare andibééd Services, or CMS. According
the Government Accountability Office, Medicare p&b4 billion of claims in 2011, of which approxitaly $43 billion were estimated to be
improper payments.

We utilize our technology platform to efficientlyqvide recovery and analytics services in the mtarke serve. We have continuously
developed and refined our technology platform forast two decades by using our extensive domaindatal processing expertise. Our
technology platform allows us to disaggregate atig¥ complex recovery processes into a serieqwglei efficient and consistent component
steps, which we refer to as workflows, for our rery and healthcare claims review specialists. @pjzroach enables us to continuously re
our recovery processes to achieve higher ratescofvery with greater efficiency. By optimizing whedditionally have been manually-
intensive processes, we believe we achieve higbekfarce productivity versus more traditional lafiotensive outsourcing business models.
For example, we generated in excess of $150,008vehues per employee during 2012, based on thhagaveumber of employees during the
year.

We believe that our platform is easily adaptablagw markets and processes. Over the past sesana, ywe have successfully extendec
our platform into additional markets with signifitaecovery opportunities. For example, we utiliteel same basic platform previously used
primarily for student loan recovery activities toter the healthcare market. We have enhanced atfoh through investment in new data anc
analytics capabilities, which we believe will enalbls to provide additional services such as sesviglating to the detection of fraud, waste
abuse.

Our revenue model is generally success-based asmneees based on a percentage of the aggregatsmtaf funds that we enable our
clients to recover. Our services do not require siggificant upfront investments by our clients avel offer our clients the opportunity to
recover significant funds otherwise lost. Becausenasodel is based upon the success of our effadsta dollars we enable for our clients to
recover, our business objectives are aligned witse: of our clients and we are generally not rebantheir spending budgets. Further, our
business model does not require significant capitpbenditures and we do not purchase loans oratldigs.

We believe we benefit from a significant degreeesfenue visibility due to reasonably predictablgokesry outcomes in a substantial
portion of our business. For the year ended DeceBibe2012, we generated approximately $210.1 anilln revenues, $23.0 million in net
income, $69.6 million in adjusted EBITDA and $3@élion in adjusted net income. See “Adjusted EBABnd Adjusted Net Income” below
for a definition of adjusted EBITDA and adjusted imcome and reconciliations of adjusted EBITDA auljusted net income to net income
determined in accordance with generally acceptedwating principles.

We commenced our operations in 1976 under the capoame Diversified Collection Services, Inc.p@S. We were incorporated in
Delaware on October 8, 2003 under the name DCSikfgddInc. and subsequently changed our name forent Financial Corporation in
2005.

Our Markets

We operate in markets characterized by strong dgroavtomplex regulatory environment and a signifiGanount of delinquent,
defaulted or improperly paid assets.
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Student Lending

Student lending is a large and critically-importardrket in the United States. According to the Depant of Education, total
government-supported student loan originations wstienated to be approximately $115 billion in ylear ended September 30, 2012, and th
aggregate dollar amount of these loans has groarcaimpound annual growth rate of 11% from 2008ugh 2012. This growth has been
supported by general demographic trends, increasesliment, and rising costs of tuition and othquenses that increase the need for
borrowed funds among students. In addition to gtnamderlying origination growth, the default ratesong student loan borrowers have
increased in recent years. The “cohort defaultratkich is the measure utilized by the DepartnafrEducation to track the percentage of
government-supported loan borrowers that enteryrapat in a certain year ended September 30 andltéfathe end of the next year ended
September 30, has risen from approximately 5% 0620 approximately 9% in 2010, the last year fbick data is available.

Government-supported student loans are authoriaddruTitle 1V of the Higher Education Act of 19@3istorically, there have been two
distribution channels for student loans: (i) theléml Direct Student Loan Program, or FDSLP, whegresents loans made and managed
directly by the Department of Education; and (g ~ederal Family Education Loan Program, or FFEltich represents loans made by
private institutions and currently backed by anyhaf 31 GAs.

In July 2010, the government-supported student éeator underwent a structural change with thegugssef SAFRA. This legislation
transitioned all new government-supported studsam briginations to the FDSLP, and away from oatjons made by private institutions
within the FFELP that had previously utilized th&s3to guarantee, manage and service loans. Thea®?Ason-profit 501(c)(3) public benefit
corporations operating under contract with the \$&retary of Education, pursuant to the Highercatian Act of 1965, as amended, solely
for the purpose of guaranteeing and managing studens originated by lenders participating in BfELP. Consequently, while the original
distribution channels for student loans have bessalidated into one channel, the Department oftktlon, this does not impact the volum
government-supported student loan origination, tvisca key driver of the volume of defaulted studean inventory. In addition, despite this
transition of all new loan originations to the FOFSLGASs will continue to manage a significant amaafrdefaulted student loans for some
period of time, due to their large outstanding fadids of loans originated prior to July 2010. Ttnetstanding portfolios of defaulted FFELP
loans will, therefore, require recovery for thedeeeable future.

The Department of Education estimates that thenbalaf defaulted loans was approximately $44.7obilin the FDSLP and
approximately $32.7 billion in the FFELP as of Sepber 30, 2012. These programs collectively guasghapproximately $706 billion of
federal government-supported student loans acggtdithe Congressional Budget Office as of SepterBbe2011. Given the operational and
logistical complexity involved in managing the rgeoy of defaulted student loans, the Departmeiiicafcation and the GAs generally choose
to outsource these services to third parties.
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The tables below show government-supported studentoriginations and government-supported defauéntory for the years ended
2007 through 2012 as reported by the DepartmeBtatation.

Government-Supported Loan Originations Government-Supported Default Inventory
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Healthcare

The healthcare industry represents a significartigpoof the U.S. GDP. According to CMS, U.S. hbadtre spending reached $2.7 trill
in 2011 and is forecast to grow at a 6% annualthataugh 2021. In particular, CMS indicates thakeiieal government-related healthcare
spending for 2011 totaled approximately $1.2 tmili This government-related spending included apprately $554 billion for Medicare,
which provides a range of healthcare coverage pifyrta elderly and disabled Americans, and $408dw for Medicaid, which provides
federal matching funds for states to finance healt for individuals at or below the public assis&level.

The tables below show total U.S. healthcare experedi from 2011 through 2021 and total Medicarendpgy from 2011 through 2021
estimated by CMS.

Total LS. Healthcare Expenditures Medicare Spending
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Medicare was initially established as part of tleei&l Security Act of 1965 and consists of fourtpaPart A covers hospital and other
inpatient stays; Part B covers hospital outpatighysician and other services; Part C is known adibére Advantage, under which
beneficiaries receive benefits through private the@llans; and Part D is the Medicare outpatiensgription drug benefit.

Of the $554 billion of 2011 Medicare spending, Bepartment of Health and Human Services estiméiidapproximately $43 billion,
or 8%, was improper, and is the federal progran e largest amount of improper payments. Medioapeoper payments generally involve
incorrect coding, procedures performed which wertenmedically necessary, incomplete documentatiotiaims submitted based on outdated
fee schedules, among other issues. Likewise, Mieticgroper payments were estimated to be $22ohillor 5%, of total Medicaid payments
for 2011. The following table illustrates the profpan of improper payments among federal programtsié year ended September 30, 2011,
according to the Office of Management and Budget.

Top Federal Programs with Improper Payments in the Year Ended September 30, 2011

Supplemeantal Nulritian Assislance Program
2%
Ratirement, Survivors & Disability Insurance
4%
Supplemental
Security Income
44

Unamploymeant
Insurance
12% |

Eamed Incomea
Tax Cradil
s,

Total = $115 billion

(1) Other includes National School Lunch, Pell Grant &7 additional program

In accordance with the Medicare Prescription Dingprovement, and Modernization Act of 2003, a dest@tion program was
conducted from March 2005 to March 2008 in sixegdb determine if the RAC program could be effedyi used to identify improper
payments for claims paid under Medicare Part ARad B. Due to the success of this demonstratiodeuThe Tax Relief and Health Care
of 2006, the U.S. Congress authorized the exparnditine RAC program nationwide. CMS relies on thpatty contractors to execute the RAC
program to analyze millions of Medicare claims aadiyufor improper payments that have been paide@ithcare providers. The program was
implemented by designating one prime contractaaich of the four major regions in the United Stafésst, Midwest, South, and Northeast.

In addition to government-related healthcare spemdiignificant growth is expected in the privagalthcare market. According to CMS’
National Health Expenditures Projections, the geveealthcare market accounted for approximatel§ $illion in spending in 2011 ar
private expenditures are projected to grow mora 8% annually through 2021.

5



Table of Contents

Other Markets
State Tax Market

We believe that the demand for recovery of delimfjs¢ate taxes will grow as state governments gteugith revenue generation and
face significant budget deficits. According to tBenter on Budget and Policy Priorities, an indepanthink tank, 43 U.S. states faced budget
shortfalls totaling $107 billion in the year endgeptember 30, 2012, with at least 31 states aatinip deficits for fiscal year 2013. The
economic recession has led to lower income and sakes from both individuals and corporationsuoéuy overall tax revenues and leading tc
large budget deficits at the state government lailile many states have received federal aid, masgé cut services and increased taxes to
help close the budget shortfall and have evaluatgsburcing at least some aspect of delinquentseovery.

Federal Agency Market

The federal agency market consists of governmdrtt slebrogated to the Department of the Treasunyumerous different federal
agencies, comprising a mix of commercial and irdlial obligations and a diverse range of receivafileese debts are managed by the
Department of Financial Management Service, a huogéghe Department of the Treasury, or FMS. Site@6, the FMS has recovered more
than $54 billion in delinquent federal debt. Fce tlear ended September 30, 2011, federal agenayeees in this market totaled more than
$6.2 hillion, an increase of more than $700 millawer 2010. A significant portion of these collecis are processed by private collection firm:
on behalf of the FMS.

Our Competitive Strengths

We believe that our business is difficult to reati, as it incorporates a combination of severpbittant and differentiated elements,
including:

e Scalable and flexible technolo~enabled services platfornWe have built a proprietary technology platformttisehighly flexible,
intuitive and easy to use for our recovery andnetaspecialists. Our platform is easily configuradme deployable across multiple
markets and processes. For example, we have stidbesstended our platform from the student loaarket to the state tax,
federal treasury receivables and the healthcamveeg markets, each having its own industry comfikscand specific regulation

» Advanced, technoloc¢-enabled workflow processe®©ur technology-enabled workflow processes, develaper many years of
operational experience in recovery services, disagge otherwise complex recovery processes in&ias of simple, efficient and
consistent steps that are easily configurable apticable to different types of recovery-relateglagations. We believe our
workflow software is highly intuitive and helps ow@covery and claims specialists manage each §tibe oecovery process, while
automating a series of otherwise manually-intenaived document-intensive steps in the recovery pod&'e believe our
streamlined workflow technology drives higher affitrcies in our operations, as illustrated by oulitglio generate in excess of
$150,000 of revenues per employee during 2012 dhais¢he average number of employees during the Yéabelieve our
streamlined workflow technology also improves rezgwesults relative to more lal-intensive outsourcing mode

« Enhanced data and analytics capabilitieOur data and analytics capabilities allow us taeahstrong recovery rates for our
clients. We have collected recovery-related data¥er two decades, which we combine with largeirads of client and third-
party data to effectively analyze our clients’ dglient or defaulted assets and improper paymergshade also developed a
number of analytics tools that we use to scorectients’ recovery inventory, determine the optimadovery process and allocation
of resources, and achieve higher levels of recoresylts for our clients. In addition, we utilizeadytics tools to continuously
measure and test our recovery workflow processdsite refinements and further enhance the quatity effectiveness of our
capabilities. Finally, through
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strategic investment, we have acquired enhancedaseatlytics capabilities, which we refer to as &enfant Insight. This investme
allows us to expand our capabilities into seveeal mreas including the detection of fraud, wastkalyuse in various markets and
has assisted in our recovery activities for Cl

» Long-standing client relationships We believe our long-standing focus on achievingesigp recovery performance for our clients
and the significant value our clients derive frdris focus have helped us achieve long-tenuredtal@ationships, strong contract
retention and better access to new clients anddgrowth opportunities. We have business relaktigmsswith 11 of the 31 public
sector participants in the student loan marketthade relationships average more than 10 yeaengtH, including an approximate
22-year relationship with the Department of Edwatin the healthcare market, we have a sevenrgéaiionship with CMS and
are currently one of only four prime Medicare RA@htractors

» Extensive domain expertise in complex and regulatadrkets. We have extensive experience and domain expentigeoviding
recovery services for government and private ustins that generally operate in complex and ragdlanarkets. We have
demonstrated our ability to develop domain expeiitisnew markets such as healthcare and statenthfederal Treasury
receivables. We believe we have the necessary iaagamal experience to understand and adapt ttviexgopublic policy and how
it shapes the regulatory environment and objectfesir clients. We believe this helps us idenéifid anticipate growth
opportunities. For example, we successfully ideadiovernment healthcare as a potential growtlodppity that has thus far led
to the award of three contracts to us by CMS. Trogyewvith our flexible technology platform, we habhe ability to adapt our
business strategy, to allocate resources and pomesto changes in our regulatory environment fitakze on new growth
opportunities

» Proven and experienced management te: Our management team has significant industry éspee and has demonstrated st
execution capabilities. Our senior management tésahpy Lisa Im, has been with us for an averagappiroximately 10 years. Tt
team has successfully grown our revenue base avidesefferings beyond the original student loarrkeainto healthcare and
delinquent state tax and private financial insitila$ receivables. Our management team’s indusipgrence, combined with deep
and specialized understanding of complex and higedylated industries, has enabled us to maintaig-standing client
relationships and strong financial resu

Our Growth Strategy
Key elements of our growth strategy include théofeing:

» Expand our student loan recovery volurr According to the Department of Education, totalggmment-supported student loan
originations were estimated to be approximatelys$illion in 2012, and have grown at a 11% compoandual growth rate from
2002 through 2012. The balance of defaulted goventraupported student loans was estimated to bexpyately $78 billion as
of September 30, 2012. While we have long-standitegionships with some of the largest participanthe governmensupportec
student loan market, we believe there are sigmifiopportunities within this growing market to irese the volume of student loi
placed with us by existing and new clients. Fomegke, under our contract with the Department of &dion, we believe there is .
opportunity to grow our placement volume througbrsg performance. Further, as a result of ourimahips with five of the sevi
largest GAs, we believe we are v-positioned to benefit as a result of any consdliaedf smaller GAs over the coming yee

» Expand our recovery services in the healthcare meirl According to CMS, Medicare spending totaled appnately $554 billion
in 2011 and is expected to increase to $1 trillilmA021, representing a compound annual growthafaé8s. In the private
healthcare market, spending totaled $1.5 trillio2011 and is expected to grow more than 6% anntlatbugh 2021, according to
CMS’ National Health Expenditures Projections. As tHasge markets continue to grow, we expect the |
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for recovery services to increase in the public prieate healthcare markets. In the public healdnspace, we intend to utilize the
experience gained through our contracts with CMpuigue additional recovery opportunities in aash as Medicare Secondary
Payor Recovery and state Medicaid recovery. Intamdithrough our enhanced analytics capabilitiesjntend to pursue
opportunities to find and eliminate losses priopagyment for healthcare services including thealiete of fraud, waste and abus
the public and private healthcare mark

» Pursue strategic alliances and acquisitior We intend to selectively consider opportunitiegitow through strategic alliances or
acquisitions that are complementary to our businBssse opportunities may enhance our existinghibifyaor enable us to enter
new markets or provide new products or servicesh si3 our licensing of new applied data modelirgydits capabilities that can
be used to identify fraudulent or erroneous healtclaims prior to paymer

Our Platform

Our technology-enabled services platform is basedwer two decades of experience in recoveringlargounts of funds on behalf of
our clients across several markets. The compomémtsr platform include our data management expertnalytics capabilities and
technology-based workflow processes. Our platfortagrates these components to allow us to achigtmmiaed outcomes for our clients in
the form of increased efficiency and productivibdahigh recovery rates. Our platform and workflonwgesses are also intuitive and easy tc
for our recovery and claims specialists and all@etaiincrease our employee retention and prodtgtivi

The components of our platform include the follogrin

Data Management Expertise

Our platform manages and stores large amountstaftbdeoughout the workflow process. This includethiproprietary data we have
compiled over two decades as well as third-partg ddoich we can integrate efficiently and in raald to reduce errors, reduce cycle time
processing and, ultimately, improve recovery raté® strength of our data management expertise anignour analytics capabilities and
provides our recovery and claims specialists watvgrful workflow processes.

Data Analytics Capabilities

Our data analytics capabilities efficiently screewl allocate massive volumes of recovery inventeoy.example, upon receipt of each
placement of student loans, we utilize our proprigtlgorithms to assist us in determining the nedfatient recovery process and the optimal
allocation of recovery specialist resources fohdaan. In the healthcare market, we analyze nidliof Medicare claims to find potential
correlations between claims data and improper paysnahich enhance our future recovery rates. Acatisof our current markets, we utilize
our proprietary analytics tools to continuously aigarously test our workflow processes in realdito drive greater process efficiency and
improvement in recovery rates.

Furthermore, we believe our enhanced analyticshibies will extend our potential markets, pernmt us to pursue significant new
business opportunities. We intend to accelerateiskeof our data analytics capabilities in the theake sector to offer a variety of services
from post and pre-payment audit of healthcare @damrboth the public and private healthcare setbodetection of fraud, waste and abuse of
healthcare claims, to coordination of benefits phdrmacy fraud detection.

Workflow Processes

Over many years, we have developed and refinedemonery workflow processes, which we believe dhigher efficiency and
productivity and reduce our reliance on labor-istea methods relative to more traditional
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recovery outsourcing models. We refer to the patétgchnology that supports our proprietary workfias “Smart Bins.” Smart Bins
disaggregate otherwise complex recovery processesiiseries of simple, efficient and consistespsthat are easily configurable and
applicable to different types of recovery-relatpglecations. Our workflow processes integrate aadrcange of functions that encompass eact
stage of a recovery process.

Smart Bins have been designed to be highly inwiéind help our recovery and claims specialists ggeach step in the recovery
process and enhance their productivity to highligvegardless of skill differences among sped&liSmart Bins direct specialists toward the
most efficient and effective action, or step wiéspect to the management and recovery of a dedastitelent loan, with some input by
specialists. Our technology places expert systdes into the workflow engine, allowing employeesligterent skill levels to manage the more
complex work steps that highly experienced workessld perform, while automating document manageraedtcompliance functionality as
industry regulations and compliance demands change.

The following recovery diagram illustrates how tregious components of our platform work togethesdtve a typical client workflow:

Process / Key Platform
Description Step Attributes
= Receive files far - ~
defaultad loans, Data Management and Expertise
delinguent receivabies Receipt of < .
or healthcare claims Inventory = Manages large volumes of data
Volume = Combines propristary and third-party data
SoUrces
=  Proprietary and
third-party data are
simultanaously Data . ¥,
combined o reduce Aggregation -
errors and Increase and Pre-

: Data Analytics Capabilities
likelikood of recovery Processing Yoy Lapeh

= Proprietary analytics tools

= Fiiters data to determine resource
allocation and workflow processes
»  Scoring and filtering of

data 1o determine = Able to measure and refing workflow

_ Invento I
efficient recovery - e
: ] Analysis and
process and resource Allocation
allocation
L Fy
~

= Recovery and claim
specialists ulilize
workflow processas
to ideniify, restructure
and recover inventony

Workflow Processes

Recovery
Functions

» Simplifies complex processes

* Fnhances employes productivity and
ACCUracy

= Facilitates regulatory compliance

= Move inventory to
differant specialists, if
needed, to Increase
recaovery rates

Continuous
Inventory
Management
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Our Services

We use our technology-enabled services platforprawide recovery and analytics services in a braade of markets for the
identification and recovery of student loans, inggohealthcare payments and delinquent state th¥ealeral treasury receivables. The table
below summarizes our recovery services and rekatety/tics capabilities and the markets we serve.

Recovery Service:

Student Loans Healthcare

Other Markets

Analytics
Capabilities

» Provide recovery services to thee
Department of Education, GAs
and private institutions

Provide recovery services to
identify improper healthca
payments

» Identify and track defaulted .
borrowers across our clients’
portfolios of student loans

Analyze millions of Medicar
Parts A and B claims as the
prime contractor for
recovery services for
improper payments in the
Northeast region of the
United States

Identify improper payments
typically resulting from
incorrect coding, procedur
that were not medically
necessary, incomplete
documentation or claims
submitted based on outda
fee schedules

» Utilize our proprietary
technology, our history of
borrower data and our analyt
capabilities to rehabilitate and
recover past due student loans ¢

« Earn contingent, success-based
fees calculated as a percentage
of funds that we enable our
clients to recover

« Earn contingent, success-
based fees based on a
percentage of claim amou
recoverec

Recovery Services
Student Loans

Provide tax recovery servic
to state and municipal
agencies

Recover government debt for

numerous different federal
agencies under a contract
with the Treasury and

provide recovery and audit

services for the Department

of Education

Enable financial institutions
to proactively manage loan
portfolios and reduce the
incidence of defaulted loan
assets

Earn contingent, success-
based fees calculated as a
percentage of the amounts
recovered, fees based on
dedicated headcount and

hosted technology licensing

fees

Provide claims audit,
pharmacy management
and coordination of
benefits functions for one
of the nation’s largest
health care organizations

We use our enhanced data

analytics capabilities,
which we refer to as
Performant Insight, to
offer a variety of services
from post- and pre-
payment audit of
healthcare claims to
detection of fraud, waste
and abuse of healthcare
claims, to coordination of
benefits and pharmacy
fraud detection

We provide recovery services primarily to the goweent-supported student loan industry, and ountdignclude the Department of
Education and several of the largest GAs, as vedfirivate financial institutions. We use our prefary technology to identify, track and
communicate with defaulted borrowers on behalfwfdients to implement suitable recovery progrdanghe repayment of outstanding

student loan balances.

Our clients contract with us to provide recovergvgees for large pools of student loans generapresenting a portion of the total
outstanding defaulted balances they manage, whahgrovide to us as “placements” on a periodiésb&enerally, the volume of placements

that we receive from our clients is
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influenced by our performance under our contractsa@ur ability to recover funds from defaulted sindloans, as measured against the
performance of competitors who may service a smpiteol of defaulted loans for the same client. i@ ¢éxtent we perform well under our
existing contracts and differentiate our servicesifthose of our competitors, we may receive aively greater number of student loan
placements under these contracts and may impravehidlity to obtain future contracts from theseenlis and other potential clients.

We use algorithms derived from over two decadesxp&rience with defaulted student loans to maksoregbly accurate estimates of the
recovery outcomes likely to be derived from a phaent of defaulted student loans.

We also restructure and recover student loansdsdinectly by banks to students outside of fedienadling programs. These types of
loans typically supplement government-supportedesttiloans to meet any shortfall in supply of shidean needs that cannot be met by
grants or federal loans. Unlike government-suppbstedent loans, private student loans do not bapeed interest rates and, accordingly,
involve higher instances of default relative todeally-backed student loans.

Healthcare

We provide recovery services related to impropenpnts in the healthcare market. In 2009 we werarded the role as one of four
prime RAC contractors in the United States, withlesive responsibility for the Northeast region.dénour RAC contract, we identify and
facilitate the recovery of improper Parts A and Bditare payments. Our geographical region accodateapproximately 23% of all Medice
spending in 2009 according to CMS. Our relationstifh CMS began in 2005 with an initial demonstatcontract to recover improper
payments for Medicare Secondary Payor claims.

We utilize our technology-enabled services platfeorscreen Medicare claims against several critar@uding coding procedures and
medical necessity standards, to determine whethkira should be further investigated for recouptmradjustment by CMS. We conduct
automated and, where appropriate, detailed medexassity reviews. If we determine that the likaditi of finding potential improper payment
warrants further investigation, we request andewhealthcare provider medical records relatetiéactaim, utilizing experts in Medicare
coding and registered nurses. We interact and coniwae with healthcare providers and other adnritiste entities, and ultimately submit 1
claim to CMS for correction.

To accelerate our ability to provide Medicare aadhitl recovery services across our region follovangaward of the RAC contract, we
outsource certain aspects of our healthcare reggrecess to three different subcontractors. Twihe$e subcontractors provide a specific
service to us in connection with our claims recgyaocess, and one subcontractor is engaged taderall of the audit and
recovery services for claims within a portion of oegion. According to CMS, the geographic areacalted to this subcontractor represented
approximately 17% of the total Medicare spendingunregion in 2009.

Other Markets

We also provide recovery services to several statemunicipal tax authorities, the Department ef Theasury, the Department of
Education and a number of financial institutions.

For state and municipal tax authorities, we anadypertfolio of delinquent tax and other receivaljdaced with us, develop a recovery
plan and execute a recovery process designed tomizaxthe recovery of funds. In some instanceshare also run state tax amnesty
programs, which provide one-time relief for deliegtitax obligations, and other debtor managememuices for our clients. We currently have
relationships with ten state and municipal govenmisieDelinquent obligations are placed with us bydients and we utilize a process that is
similar to the student loan recovery process foovering these obligations.
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For the Department of the Treasury, we recover gowent debt subrogated to it by numerous diffefetéral agencies. The placements
we are provided represent a mix of commercial adividual obligations. We are one of four contrastfor the most recent Treasury contract.

We also provide risk management advisory servitasdnable these clients to proactively manage poatfolios and reduce the
incidence of defaulted loan assets over time. @pegence suggests that proactive default prevemiactices produce significant net yield
and earnings gains for our clients. We deliveréhg=rvices in two forms. First, we contact and atirvgith borrowers to implement a
repayment program, including payment through autmnaiebit arrangements, prior to the beginninghef tepayment period in order to
increase the likelihood that payments begin on tifeeond, we offer a service that involves comagatielinquent borrowers in an effort to ¢
the delinquency prior to the loan entering default.

Analytics Capabilities

For several years, we have leveraged our datatasalgols to help filter, identify and recover ibgjuent and defaulted assets and
improper payments as part of our core recoveryiges\platform. Through a strategic investment, eguaed enhanced data analytics
capabilities, which we refer to as Performant Ihsigerformant Insight added new capabilities itadearehousing and data processing tools
that accelerated our ability to review, aggregatel synthesize very large volumes of structuredusrstiructured data, at high speeds, from the
initial intake of disparate data sources, to theelvausing of the data, to the analysis and repdirthe data. We believe we have built a
differentiated, next-generation “end-to-end” datagessing solution that will maximize value for @nt and future customers.

Performant Insight provides numerous benefits torrecovery services platform. Performant Insigig hot only enhanced our existing
recovery services under our RAC contract by anatyzignificantly higher volumes of healthcare claiat faster rates and reducing our cycle
time to review and assess healthcare claims, lsualsa enabled us to develop improved and moreigaaied business intelligence rules that
can be applied to our audit processes. We beliavemhanced analytics capabilities will extend potential markets, permitting us to pursue
significant new business opportunities. We intemddcelerate the use of our data analytics cafiebilh the healthcare sector to offer a variet
of services from post and ppayment audit of healthcare claims in both the ipudoid private healthcare sector, to detectionafd, waste ar
abuse of healthcare claims, to coordination of fisnend pharmacy fraud detection. For examplé&adhruary 2013, we announced a strategic
relationship to offer recovery services to identifiproper coding, billing and payments for the sakg pharmacy customers of Magellan
Health Services Inc. (NASDAQ: MGLN).

While our revenues from analytics services aretéthio date, we believe these services represmeaingful future opportunity. We
currently offer analytics services to one of thgéest national healthcare organizations where palytics services provide real-time financial
and operational cost analyses to help supportadtange of compliance and fiscal management fometicross the organization, including
claims audit, pharmacy management and coordinafirenefits. In addition, we are developing straegego deploy these services in markets
other than healthcare.

Our Clients
We provide our services across a broad range afrgovent and private clients in several markets.

Department of Education

We have provided student loan recovery servicésddepartment of Education for approximately 2argeWe restructure and recover
defaulted student loans distributed directly by Blepartment of Education as part of the FDSLP. uts limited resources and recovery
capabilities, the Department of Education outsaairoach of its defaulted student loan portfoliohwd-party vendors for recovery. Recovery
fees are
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entirely contingency-based, and our fee for a paldr recovery depends on the type of recoveryifaigid. We also receive incremental
performance incentives based upon our performasncempared to other contractors with the DepartraBBducation, which are comprisec
additional inventory allocation volumes and inceatiees. To participate in the Department of Edooatontracts, firms must follow a highly
competitive selection process. For the latest Diepant of Education contract, the fourth major cactithe Department of Education has
outsourced to selected vendors, we were selectedeasf 17 unrestricted vendors and initiated warkhis contract in the fourth quarter of
2009. Because all federally-supported student lea@deing originated by the Department of Educadi® a result of SAFRA, our relationship
with the Department of Education will become ingiagly more important over time. The DepartmeniEdfication was responsible for
approximately 13.8% of our revenues for the yealedrDecember 31, 2012.

In addition, we were awarded a contract in Jan@ata with the Department of Education to condusagment recapture of goods and
services, which excludes grants and student laamtracted for by the department. Under this cattrae identify, evaluate and report the
causes for contract overpayments and provide reg®agvices to assist the Department of Educatiaedovering these improper payments.

Guaranty Agencies

We restructure and recover defaulted student lssued by private lenders and backed by GAs uideFEELP. Despite the transition
from FFELP to FDSLP, we believe GA default volumét continue to rise for several years as thera iag between originations and defaults
of at least three to four years. When a borrongpsstnaking regular payments on a FFELP loan, thes@hligated to reimburse the lender
approximately 97% of the loan’s principal and aectinterest. GAs then seek to recover and resteithese obligations. The GAs with which
we contract generally structure one to three-yeitiai term contracts with multiple renewal peripdsd the fees that we receive are generally
similar to the fees we receive from the Departnoériiducation contract. For some GA clients, we mteservices through MSAs, under wh
we manage a GA'’s entire portfolio of defaulted stutdoans and, for certain clients, engage subaoturs to provide a portion of the recovery
services associated with a GA’s student loan plawtfo

We have a relationship with 11 of the 31 active @Athe U.S., including Great Lakes Higher Educati@uaranty Corporation, Americ
Student Assistance Corporation and American Edoc&ervices, each of which was responsible for%812.1% and 10.7%, respectively, of
our revenues for the year ended December 31, 28&2ave had relationships with GA clients for o2Bryears.

CMS

We have a seven-year relationship with CMS. UnderRAC contract with CMS awarded in 2009, we idigraind facilitate the recovery
of improper Parts A and B Medicare payments inNbetheast region of the United States and whicloaeted for approximately 25.8% of our
revenues for the year ended December 31, 201 2feBsethat we receive for identifying these impropgyments from CMS are entirely
contingency-based, and the contingency-fee pergerdtapends on the methods of recovery, and, in sases, the type of improper payment
that we identify.

U.S. Department of the Treasury

We have assisted the Department of the TreasudSgears in the recovery of delinquent receivablesd to a number of different
federal agencies. The debt obligations we helgtover on behalf of the Department of the Treaswiude commercial and individual debt
obligations. We are one of the four firms servicihg current Department of the Treasury contraatil& to our other recovery contracts, our
fees under this contract are contingency-basedviéde this as an important strategic relationsh#it gorovides us valuable insight into other
business opportunities within the federal governmen
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State Tax and Municipal Agencies

We provide outsourced recovery services for indiaid’ delinquent state tax and other municipal obligagion a hosted model and un
MSAs. We currently have relationships with tenestatd municipal governments.

Private Lenders
We provide recovery services for private studeahk that supplement federally guaranteed loamshame mortgages to private lend

Sales and Marketing

Our new business opportunities have historicallgrbériven largely by referrals and natural extemsiof our existing client relationshiy
as well as a targeted outreach by senior manage@antales cycles are often lengthy, and demagtd Ibivels of attention from our senior
management. At any point in time, we are typictdigused on a limited number of potentially sigrafit new business opportunities. As a
result, to date, we have operated with a smalf efa#xperienced individuals with responsibility fdeveloping new sales, relying heavily upon
our executive staff, including a Senior Vice Presidof Sales and Marketing and a sales team cayedrious markets.

Technology Operations

Our technology center is based in Livermore, Catii®, with a redundant capacity in our Grants P@ssgon office. Additionally,
Performant Insight, our new data analytics businessupported by staff in Miami Lakes, Florida. Wave designed our infrastructure for
scalability and redundancy, which allows us to targ to operate in the event of an outage at edhtacenter. We maintain an information
systems environment with advanced network secinitysion detection and prevention with 24x7 moniitg and security incident response
capabilities. We utilize encryption technologiegptotect sensitive data on our systems, all datagdransmission and all data on redundancy
or backup media. We also maintain a comprehensitexrise-wide information security system basedhugcognized standards, including
the NIST800 53 and ISO 27002 Code of Practicerftormation Security Program Management, to uphaith security standards needed for
the protection of sensitive information.

Competition
We face significant competition in all aspects of business.

In recovery services for delinquent and defaulteskes, we face competition from a number of congsatiolders of these delinquent
defaulted assets typically engage several firmsiléameously to provide recovery services on différtions of their portfolios. The number
of recovery firms engaged varies by client. Fomepke, we are one of 17 unrestricted providers obvery services on the current Department
of Education contract, while some of the GAs maly @mgage a few recovery vendors at any time.dhjtiwe compete to be one of the
retained firms in a competitive bidding process,afde are successful, we then face continuing petition from the client’s other retained
firms based on the client’'s benchmarking of th@vecy performance of its several vendors. Clienthsas the Department of Education
typically will allocate additional placements ta#e recovery vendors producing the highest recawates. We believe that we primarily
compete on the basis of recovery rate performax®ell as maintenance of high standards of regquerctices and data security capabilities
We believe that we compete favorably with respechost of these factors as evidenced by our loagesng relationships with our clients in
these markets. Pricing is not usually a major cditipe factor as all recovery services vendorshiese markets typically receive the same
contingency-based fee rate.
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In the recovery of improper healthcare paymentsfaged a highly competitive process, involving méanumber of bidders, to become
one of the four prime RAC contractors in the UniStdtes. CMS issued a request for quotes in coionmewith the re-bidding for the RAC
contract in February 2013. Although our RAC cortiacurrently set to expire in 2014, CMS may teraté our RAC contract as early as
August 2013 in connection with this re-bidding prss. We expect that our competition will include tther three RAC service providers:
Health Management Systems, Inc., Connolly Congultimc. and CGI Group. We also may face competifiom the subcontractors of the
current prime RAC contractors, who may seek tothieg experience as subcontractors to become mramtractors, and a variety of healthcare
consulting and healthcare information services cmgs are potential competitors. Some of theseniate&eompetitors for the second RAC
contract may have greater financial and other mressuthan we do. According to the request for cgidtee competitive factors for this new
RAC contract are demonstrated experience in effecgcovery services in the healthcare marketicseifit capacity to address claims volun
maintenance of high standards of recovery practfaeancial capability to perform under the RAC traict and recovery fee rates. We believe
that our seven year relationship with CMS and elated experience in providing recovery servicasgeatify improper payments allows us to
compete favorably with respect to many of thestofacWe expect that our performance in identifyitejms, managing the claims processes
under the current RAC contract, and establishetésysintegration with CMS and related Medicare anistiiative contractors will also be key
factors in determining our continued service to CMS

Government Regulation

The nature of our business requires that we adberecomplex array of federal and state laws agdlagions. These include HIPAA, the
FDCPA, the FCRA, and related state laws. We aegdserned by a variety of state laws that regulatecollection, use, disclosure and
protection of personal information. We have impleted and maintain physical, technical and admiaiiste safeguards intended to protect all
personal data and we have processes in placeisb @s$n complying with applicable laws and rediaglas regarding the protection of this data.
Our compliance efforts include training of persdramed monitoring our systems and personnel.

HIPAA and Related State Laws

Our Medicare recovery business subjects us to dang@ with HIPAA and various related state lawg twantain substantial restrictions
and requirements with respect to the use and disdoof an individual’'s protected health informatielIPAA prohibits us from using or
disclosing an individual’s protected health infotina unless the use or disclosure is authorizethbyndividual or is specifically required or
permitted under HIPAA. Under HIPAA, we must establadministrative, physical and technical safega&ogrotect the confidentiality,
integrity and availability of electronic protectidalth information maintained or transmitted byou®y others on our behalf. We are required
to notify affected individuals and government aulities of data security breaches involving unsedymetected health information. The
Department of Health and Human Services Office igfl Rights enforces HIPAA privacy violations; CM&hforces HIPAA security violations
and the Department of Justice enforces crimindhtioms of HIPAA. We are subject to statutory péiealfor violations of HIPAA.

Most states have enacted patient confidentialityslthat protect against the unauthorized disclogioenfidential medical information,
and many states have adopted or are consideritigefuegislation in this area, including privacyespuards, security standards and data
security breach notification requirements. Theatedaws, if more stringent than HIPAA requiremeate not preempted by the federal
requirements, and we must comply with them evendghdhey may be subject to different interpretagiby various courts and other
governmental authorities. In addition, numerousp#giate laws govern the collection, disseminatise, access to and confidentiality of
individually identifiable health and healthcare yad®er information.

15



Table of Contents

Our compliance efforts include the encryption aftpcted health information that we hold and theetlgasment of procedures to detect,
investigate and provide appropriate notificatiopriftected health information is compromised. Qupklyees and contractors receive initial
and periodic supplemental training and are testeshsure compliance. As part of our certificatiod accreditation process, we must undergo
audits by federal agencies as noted below. CMSadgwaudits us for, among other items, compliawith their security standards.

Privacy Act of 1974

The Privacy Act of 1974 governs the collection,,isderage, destruction and disclosure of persarfatmation about individuals by a
government agency and extends to government céotsa®ho have access to agency records perforneingces for government agencies.
The Act requires maintenance of a code of conduoeiployees with access to the agency recordessidg the obligations under the Priv
Act, training of employees and discipline proceduic@ noncompliance. The Act also requires adopding maintaining appropriate
administrative, technical and physical safeguandagure the security and confidentiality of recashd to protect against any anticipated
threats or hazards to their security or integrity.

As a contractor to federal government agenciesreeemuired to comply with the Privacy Act of 198ur compliance effort includes
initial and ongoing training of employees and caators in their obligations under the Act. In additwe have implemented and maintain
physical, technical and administrative safeguardsmocesses intended to protect all personalatatsistent with or exceeding our obligations
under the Privacy Act.

Certification, Accreditation and Security

Business services that collect, store, transmjirocess information for United States governmerhaigs and organizations are required
to undergo a rigorous certification and accreditapirocess to ensure that they operate at an atdepevel of security risk. As a government
contractor, we currently have Authority to OperateATO, licenses from both the Department of Edioceand CMS.

We maintain a comprehensive enterprise-wide inftionasecurity system based upon recognized stasderciuding the NIST800 53
and 1SO 27002 Code of Practice for Information S&c®Program Management, to uphold high securindards needed for the protection of
sensitive information. In addition, we hold SSABOC 1 Type Il certification, which provides assu@io auditors of third parties that we
maintain the necessary controls and procedureffectigely manage third party data. We undergoratependent audit by our government
agency clients on the award of the contract anmbgieally thereafter. We also conduct periodic ssessments.

Our regulatory compliance group is charged withrsponsibility of ensuring our regulatory comptiarand security. All our facilities
have security perimeter controls with segregategsxby security clearance level. The informatiy@tesns environment maintains advanced
network security intrusion detection and preventiotih 24x7 monitoring and security incident respmrapabilities. We utilize encryption
technologies to protect sensitive data on our systall data during transmission and all data olmeancy or backup media. Employees
undergo background and security checks appropaateeir position. This can include security clemss by the Federal Bureau of
Investigation. We also maintain compliant disaséeovery and business continuity plans, condueranually two table top disaster exercises,
conduct routine security risk assessments and aiaiatcontinuous improvement process as part ofecurity risk mitigation and
management activity.

FDCPA and Related State Laws

The FDCPA regulates persons who regularly collecttiempt to collect, directly or indirectly, comsar debts owed or asserted to be
owed to another person. Certain of our debt regoaed loan restructuring activities may be subjed¢he FDCPA. The FDCPA establishes
specific guidelines and procedures that debt
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recovery firms must follow in communicating withrsumer debtors, including the time, place and maohsuch communications. Further, it
prohibits harassment or abuse by debt recoverysfimeluding the threat of violence or criminal pecution, obscene language or repeated
telephone calls made with the intent to abuse madsa The FDCPA also places restrictions on comeations with individuals other than
consumer debtors in connection with the collectbany consumer debt and sets forth specific praaeito be followed when communicating
with such third parties for purposes of obtainiagdtion information about the consumer. In addijtibe FDCPA contains various notice and
disclosure requirements and prohibits unfair ol@aiding representations by debt recovery firmsalginthe FDCPA imposes certain
limitations on lawsuits to collect debts againstsummers.

Debt recovery activities are also regulated atdtatel. Most states have laws regulating debtwegoactivities in ways that are similar
to, and in some cases more stringent than, the PD@PRaddition, some states require debt recovierys to be licensed.

Our compliance efforts include written procedurasdompliance with the FDCPA and related state Jamgployee training and
monitoring, auditing client calls, periodic revietgsting and retraining of employees, and procegiimeresponding to client complaints. In all
states where we operate, we believe that we clyreold all required state licenses or are exemgtflicensing. Violations of the FDCPA i
be enforced by the U.S. Federal Trade CommissioRTE, or by a private action by an individual tass. Violations of the FDCPA are
deemed to be an unfair or deceptive act under¢keral Trade Commission Act, which can be punidhefines for each violation. Class
action damages can total up to one percent oféhevarth of the entity violating the statute. Atiey fees and costs are also recoverable. In tt
ordinary course of business we are sued for alleg#dtions of the FDCPA and comparable state laltbpugh the amounts involved in the
disposition of settlement of any such claims havebeen significant.

FCRA

We are also subject to the Fair Credit Reporting BcFCRA, which regulates consumer credit reparand which may impose liability
on us to the extent that the adverse credit inftionaeported on a consumer to a credit bureaal$efor inaccurate. State law, to the extent
not preempted by the FCRA, may also impose renistor liability on us with respect to reportingvarse credit information. Our compliance
efforts include initial and ongoing training of etoypees working with consumer credit reports, maniig of performance, and periodic review
and risk assessments. Violations of FCRA, whichdeemed to be unfair or deceptive acts under tdergéTrade Commission Act, are
enforced by the FTC or by a private action by atividual or class. Civil actions by consumers megksdamages per violation, with punitive
damages, attorneys fees and costs also recovetiider the Federal Trade Commission Act, penaltieengaging in unfair or deceptive acts
can be punished by fines for each violation.

State Law Compliance and Security Breach Response

Many states impose an obligation on any entity tlwdds personally identifiable information or héaltformation to adopt appropriate
security to protect such data against unauthorzedss, misuse, destruction, or modification. Mstayes have enacted laws requiring holders
of personal information to take certain actionsasponse to data breach incidents, such as prgviompt notification of the breach to
affected individuals and government authoritiesnkbny cases, these laws are limited to electraaiig, dut states are increasingly enacting or
considering stricter and broader requirements. Bldussetts has enacted a regulation that requisesrdity that holds, transmits or collects
certain personal information about its residentadopt a written data security plan meeting theiregqents set forth in the statute. We have
implemented and maintain physical, technical andiattrative safeguards intended to protect alspeal data and have processes in place t
assist us in complying with applicable laws andutations regarding the protection of this data praperly responding to any security
incidents. We have adopted a system security pldrsacurity breach incident response plans to adarer compliance with these laws.
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Intellectual Property

Our intellectual property is a significant compohehour business, most notably the intellectualerty underlying our proprietary
technology-enabled services platform through whvehprovide our defaulted asset recovery and o#trices. To protect our intellectual
property, we rely on a combination of intellectpabperty rights, including patents, trade sectedsiemarks and copyrights. We also utilize
customary confidentiality and other contractualt@ctions, including employee and third-party coefitality and invention assignment
agreements.

As of December 31, 2012, we have two U.S. patéat$ covering aspects of the workflow managemesitesys and methods
incorporated into our technology-enabled servidaggrm. These patents will expire in December 204/ routinely assess appropriate
occasions for seeking additional patent protediiorthose aspects of our platform and other teaygiet that we believe may provide
competitive advantages to our business. We algmretertain unpatented proprietary expertise dahdrdknow-how, licensed and acquired
third-party technologies, and continuous improvetrn@md other developments of our various techneigill intended to maintain our
leadership position in the industry.

As of December 31, 2012, we own five trademarkssteged with the U.S. Patent and Trademark offRegformant, Performant
Recovery, Performant Technologies, Discovery Anedyand Performant Business Services. We are iprbeess of registering additional
trademarks supporting our business, and we clammuan law trademark rights in numerous additiorediémarks.

We have registered copyrights covering various dgpyed material relevant to our business. We hisee unregistered copyrights in
many components of our software systems. We mapaable to use these unregistered copyrightseieept misappropriation of such content
by unauthorized parties in the future; however rahg on our extensive information technology segumeasures and contractual arrangemen
with employees and third-party contractors to mimarthe opportunities for any such misuse of toistent.

We are not subject to any material intellectualperty claims alleging that we infringe, misapprageior otherwise violate the intellect
property rights of any third party, nor have weesites] any material intellectual property infringerhelaim against any third party.

Employees

As of December 31, 2012, we had approximately 1fa0@ime employees. None of our employees is aniner of a labor union and we
consider our employee relations to be good.

Available Information

The SEC maintains an Internet site at http://wwagev that contains our the Annual Report on Fo@aKl1quarterly reports on Form
10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amendmentisase reports, if any, or other filings filed arished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d)
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amermetthe Exchange Act, proxy and information statetseAll reports that we file with the
SEC may be read and copied at the SEC’s Public&afe Room at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, M649. Information about the
operation of the Public Reference Room can be néthby calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330.

ITEM 1A. Risk Factors

Our business, financial condition, results of ofiers and liquidity are subject to various risksl amcertainties, including those descri
below, and as a result, the trading price of ounmmn stock could decline.
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Risks Related to Our Business

Revenues generated from our five largest clientpresented 81% of our revenues for the year endedddaber 31, 2012, and ar
termination of or deterioration in our relationshipvith any of these clients would result in a deaifn our revenues.

We derive a substantial majority of our revenuesifia limited number of clients, including the Deapsent of Education, CMS and three
GAs. Revenues from our five largest clients repress 81% of our revenues for the year ended DeceBih012. We expect that our
revenues will become increasingly concentrated withmajor clients as a result of rising businessimes under our RAC contract, which
accounted for approximately 25.8% of our revenueil2, compared to approximately 13.2% of ourmeres in 2011. If we lose one of these
clients or if the terms of our relationships withyaf these clients become less favorable to ustemenues would decline, which would harm
our business, financial condition and results adragions.

Many of our contracts with our clients for the rewery of student loans and other receivables arejsabto periodic renewal or I-bidding
processes, are not exclusive and do not commitdiants to provide specified volumes of business a@s a consequence, there is
assurance that we will be able to maintain our renes and operating results.

Substantially all of our existing contracts for tieeovery of student loan and other receivablegchviepresented approximately 63.0%
our revenues in 2012, enable our clients to undditeterminate their contractual relationship with at any time without penalty, potentially
leading to loss of business or renegotiation ahterOur contracts generally are subject to a piri@idding process at the end of the contrac
term. Further, most of our contracts in these ntarabow our clients to unilaterally change theurok of loans and other receivables that are
placed with us at any given time. In addition, mafsbur contracts are not exclusive, with our digaretaining multiple service providers with
whom we must compete for placements of loans aratbligations. Therefore, despite our contractektionships with our clients, our
contracts do not provide assurance that we wilbgaie a minimum amount of revenues or that weraidleive a specific volume of placemel

Our revenues and operating results would be neggtaffected if our student loans and receivablests, which include four of our five
largest clients in 2012, do not renew their agra@meith us upon contract expiration, reduce theme of student loan placements provided
to us, modify the terms of service, including thecess fees we are able to earn upon recovenfatlted student loans, or any of these client
establish more favorable relationships with our petitors. For example, we have been advised thatantractual arrangement with the
Department of Education is under review as a redutie Department of Education’s decision to hisseecovery vendors promote income-
based repayment, or IBR, to defaulted student loEms IBR program provides flexibility on the recpd monthly payment for student loan
borrowers at an amount intended to be affordabtedban a borrower’s income and family size. Assalteof the increased application of the
IBR program to defaulted student loans, we exgettthere will be an increase in the number of $ahat become eligible for rehabilitation
because more defaulted student loan borrowerdwitible to make qualifying payments. In connectiith the implementation of the IBR
program, we have been advised that the Departnfiétdigcation will reduce the contingency fee ratat thie will receive for rehabilitating
student loans by approximately 18% effective MatcB013, although this change is still subjecturdhfer review and finalization by the
Department of Education. Any changes in the coetity fee percentages or other compensation temhsvthare paid under existing and
future contracts could have a significant impacbanrevenues and operating results.

We face significant competition in all of the martsein which we operate and an inability to competiéectively in the future could harm ou
relationships with our clients, which would impactur ability to maintain our revenues and operatingsults.

We operate in very competitive markets. In prowjdaur services to the student loan and other rabé#¢ markets, we face competition
from many other companies. Initially, we competéhwhese companies to be one
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of typically several firms engaged to provide remgvservices to a particular client and, if we swecessful in being engaged, we then face
continuing competition from the client’s other rietd firms based on the client’'s benchmarking efrécovery rates of its several vendors.
Those recovery vendors who produce the highesveggaates from a client often will be allocatedlgidnal placements and in some cases
additional success fees. Accordingly, maintainiighhevels of recovery performance, and doing sa aost-effective manner, are important
factors in our ability to maintain and grow our eeues and net income and the failure to achiewsetbbjectives could harm our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

Similarly, we faced a highly competitive biddingopess to become one of the four prime RAC contradhat provide recovery services
for improper Medicare payments. CMS issued a redoesjuotes in connection with the re-bidding foe RAC contract in February 2013.
Although our RAC contract is currently set to erpim 2014, CMS may terminate our RAC contract aly @ August 2013 in connection with
the re-bidding process for new RAC contracts. Waeekthat this process will be competitive. Théufa to retain this contract or a significant
adverse change in the terms of this contract, wh@terated approximately 25.8% of our revenueldryear ended December 31, 2012, w
seriously harm our ability to maintain or increase revenues and operating results.

Some of our current and potential competitors erttarkets in which we operate may have greatendiag marketing, technological or
other resources than we do. The ability of anywfampetitors and potential competitors to ad@pt and effective technology to better serve
our markets may allow them to gain market strenigitreasing levels of competition in the future nnagult in lower recovery fees, lower
volumes of contracted recovery services or higbstscfor resources. Any inability to compete effedy in the markets that we serve could
adversely affect our business, financial conditiod results of operations.

The U.S. federal government accounts for a signdfit portion of our revenues, and any loss of busiserom, or change in our relationshi
with, the U.S. federal government would result irsanificant decrease in our revenues and operatiggults.

We have historically derived and are likely to ¢oué to derive a significant portion of our revesdi®m the U.S. federal government.
For the year ended December 31, 2012, revenues oodiacts with the U.S. federal government actedifor approximately 42% of our to
revenues, compared to 27% for the year ended Demedih 2011. In addition, fees payable by the f&&eral government are expected to
become a larger percentage of our total revenuesstbe next several years as a result of legisidtiat has transferred responsibility for all
new student loan origination to the Departmentaddation. The continuation and exercise of reneptibns on existing government contre
and any new government contracts are, among dilmgst contingent upon the availability of adequateding for the applicable federal
government agency. Changes in federal governmemidspg could directly affect our financial perfornea. For example, the Obama
Administration’s proposed budget for the year ending Septemb&(3@, included a proposal designed to redireatriddyovernment spendi
to an alternative federal program by decreasingtheunt that GAs are compensated when they retabitiefaulted loans. While the Obama
Administrations budget proposal was not approved by Congressine 2012, a bill containing similar provisionsueitig the compensation
GAs for rehabilitation of defaulted student loarssveubsequently introduced in the U.S. SenateloBseof business from the U.S. federal
government, or significant policy changes or finahpressures within the agencies of the U.S. f@dgsvernment that we serve would resu
a significant decrease in our revenues, which wadkkrsely affect our business, financial conditod results of operations.

Future legislative or regulatory changes affectirtge markets in which we operate could impair ourdiness and operations.

The two principal markets in which we provide oeicovery services, government-supported studenslaad the Medicare program, are
a subject of significant legislative and regulatfogus and we cannot anticipate how future chaimggsvernment policy may affect our
business and operations. For example, SAFRA saaifly
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changed the structure of the government-suppottetest loan market by assigning responsibilitydibnew government-supported student
loan originations to the Department of Educati@ther than originations by private institutions &atked by one of 31 government-supportec
GAs. This legislation, and any future changes @nldgislation and regulations that govern thesekeaiay may require us to adapt our business
to the new circumstances and we may be unable $o dowa manner that does not adversely affecbosiness and operations.

Our business relationship with the Department of &xhtion has accounted for a significant portion ofur revenues and will take on
increasing importance to our business as a resdlSAFRA. Our failure to maintain this relationshipvould significantly decrease our
revenues.

The majority of our historical revenues from thedgtnt loan market have come from our relationswils the GAs. As a result of
SAFRA, the Department of Education will ultimatélgcome the sole source of revenues in this maakbtugh the GAs will continue to
service their existing student loan portfolios fieany years to come. As a result, over time, defaaritstudent loans originated by the
Department of Education will predominate and odlitglio maintain the revenues we had previoushkeieed from a number of GA clients v
depend on our relationship with a single clieng, Erepartment of Education. While we have 22 yefiexperience in performing student loan
recovery services for the Department of Educatimare one of 17 unrestricted recovery serviceigess on the current Department of
Education contract. In 2012, student loan recovetk for the Department of Education generated maes of $29.0 million, or approximately
13.8% of our total revenues. The Department of Btion is expected to initiate a contract re-competeess during the first half of 2013. If
our relationship with the Department of Educatiemtinates or deteriorates or if the Departmentdafdation, ultimately as the sole holder of
defaulted student loans, requires its contractoegjtee to less favorable terms, our revenues wsigidficantly decrease, and our business,
financial condition and results of operations wolsddharmed.

We could lose clients as a result of consolidatamong the GAs, which would decrease our revenues.

As a result of SAFRA, which terminated the abilifythe GAs to originate governmesitpported student loans, some have speculate
there may be consolidation among the 31 GAs. If &¥as are our clients are combined with GAs withowhwe do not have a relationship, we
could suffer a loss of business. We currently halationships with 11 of the 31 GAs and three af G clients were each responsible for
more than 10% of our total revenues in 2012. Thesalidation of our GA clients with others and théure to provide recovery services to the
consolidated entity could decrease our revenueishwiould negatively impact our business, financ@idition and results of operations.

Our ability to derive revenues under our RAC conttawill depend in part on the number and types aitentially improper claims that we
are allowed to pursue by CMS as well as the amouhtst we are allowed to recover for CMS, and ousudts of operations may be harmec
the scope of claims that we are allowed to purssiéimited.

While we are the prime contractor responsible émiew of Medicare records for all Part A and Padl&ms in our region pursuant to t
terms of our RAC contract with CMS, we are not pigted to seek the recovery of an improper claineaslthat particular type of claim has
been pre-approved by CMS to ensure complianceagpigticable Medicare payment policies, as well aional and local coverage
determinations. While the revenues we earn undecantract with CMS are determined primarily by #ggregate volume of Medicare claims
in our region and our ability to successfully idgnimproper payments within these claims, the lktegn growth of the revenues we derive
under our RAC contract will also depend in parlGMS expanding the scope of potentially impropeinetathat we are allowed to pursue
under our RAC contract. If we are unable to corgitmidentify improper claims within the types d¢dims that we are permitted to pursue fromn
time to time or if CMS does not expand the scoppaténtially improper claims that we are allowegtwsue, our results of operations coul
adversely affected.
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Further, the improper claims approved by CMS amdhfified by us may be challenged by affected paudiged these challenges may lead
to changes in our RAC contract instituted by CM&. &ample, in November 2012 the American Hospitsdociation and four hospitals filed
a lawsuit against Kathleen Sebelius, the Secreifitye Department of Health and Human Services.lawsuit claims, among other things,
that CMS is acting improperly in completely denyjpayment for claims initially made under MedicagtRA (inpatient) that should have been
made under Medicare Part B (outpatient), rathar teanitting the difference between the Part A aad B payments. This type of improper
claim has accounted for a substantial portion efdlaims we have identified under our RAC contrdaiur contingency fee payment from
CMS for identifying these claims is based on tHéedeénce between a Part A and Part B payment,exgniues may be harmed.

Our results of operations may fluctuate on a quatieor annual basis and cause volatility in the jge of our stock.

Our revenues and operating results could vary fségmitly from period-to-period and may fail to matour past performance because of
variety of factors, some of which are outside af centrol. Any of these factors could cause theedf our common stock to fluctuate. Factors
that could contribute to the variability of our @atng results include:

» the amount of defaulted student loans and oth&ivables that our clients place with us for recgy
» the timing of placements of student loans and atbegivables which are entirely in the discretibour clients;

* our ability to successfully identify improper Medie claims and the number and type of potentiailyroper claims that CMS
authorizes us to pursue under our RAC cont

» the loss or gain of significant clients or changethe contingency fee rates or other significantnts of our business arrangements
with our significant clients

» technological and operational issues that may aéfecclients and regulatory changes in the manketservice; an
* general industry and macroeconomic conditit

For example, a technology system upgrade at tharffrapnt of Education caused fluctuations in ourafeg results. This upgrade
significantly decreased the volume of student Iplaecements by the Department of Education to athvery vendors, including us, during 2!
and through September 30, 2012. While we and ther oecovery vendors have recently received sutialigriarger placement volume in the
fourth quarter of 2012 as a result of the compietibthis technology system upgrade, the majoriitthe revenues from these placements will
be delayed until the third quarter of 2013 becaus&o not begin to earn rehabilitation revenuesfeogiven placement until at least nine
months after receipt of a placement. In addition g@pproximately twelve months beginning in Septen011, this technology system upgr
prevented the Department of Education from proogsaiportion of rehabilitated student loans andatingly we were not able to recognize
certain revenues associated with rehabilitatiolvaffis for this client. However, the Department dliEation continued to pay us based on
invoices submitted and we recorded these cashptsces deferred revenues on our balance sheet.

Further, our claim recovery volume is currently aofed by a system adjustment that is being implésdoy CMS for its Periodic
Income Payment providers, or PIP providers. PIRigess are reimbursed for Medicare claims throudfiergent processes than other health:
providers, and CMS is in the process of makingatertystem adjustments in order to allow thesendab be processed. Prior to April 2012,
we were not permitted to audit Medicare claimstfase PIP providers, which we estimate to accaumafproximately 20% of Medicare
claims in our region. The improper payments to piéviders that we have identified were not proceédseCMS from April 2012 until Janua
2013, when a small portion of such payments begde processed manually. As a result, we will robgnize any revenues from identified
improper payments to PIP providers as of Decembgef@12, but we have incurred expenses relatduegetclaims. We estimate that this
delayed our recognition of approximately $6 millimrevenues in 2012, although we began to recegaigortion of these revenues starting in
the first quarter of 2013. CMS remains in the pescef implementing the necessary changes
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to its systems that would allow these claims t@itozessed automatically and allow us to recogitiesed revenues and we believe that the
necessary upgrade will be complete in the secoadeuof 2013. While we believe that this delagintomatic processing is temporary, we are
uncertain as to when automatic processing will begid the failure of CMS to process these and éutlaims on a timely basis will delay our
recognition of the revenues until this is resolM@dcause our revenues are dependent on many fasonse of which are outside of our cont
we may experience significant fluctuations in aesults of operations and as a result volatilitpum stock price.

Downturns in domestic or global economic conditioaad other macroeconomic factors could harm our lnmsss and results of operation

Various macroeconomic factors influence our busirsesl results of operations. These include themwelaf student loan originations in
the United States, together with tuition costs student enrollment rates, the default rate of stubban borrowers, which is impacted by
domestic and global economic conditions, ratesneimployment and similar factors, and the growthigdicare expenditures resulting from
changes in healthcare costs. Changes in thesedactold lead to a reduction in overall recovetgsay our clients, which in turn could
adversely affect our business, financial condifod results of operations. In addition, duringdgtabal financial crisis beginning in 2008, the
market for securitized student loan portfolios Wasupted, resulting in delays in the ability ofre@ GA clients to resell rehabilitated student
loans and as a result delaying our ability to reéog revenues from these rehabilitated loans.

We may not be able to maintain or increase our prability, and our recent financial results may ndte indicative of our future financial
results.

We may not succeed in maintaining our profitabititya quarterly or annual basis and could incurtgug or annual losses in future
periods. We have incurred additional operating esps associated with being a public company anithtead to continue to increase our
operating expenses as we grow our business. Wegfset to continue to make investments in our ipetgry technology platform and hire
additional employees and subcontractors as we eixpanhealthcare recovery and other operations, itleurring additional expenses. If our
revenues do not increase to offset these incréasepenses, our operating results could be adyeaffected. Our historical revenues and net
income growth rates are not indicative of futurevgth rates.

We may not be able to manage our growth effectivayl our results of operations could be negativaffected.

Our business has expanded significantly, espedialigcent years with the expansion of our serviagbe healthcare market, and we
intend to maintain our focus on growth. However, cantinued focus on growth and the expansion obmsiness may place additional
demands on our management, operations and finaesialirces and will require us to incur additicargdenses. We cannot be sure that we wi
be able to manage our growth effectively. In otdesuccessfully manage our growth, our expensdsneilease to recruit, train and manage
additional qualified employees and subcontractorsta expand and enhance our administrative infrestre and continue to improve our
management, financial and information systems amdrals. If we cannot manage our growth effectiyvelyr expenses may increase and our
results of operations could be negatively affected.

A failure of our operating systems or technologyfiastructure, or those of our thirrparty vendors and subcontractors, could disrupeth
operation of our business.

A failure of our operating systems or technolodyastructure, or those of our third-party vendard aubcontractors, could disrupt our
operations. Our operating systems and technoldggsimucture are susceptible to damage or intdomgtom various causes, including acts of
God and other natural disasters, power losses, gmpystems failures, Internet and telecommurdnatdr data network failures, operator
error, computer viruses, losses of and corruptiottata and similar events. The occurrence of arthede events could result in interruptions,
delays or cessations in service to our clientsjecedhe attractiveness of our recovery services to
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current or potential clients and adversely impagtfmancial condition and results of operationshil& we have backup systems in many of ou
operating facilities, an extended outage of utititynetwork services may harm our ability to opemir business. Further, the situations we
plan for and the amount of insurance coverage wataia for losses as result of failures of our @iexg systems and infrastructure may not b
adequate in any particular case.

If our security measures are breached or fail andauthorized access is obtained to our cli€’ confidential data, our services may be
perceived as insecure, the attractiveness of owonreery services to current or potential clients mag reduced, and we may incur significa
liabilities.

Our recovery services involve the storage and tnésson of confidential information relating to atlients and their customers, includ
health, financial, credit, payment and other peaton confidential information. Although our datecsrity procedures are designed to protect
against unauthorized access to confidential inféionaour computer systems, software and networkg be vulnerable to unauthorized acces
and disclosure of our clients’ confidential infortioa. Further, we may not effectively adapt ounség measures to evolving security risks,
address the security and privacy concerns of egjgir potential clients as they change over timéeocompliant with federal, state, and local
laws and regulations with respect to securing ctanfiial information. Unauthorized access to conftig information relating to our clients
and their customers could lead to reputational dgnehich could deter our clients and potentialitBefrom selecting our recovery services, 0
result in termination of contracts with those ctieaffected by any such breach, regulatory actiod,claims against us.

In the event of any unauthorized access to persorather confidential information, we may be reqdito expend significant resources
to investigate and remediate vulnerabilities in security procedures, and we may be subject te fipenalties, litigation costs, and financial
losses that are either not insured against oruligtdovered through any insurance maintained byfumne or more of such failures in our
security and privacy measures were to occur, osiness, financial condition and results of operaticould suffer.

Our business may be harmed if we lose members ofroanagement team or other key employees.

We are highly dependent on members of our managetesem and other key employees and our future ssabepends in part on our
ability to retain these people. Our inability tantioue to attract and retain members of our managéteam and other key employees could
adversely affect our business, financial conditiod results of operations.

The growth of our healthcare business will requites to hire and retain employees with specializedlsland failure to do so could harm ot
ability to grow our business.

The growth of our healthcare business will depenglairt on our ability to recruit, train and managilitional qualified employees. Our
healthcare-related operations require us to hgistered nurses and experts in Medicare codingliftgn attracting and retaining employees
with these skills is a critical component of prawigl our healthcareelated recovery and audit services, and our iitphd staff these operatiol
appropriately represents a risk to our healthcareice offering and associated revenues. An irtgtiih hire qualified personnel, particularly to
serve our healthcare clients, may restrain the grafvour business.

We rely on subcontractors to provide services to dients and the failure of subcontractors to perim as expected could harm our busine
operations and our relationships with our clients.

We engage subcontractors to provide certain sexvaeur clients. These subcontractors particiftaterying degrees in our recovery
activities with regards to all of the services weyide. While most of our subcontractors providedfic services to us, we engage one
subcontractor to provide all of the audit and regg\services under our contract with CMS withinaation of our region. According to CMS,
the
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geographic area allocated to this subcontractaywaded for approximately 17% of total Medicare spieg in our region in 2009. While we
believe that we perform appropriate due diligene®ie we hire subcontractors, our subcontractors moaprovide adequate service or
otherwise comply with the terms set forth in tregreements. In the event a subcontractor provieisient performance to one or more of our
clients, any such client may reduce the volumeeofises we are providing under an existing contoachay terminate the relevant contract
entirely and we may face claims for breach of attrAny such disruption in our relations with @lients as a result of services provided by
any of our subcontractors could adversely affectreuenues and operating results.

If our software vendors or utility and network pralers fail to deliver or perform as expected ourdiness operations could be advers
affected.

Our recovery services depend in part on third-paroywiders, including software vendors and utifityd network providers. Our ability to
service our clients depends on these third-paxyipgers meeting our expectations and contractulidations in a timely and effective manner.
Our business could be materially and adverselyctdte and we might incur significant additionabiiéies, if the services provided by these
third-party providers do not meet our expectationsg they terminate or refuse to renew their rielaghips with us on similar contractual terms.

We are subject to extensive regulations regardihg tise and disclosure of confidential personal infioation and failure to comply with
these regulations could cause us to incur liab#é# and expenses.

We are subject to a wide array of federal and $sate and regulations regarding the use and disidosf confidential personal
information and security. For example, the fedel@lth Insurance Portability and Accountability A¢t1996, as amended, or HIPAA, and
related state laws subject us to substantial ofisinis and requirements with respect to the usedésudbsure of the personal health information
that we obtain in connection with our audit andoresry services under our contract with CMS and wstrestablish administrative, physical
and technical safeguards to protect the confidiéytiaf this information. Similar protections extéo the type of personal financial and other
information we acquire from our student loan, stateand federal receivables clients. We are reduio notify affected individuals and
government agencies of data security breachesvimgpprotected health and certain personally idiatie information. These laws and
regulations also require that we develop, implenagiot maintain written, comprehensive informatiocusity programs containing safeguards
that are appropriate to protect personally ideattif information or health information against uhawized access, misuse, destruction or
modification. Federal law generally does not preestate law in the area of protection of personfdrimation, and as a result we must also
comply with state laws and regulations. Regulatibprivacy, data use and security requires thaineer significant expenses, which could
increase in the future as a result of additiongulations, all of which adversely affects our résoff operations. Failure to comply with these
laws and regulations can result in penalties arsbine cases expose us to civil lawsuits.

Our student loan recovery business is subject tteasgive regulation and consumer protection laws amar failure to comply with these
regulations and laws may subject us to liability dnesult in significant costs.

Our student loan recovery business is subjectgolation and oversight by various state and fedsgahcies, particularly in the area of
consumer protection. The Fair Debt Collection RecastAct, or FDCPA, and related state laws prosgiglecific guidelines that we must follow
in communicating with holders of student loans eeglilates the manner in which we can recover defdustudent loans. Some state attorney
generals have been active in this area of consprogzction regulation. We are subject, and mayuigest in the future, to inquiries and audits
from state and federal regulators, as well as fatlitigation from private plaintiffs regarding mpliance under the FDCPA and related state
regulations. We are also subject to the Fair Ciiedjtorting Act, or FCRA, which regulates consunrtedit reporting and may impose liability
on us to the extent adverse credit information regbto a credit bureau is false or inaccurate. €@unpliance with the FDCPA,
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FCRA and other federal and state regulations tifi@tteour student loan recovery business may raésulignificant costs, including litigation
costs. We may also become subject to regulaticommylgated by the United States Consumer FinanctaeBtion Bureau, or CFPB, which v
established in July 2011 as part of the Dodd-Frartkto, among other things, establish regulatiegarding consumer financial protection
laws. Changes to existing regulations or the adaptf new regulations could adversely affect owsibess and results of operations if we are
not able to adapt our services and client relatijpssto meet the new regulatory structure.

The requirements of being a public company may 8traur resources, divert management’s attention aaffiect our ability to attract and
retain executive management and qualified board niesrs.

As a public company, we are subject to the repgpméguirements of the Exchange Act, the Sarbandsy@ct of 2002, or the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act, the Dodd-Frank Act and other applicasdeurities rules and regulations. Compliance widsé rules and regulations has increase
our legal and financial compliance costs, made sactigities more difficult, time-consuming or cgsdnd increased or will continue to
increase demand on our systems and resourcesupanyy after we are no longer an “emerging groadimpany.” The Exchange Act requires,
among other things, that we file annual, quartarg current reports with respect to our businedsoperating results. The Sarbanes-Oxley Ac
requires, among other things, that we maintaincéiffe disclosure controls and procedures and iaterontrol over financial reporting. In order
to maintain and, if required, improve our disclasaontrols and procedures and internal control fmancial reporting to meet this standard,
significant resources and management oversightbmagquired. As a result, management’s attention lmeadiverted from other business
concerns, which could adversely affect our busiaessoperating results. Although we have alreadydhadditional employees to comply with
these requirements, we may need to hire more eragdoiyn the future or engage outside consultantshwill increase our costs and expen

In addition, changing laws, regulations and stagislaglating to corporate governance and publidaisce are creating uncertainty for
public companies, increasing legal and financiahptiance costs and making some activities more tiomsuming. These laws, regulations
standards are subject to varying interpretationsjany cases due to their lack of specificity, asda result, their application in practice may
evolve over time as new guidance is provided byleggry and governing bodies. This could resultantinuing uncertainty regarding
compliance matters and higher costs necessitatetidging revisions to disclosure and governancetiges. We will continue to invest
resources to comply with evolving laws, regulatiansl standards, and this investment may resulicireased general and administrative
expenses and a diversion of management’s time taatian from revenue-generating activities to ciemge activities. If our efforts to
comply with new laws, regulations and standardedifom the activities intended by regulatory avgrning bodies due to ambiguities relatec
to their application and practice, regulatory auties may initiate legal proceedings against us @ business may be adversely affected.

However, for as long as we remain an “emerging ¢iiaempany” as defined in the Jumpstart Our Busirgtartups Act of 2012, or the
JOBS Act, we may take advantage of certain exemgtimm various reporting requirements that ardiegiple to other public companies that
are not “emerging growth companies,” including, bat limited to, not being required to comply witte auditor attestation requirements of
Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, reducedatisce obligations regarding executive compensatiaur periodic reports and proxy
statements, and exemptions from the requiremertisldfng a nonbinding advisory vote on executiveapensation and shareholder approval
of any golden parachute payments not previouslyaygol. We may take advantage of these reportingnpiiens until we are no longer an
“emerging growth company.”

We will remain an “emerging growth company” for tgpfive years following our initial public offeringp August 2012, although if the
market value of our common stock that is held by-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of any Juné8fre that time, our revenues exceed $
billion, or we issue more than $1 billion in nonaeertible debt in a three-year period, we wouldsee® be an “emerging growth company” as
of the following December 31.
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As a result of disclosure of information as a publmpany, our business and financial conditioreHaacome more visible, which we
believe may result in threatened or actual litigatiincluding by competitors and other third partié such claims are successful, our business
operations and financial results could be adveratgcted, and even if the claims do not resulitigation or are resolved in our favor, these
claims, and the time and resources necessarydtvesthem, could divert the resources of our mamage and adversely affect our business
operations and financial results. These factorédcalso make it more difficult for us to attractdaretain qualified employees, executive offic
and members of our board of directors.

Failure to achieve and maintain effective internabntrols in accordance with Section 404 of Sarbar@sley would impair our ability to
produce accurate and reliable financial statementghich would harm our stock price

We are subject to reporting obligations under $acfi04 of the Sarban&xley Act that require us to include a managemeport on ou
internal control over financial reporting in oumarl report, which contains management’s assessohéme effectiveness of our internal
control over financial reporting. These requirensent! first apply to our annual report on Form K(fer the year ending December 31, 2013
and complying with these requirements can be difffi¢-or example, in June 2012, our independeristegd public accounting firm
determined that we had incorrectly accounted fomoandatorily redeemable preferred stock, whicluiregl audit adjusting entries for the
three-year period ended December 31, 2011. Owrréaib detect this error was deemed to be a defigia internal control and this deficiency
was considered to be a material weakness. To althisssituation, our independent registered pudtmounting firm recommended that the
Company emphasize the importance of thoroughlyarebéng all new accounting policies and revisitaggounting policies set for existing
transactions when changes in the business or negagquirements occur or are expected to occuprégent issues like these in the future,
have bolstered our technical accounting expertise @here appropriate, engaged outside consuldtiispecialized knowledge.

Our management may conclude that our internal obatrer our financial reporting is not effectives Ave only recently became a public
company following the completion of our initial didoffering on August 15, 2012, we have limitedacnting personnel and other resources
with which to address our internal controls andcpdures. If we fail to timely achieve and mainthie adequacy of our internal control over
financial reporting, we may not be able to prodred@mble financial reports or help prevent fraudwr @ilure to achieve and maintain effective
internal control over financial reporting could peat us from filing our periodic reports on a timélasis, which could result in the loss of
investor confidence in the reliability of our fingdal statements, harm our business and negatirgcét the trading price of our common st

We are required to disclose changes made in caimiak controls and procedures on a quarterly besiwever, our independent
registered public accounting firm is not requireddrmally attest to the effectiveness of our intrcontrol over financial reporting pursuant to
Section 404 until the later of the year followingr dirst annual report required to be filed witketSEC, or the date we are no longer an
“emerging growth companyds defined in the JOBS Act, if we continue to tallgantage of the exemptions contained in the JO&SAX suct
time, our independent registered public accourfitng may issue a report that is adverse in the eités not satisfied with the level at which
our controls are documented, designed or operdafingremediation efforts may not enable us to agaidaterial weakness in the future.

Litigation may result in substantial costs of defes damages or settlement, any of which could sabjes to significant costs and expens

We are party to lawsuits in the normal course diess, particularly in connection with our studean recovery services. For example,
we are regularly subject to claims that we havéatéal the guidelines and procedures that mustllnved under federal and state laws in
communicating with consumer debtors. We may nataltely prevail or otherwise be able to satisfattaesolve any pending or future
litigation, which may result in substantial costslefense, damages or settlement. In the futurenase be required to alter our
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business practices or pay substantial damagedtlansent costs as a result of litigation proceesdjmghich could adversely affect our business
operations and results of operations.

We typically face a long period to implement a neantract which may cause us to incur expenses befae receive revenues from new
client relationships.

If we are successful in obtaining an engagemertit avitew client or a new contract with an existihignt, we typically have a subsequent
long implementation period in which the services glanned in detail and we integrate our technglpgycesses and resources with the clgent
operations. If we enter into a contract with a reéient, we typically will not receive revenues dimtiplementation is completed and work
under the contract actually begins. Our clients mlag experience delays in obtaining approvalsetays associated with technology or systen
implementations, such as the delays experiencddthgtimplementation of our RAC contract with CM$do an appeal by competitors who
were unsuccessful in bidding on the contract. Beeaue generally begin to hire new employees toigeoservices to a new client once a
contract is signed, we may incur significant exgsnassociated with these additional hires beforeesive corresponding revenues under an
such new contract. If we are not successful in taaimg contractual commitments after the expemsegcur during our typically long
implementation cycle, our results of operationsid¢dne adversely affected.

If we are unable to adequately protect our propeey technology, our competitive position could barmed or we could be required to incl
significant costs to enforce our right:

The success of our business depends in part ugqoraprietary technology platform. We rely on a donmation of copyright, patent,
trademark, and trade secret laws, as well as ofidemtiality procedures and non-compete agreemémesstablish and protect our proprietary
technology rights. The steps we have taken to deiappropriation of our proprietary technology neyinsufficient to protect our propriete
information. Any infringement or misappropriatiohaur patents, trademarks, trade secrets, or atkedlectual property rights could adversely
affect any competitive advantage we currently dedwvmay derive from our proprietary technologytfolan and we may incur significant co
associated with litigation that may be necessagnforce our intellectual property rights.

Claims by others that we infringe their intellectuaroperty could force us to incur significant casbr revise the way we conduct our
business.

Our competitors protect their proprietary rightsrbgans of patents, trade secrets, copyrights,rtrades and other intellectual property.
Any party asserting that we infringe, misapproriat violate their intellectual property rights nfayce us to defend ourselves, and potentiall
our clients, against the alleged claim. These damd any resulting lawsuit, if successful, cowddime-consuming and expensive to defend,
subject us to significant liability for damagesimvalidation of our proprietary rights, preventfusm operating all or a portion of our business
or force us to redesign our services or technofagtform or cause an interruption or cessationuwflusiness operations, any of which could
adversely affect our business and operating redaleddition, any litigation relating to the infigement of intellectual property rights could
harm our relationships with current and prospeatiients. The risk of such claims and lawsuits ddntrease if we increase the size and scog
of our services in our existing markets or expand hew markets.

We may make acquisitions that prove unsuccessfurhia or divert our resources and harm our resultd operations and stock price.

We may consider acquisitions of other companiesuinindustry or in new markets. We may not be é&bleuccessfully complete any
such acquisition and, if completed, any such adprismay fail to achieve the intended financiadults. We may not be able to successfully
integrate any acquired businesses with our ownaanthay be unable to maintain our standards, canénadl policies. Further, acquisitions n
place additional constraints on our resources bgrting the attention of our management from othesiness concerns.
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Moreover, any acquisition may result in a poteftidllutive issuance of equity securities, the imemce of additional debt and amortization of
expenses related to intangible assets, all of whichd adversely affect our results of operatioms stock price.

Our current or future indebtedness could adverseffect our business and financial condition and rede the funds available to us for oth
purposes, and our failure to comply with the coverts contained in our credit agreement could resirtan event of default that coul:
adversely affect our results of operations.

As of December 31, 2012, our total debt was $14¥lon. For the year ended December 31, 2012 comsolidated interest expense
approximately $12.4 million. Our ability to makehsduled payments or to refinance our debt obligatend to fund our other liquidity needs
depends on our financial and operating performanbéh is subject to prevailing economic and coritjvet conditions and to certain financi
business and other factors beyond our control. #¥aat make assurances that we will maintain a lefredsh flows from operating activities
sufficient to permit us to pay the principal anteiest on our indebtedness and to fund our otheidity needs. If our cash flows and capital
resources are insufficient to fund our debt sereiokgations and allow us to maintain compliancéhwtie covenants under our credit
agreement or to fund our other liquidity needs,may be forced to reduce or delay capital expeneitusell assets or operations, seek
additional capital or restructure or refinance imgiebtedness. We cannot ensure that we would lect@alike any of these actions, that these
actions would be successful and permit us to meescheduled debt service obligations or that tlaesens would be permitted under the
terms of our existing or future debt agreementduiting our credit agreement. If we cannot makesdaled payments on our debt, we will be
in default and, as a result, our debt holders cdaldare all outstanding principal and interedtéalue and payable, the lenders under our cret
agreement could terminate their commitments to lenthoney and foreclose against the assets seaurirtgprrowings and we could be forced
into bankruptcy or liquidation.

Our debt agreements contain, and any agreemergfinance our debt likely will contain, financialérestrictive covenants that limit ¢
ability to incur additional debt, including to finee future operations or other capital needs, amhgage in other activities that we may bel
are in our long-term best interests, includingigpdse of or acquire assets. Our failure to comjilly these covenants may result in an event c
default, which, if not cured or waived, could aerate the maturity of our indebtedness or resuttadifications to our credit terms. If our
indebtedness is accelerated, we may not have iguifficash resources to satisfy our debt obligatéorswe may not be able to continue our
operations as planned.

If securities analysts do not publish research disecurities analysts or other third parties pulifisnaccurate or unfavorable research abo
us, the price of our common stock could decline.

The trading market for our common stock reliesant pn the research and reports that securitidgstaand other third parties choose to
publish about us. We do not control whether thesdyats or other third parties provide researclamdigg our company. The price of our
common stock could decline if one or more secwiéiralysts downgrade our common stock or if omaane securities analysts or other third
parties publish inaccurate or unfavorable reseabdut us or cease publishing reports about us.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock

We are subject to certain phase-in provisions o tNASDAQ Marketplace Rules and, as a result, wd wilt immediately be subject to
certain corporate governance provisions.

Because of our public offering in February 2013ttenon Capital Partners no longer controls a nitgjof our common stock. As a
result, we will no longer be a “controlled companyithin the meaning of the corporate governancaedsieds of the NASDAQ Global Select
Market. However, we will rely on phase-in provissoior certain stock exchange corporate governasmeinements, including:

« the requirement that a majority of the board oédiors consists of independent direct:
» the requirement that nominating and corporate gawere matters be decided solely by independertdtdie anc
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» the requirement that employee and officer compémsatatters be decided solely by independent dirsc

We intend to utilize each of these phase-in prowisi As a result, we do not have a majority of pedalent directors and our nominating
and corporate governance and compensation funai@nsot decided solely by independent directocsofdingly, you do not have the same
protections afforded to stockholders of comparties are subject to all of the stock exchange catpagovernance requirements.

The price of our common stock could be volatile.

Since our initial public offering in August 201et price of our common stock, as reported by NASDA&¥ ranged from a low sales
price of $7.55 on November 27, 2012 to a high spifee of $14.09 on March 4, 2013. The trading @€ our common stock may be
significantly affected by various factors, inclugirquarterly fluctuations in our operating resulte financial projections we may provide to
public, any changes in those projections or odurfaito meet those projections; changes in investord analysts’ perception of the business
risks and conditions of our business; our abilityrteet the earnings estimates and other performexpeetations of financial analysts or
investors; unfavorable commentary or downgradeasioktock by equity research analysts; terminatidlock-up agreements or other
restrictions on the ability of our existing stockdiers to sell their shares after our public offgrin February 2013 and our initial public
offering; changes in our capital structure, sucfuisre issuances of debt or equity securitiesslsitg threatened or filed against us; strategic
actions by us or our competitors, such as acquistor restructurings; new legislation or regukatactions; changes in our relationship with
any of our significant clients; fluctuations in ts@ck prices of our peer companies or in stockketarin general; and general economic
conditions.

Future sales, or the perception of future sales,amfr common stock may lower our stock price.

If our existing stockholders sell a large numbesiudires of our common stock, the market price otommon stock could decline
significantly. In addition, the perception in thelgic market that our existing stockholders mighit shares of common stock could depress th
market price of our common stock, regardless ofitttaal plans of our existing stockholders. As @frth 20, 2013, a total of 46,720,569 sh
of common stock were outstanding, assuming thaetaee no exercises of options after December @12.20f these shares, the 9,200,000
shares of common stock sold in our February 2088i0f) and the 10,350,000 shares that were sabditirinitial public offering, will be freely
tradable in the public market without restrictianfarther registration under the Securities AciL®83, or the Securities Act, unless these shar
are held by “affiliates,” as that term is definedRule 144 under the Securities Act. 27,728,7738eshare subject to lock-up agreements entere
into in connection with our February 2013 offeriagtricting the sale of those shares until May 2@t8ess otherwise extended. The
underwriters may waive the lock-up restriction afidw any of the stockholders subject to this iettm to sell their shares at any time.

Our significant stockholder has the ability to cam significant corporate activities and our majdsi stockholders interests may not coinci
with yours.

Parthenon Capital Partners beneficially owned apprately 48.7% of our common stock as of MarchZ@ 3. As a result of its
ownership, Parthenon Capital Partner has the wahiliinfluence the outcome of matters submitted tmte of stockholders and, through our
board of directors, the ability to control decisimaking with respect to our business direction polities. Parthenon Capital Partners may
have interests different from our other stockhddtieiterests, and may vote in a manner adverse te tinbsrests. Matters over which Parthe
Capital Partners can, directly or indirectly, exeeanfluence include:

» the election of our board of directors and the apptent and removal of our officer

* mergers and other business combination transaciimeiading proposed transactions that would reisudtur stockholders receiving
a premium price for their share
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» other acquisitions or dispositions of businessesssets

» incurrence of indebtedness and the issuance ofyesggurities

» repurchase of stock and payment of dividends;

» the issuance of shares to management under ouy émgentive plans

In addition, Parthenon Capital Partners has a aottal right to designate a number of directorpprionate to its stock ownership.
Further, under our amended and restated certifafatecorporation, Parthenon Capital Partners dmgdiave any obligation to present to us,
and Parthenon Capital Partners may separately guretporate opportunities of which it becomes awvaven if those opportunities are ones
that we would have pursued if granted the oppotyuni

Anti-takeover provisions contained in our certificaté incorporation and bylaws could impair a takeovattempt that our stockholders may
find beneficial.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorpmmaand amended and restated bylaws contain progisiat could have the effect of
rendering more difficult or discouraging an acdiosi deemed undesirable by our board of directors. corporate governance documents
include the following provisions: establishing asdified board of directors so that not all memloéimur board are elected at one time;
providing that directors may be removed by stocttbd only for cause at such time as Parthenon &dgattners no longer beneficially own
majority of our outstanding shares; authorizinghklaheck preferred stock, which could be issuet witting, liquidation, dividend and other
rights superior to our common stock; limiting tH@lidy of our stockholders to call and bring busisdefore special meetings and to take actic
by written consent in lieu of a meeting at suchetias Parthenon Capital Partners no longer benfiolans a majority of our outstanding
shares; limiting our ability to engage in certairsimess combinations with any “interested stockéldther than Parthenon Capital Partners,
for a three-year period following the time that #teckholder became an interested stockholderjneguadvance notice of stockholder
proposals for business to be conducted at meedihgsr stockholders and for nominations of candiddor election to our board of directors;
requiring a super majority vote for certain amendtad¢o our amended and restated certificate ofrparation and amended and restated
bylaws after the time when Parthenon Capital Pestoeased to beneficially own a majority of ourstamding shares, which occurred in
February 2013; and limiting the determination a&f tumber of directors on our board of directors, avften Parthenon Capital Partners is no
longer our majority stockholder, the filling of \acies or newly created seats on the board, tb@and of directors then in office. These
provisions, alone or together, could have the efiédelaying or deterring a change in control,lddimit the opportunity for our stockholders
to receive a premium for their shares of our comstogk, and could also affect the price that samestors are willing to pay for our comm
stock.

Because we do not intend to pay cash dividend$anfbreseeable future, you may not receive any retan investment unless you are ak
to sell your common stock for a price greater thgour purchase price.

For the foreseeable future, we intend to retaineamings to finance the development and expamdionr business, and we do not
anticipate paying any cash dividends on our comstock. In addition, our ability to pay dividendssisbject to restrictive covenants contained
in our credit agreement. As a result, you may aokive any return on investment unless you aretaldell your common stock for a price
greater than your purchase price.

ITEM 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
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ITEM 2. Properties
Facilities

As of December 31, 2012, we operated five sepaféitee locations throughout the United States. Tergest of these facilities is in
Livermore, California and serves as our corporagdauarters, as well as a data center and produotiation. Our Livermore facility

represents approximately 50,291 square feet and lese expiration of September 2017. We alse Ipasduction centers in California,
Oregon, Florida and Texas and own a production/cit¢er in Oregon.

We believe that our facilities are adequate forentroperations and that additional space will\a@lable as required. See note (6) to our
consolidated financial statements included elsewfrethis Annual Report on Form 10-K for informaticegarding our lease obligations.

ITEM 3. Legal Proceedings

We are involved in various legal proceedings thsafrom our normal business operations. Thederacgenerally derive from our
student loan recovery services, and generally askséms for violations of the Fair Debt Collecti®nactices Act or similar federal and state
consumer credit laws. While litigation is inhergntinpredictable, we believe that none of thesel lpgaceedings, individually or collectively,
will have a material adverse effect on our finahc@ndition or our results of operations

ITEM 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.

PART Il
ITEM 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Isuer Purchases of Equity Securitie
Market For Our Common Equity

Our common stock began trading on the NASDAQ Gl@&@méct market under the symbol “PFMT” on AugustA@12. Prior to that,
there was no public market for our common stocle H#ble sets forth, for the periods indicated beliw high and low sales prices per shal
our common stock as reported by NASDAQ since Au@Q0s012.

2012 High Low
Third Quarter (beginning August 10, 2012) 12.1¢ 9.2(
Fourth Quarte 11.8¢ 7.5t

On March 20, 2013, the closing price as reporteflABDAQ of our common stock was $13.00 per share.

Stockholders
As of December 31, 2012, we had approximately 38ere of record of our common stock.

Dividends

Our board of directors does not currently intengag regular dividends on our common stock. Howewerexpect to reevaluate our
dividend policy on a regular basis and may, sulifecompliance with the covenants in our credieagnent and other considerations,
determine to pay dividends in the future. Our &pilb pay dividends is subject to restrictive comets contained in our credit agreement.
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Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Corpensation Plans

Information regarding the securities authorizedissuance under our equity compensation plans edound under Item 12 of this

Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities

In connection with the consummation of our IPO,pag&d $0.9 million to FTP Securities LLC, or FT Remtts, through the issuance of
103,500 shares of our common stock valued at $808hare as consideration for financial adviseryises provided by FT Partners. The
securities issued were exempt from registratiosyamt to Section 4(2) of the Securities Act of 1983amended.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
None.

ITEM 6. Selected Financial Date

The selected consolidated balance sheet datalesceinber 31, 2012 and 2011, and the selected idatenl statements of operations
data for each year ended December 31, 2012, 20l 2@i0, have been derived from our audited corat@difinancial statements which are
included elsewhere in this annual report. The setbconsolidated balance sheet data as of Dece3ib2010, 2009 and 2008, and the selecte
consolidated statements of operations data foyehes ended December 31, 2009 and 2008 have baeeddffom our audited consolidated
financial statements not included in this annupbre Historical results are not necessarily intlieaof future results. You should read the
following selected consolidated historical finariclata below in conjunction with the section tittdédanagement’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operatioasd the consolidated financial statements, relatées, and other financial information incluc
in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The selectedsodidated financial data in this section is né¢ided to replace the consolidated financia
statements and is qualified in its entirety by ¢basolidated financial statements and related ramtdsschedule included in this Annual Report

on Form 10-K.

Consolidated Statement of Operations Datz

Revenue:
Operating expense
Salaries and benefi
Other operating expen:
Impairment of trade nar
Total operating expens:
Income from operation
Debt extinguishment cos®
Interest expens
Interest incom
Income before provision for income tay
Provision for income taxe
Net income

Accrual for preferred stock dividen

Net income (loss) available to common sharehol

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
(in thousands)

$210,07 $162,97: $123,51¢ $109,83. $98,96'
83,00: 67,08 58,11: 53,72¢ 49,10¢
71,30¢ 49,19¢ 33,65¢ 32,11( 26,73(

— 13,40( — — —
154,30 129,68: 91,76¢ 85,83¢ 75,83¢
55,76¢ 33,29¢ 31,75 23,99¢ 23,12¢

(3,679 — — — —
(12,419 (13,530 (15,230  (16,01) (16,36
64 12t 11¢ 104 217
39,731 19,88¢ 16,63¢ 8,081 6,98«
16,78¢ 7,51¢ 6,66< 3,071 3,11¢
$2295. $1237: $ 997 $ 501 $ 3,871
2,03¢ 6,49¢ 5,771 5,12¢ 4,55¢
$ 2091 $ 5877 $ 4200 $ (116 $ (68
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Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
Net income (loss) per share attributable to comsi@mreholder®
Basic $ 0.4¢ $ 0.14 $ 0.1C $ (0.00 $ (0.02)
Diluted $ 0.4 $ 0.1 $ 0.0¢ $ (0.00 $ (0.02)
Weighted average shares (in thousal
Basic 43,98 42,96: 42,96: 42,96: 42,65
Diluted 47,59¢ 45,74 45,01¢ 42,96: 42,65

(1) Represents debt extinguishment costs compasagdproximately $3.3 million of fees paid to lenslén connection with our new credit
facility and approximately $0.3 million of unamaeid debt issuance costs in connection with oucddit facility.

(2) Please see Note 1 to our consolidated finastééments for an explanation of the calculatafrsur basic and diluted net income per
share of common stoc

As of December 31
2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
(in thousands)

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:

Cash and cash equivale $ 37,84 $ 20,00¢ $ 11,07¢ $ 8,92« $ 9,10¢
Total asset 211,74 182,29¢ 181,39( 180,73! 183,78
Total debt 147,76¢ 103,38: 117,33: 127,29t 134,21!
Total liabilities 187,67. 139,75t 151,23: 161,07 167,61
Redeemable preferred stc — 58,24¢ 51,75: 45,98: 40,85«
Total stockholder (deficit) equity 24,07: (15,709 (21,599 (26,329 (26,689

ITEM 7. Managemen’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition ahResults of Operations
Overview

We provide technology-enabled recovery and relatedytics services in the United States. Our sesviwelp identify and recover
delinquent or defaulted assets and improper payrfenboth government and private clients in a Gn@nge of markets. Our clients typically
operate in complex and regulated environments atsbarce their recovery needs in order to redugsel® on billions of dollars of defaulted
student loans, improper healthcare payments amaogeint state tax and federal treasury and otluivables. We generally provide our
services on an outsourced basis, where we handlg arall aspects of our clients’ recovery processe

Our revenue model is generally success-based asmdees on the aggregate amount of funds thanabkle our clients to recover. Our
services do not require any significant upfronteisiiments by our clients and offer our clients theastunity to recover significant funds
otherwise lost. Because our model is based uposubeess of our efforts and the dollars we enalnlelgents to recover, our business
objectives are aligned with those of our clientd e are generally not reliant on their spendinddats. Furthermore, our business model doe
not require significant capital expenditures anddeenot purchase loans or obligations.
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Sources of Revenues

We derive our revenues from services for clients Vrariety of different markets. These marketsudelour two largest markets, student
lending and healthcare, as well as our other makitch include but are not limited to delinquetatts taxes and federal Treasury and other
receivables.

Year Ended
December 31,
2012 2011 2010

(in thousands)
Student Lendin $132,44! $122,25: $103,67:
Healthcare 54,74 21,54¢ 1,821
Other 22,88! 19,17 18,02¢
Total Revenue $210,07: $162,97- $123,51¢

Student Lending

We derive the majority of our revenues from theokeey of student loans. These revenues are cosiesetd and consist primarily of
contingency fees based on a specified percentatle @mount we enable our clients to recover. @utingency fee percentage for a particula
recovery depends on the type of recovery facilitat¥e also receive incremental performance inceathased upon our performance as
compared to other contractors with the Departmégidoication, which are comprised of additional imegy allocation volumes and incentive
fees.

Based on data compiled from over two decades ofréapce with the recovery of defaulted student $pam the time we receive a
placement of student loans, we are able to makasonably accurate estimate of the recovery outsdikedy to be derived from such
placement and the revenues we are likely ableterggée based on the anticipated recovery outcomes.

There are five potential outcomes to the studear lecovery process from which we generate revefdiese outcomes include: full
repayment, recurring payments, rehabilitation, lossiructuring and wage garnishment. Of thesegotential outcomes, our ability to
rehabilitate defaulted student loans is the magticant component of our revenues in this martanerally, a loan is considered successfull
rehabilitated after the student loan borrower hademine consecutive qualifying monthly payments @ client has notified us that it is
recalling the loan. Once we have structured andeémented a repayment program for a defaulted barowe (i) earn a percentage of each
periodic payment collected up to and includingfthal periodic payment prior to the loan being ddesed “rehabilitated” by our clients, and
(ii) if the loan is “rehabilitated,” then we areiga one-time percentage of the total amount oféneaining unpaid balance. The fees we are
paid vary by recovery outcome as well as by contfaar non-government-supported student loans eegeanerally only paid contingency fees
on two outcomes: full repayment or recurring repagita. The table below describes our typical fagctire for each of these five outcomes.
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Student Loan Recovery Outcomes

Full Repayment Recurring Payments Rehabilitation Loan Restructuring Wage Garnishment
 Repaymentinfullo <« Regular structured » After a defaulted « Restructure and e If we are unable to
the loan payments, typically borrower has made consolidate a number obtain voluntary
according to a nine consecutive of outstanding loans repayment, paymer
renegotiated payment recurring payment into a single loan, may be obtained
plan the loan is eligible typically with one through wage
for rehabilitation monthly payment and garnishment after
an extended maturity certain

administrative
reguirements are m

* We are paid a * We are paid a percente ¢« We are paid based + We are paid based onas We are paid a
percentage of the of each payment on a percentage of percentage of overall percentage of each
full payment that is the overall value of value of the payment
made the rehabilitated restructured loan

loan

For certain guaranty agency, or GA, clients, weehentered into Master Service Agreements, or M&ksler these agreements, clients
provide their entire inventory of outsourced loanseceivables to us for recovery on an exclusa&d) rather than just a portion, as with
traditional contracts that are split among varisesvice providers. In certain circumstances, weagagubcontractors to assist in the recovery
of a portion of the client’s portfolio. We also e#ee success fees for the recovery of loans und@id/and our revenues under MSA
arrangements include fees earned by the actiwfiesir subcontractors. As of December 31, 2012haetthree MSA clients in the student Ic
market.

Healthcare

We derive revenues from the healthcare market pifiyrfaom our RAC contract, under which we are fireme contractor responsible for
detecting improperly paid Part A and Part B Medicelaims in 12 states in the Northeastern UnitetieSt Revenues earned under the RAC
contract are driven by the identification of impeoly paid Medicare claims through both automatedirmanual review of such claims. We are
paid contingency fees by CMS based on a percetade dollar amount of claims recovered by CM&assult of our efforts. We recognize
revenue when the provider pays CMS or incurs asepfigainst future Medicare claims. The revenuesea@gnize are net of our estimate of
claims that will be overturned by appeal followipgyment by the provider.

To accelerate our ability to provide Medicare aadhitl recovery services across our region follovangaward of the RAC contract, we
outsourced certain aspects of our healthcare reg@vecess to three different subcontractors. Tihese subcontractors provide a specific
service to us in connection with our claims recgymocess, and one subcontractor is engaged taderailt of the audit and
recovery services for claims within a portion of oegion. According to CMS, the geographic areacalted to this subcontractor represented
approximately 17% of the total Medicare spendingunregion in 2009. We recognize all of the revengenerated by the claims recovered
through these subcontractor relationships, andewegnize the fees that we pay to these subcontsactour expenses.
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Other

We also derive revenues from the recovery of dekmd state taxes, and federal Treasury and otheivibles, default aversion services
for certain clients including financial institutisrand the licensing of hosted technology soluttoreertain clients. For our hosted technology
services, we license our system and integratesmtnnblogy into our clients’ operations, for whick are paid a licensing fee. Our revenues fo
these services include contingency fees, fees hasdeédicated headcount to our clients and hostthblogy licensing fees.

Operating Metrics

We monitor a number of operating metrics in ordeg\taluate our business and make decisions regaodincorporate strategy. These
key metrics include Placement Volume, PlacemeneRe# as a Percentage of Placement Volume, Net GRattovery Volume and Claim
Recovery Fee Rate.

Year Ended
December 31
2012 2011 2010
(dollars in thousands)

Student Lending:

Placement Volum $5,768,94! $6,241,48. $5,294,97.
Placement Revenue as a percentage of Placemenn¥ 2.3(% 1.9€% 1.9€%
Healthcare:

Net Claim Recovery Volum $ 482,20: $ 188,57: $ 15,49
Claim Recovery Fee Ra 11.35% 11.4% 11.7¢%

Placement VolumeOur Placement Volume represents the dollar voluhmkefaulted student loans first placed with us dgithe
specified period by public and private clientsifiecovery. Placement Volume allows us to measurerac#l trends in the amount of inventory
our clients in the student lending market are plgevith us during any period. The revenues assetiaith the recovery of a portion of these
loans may be recognized in subsequent accountimgdse which assists management in estimating éutevenues and in allocating resources
necessary to address current Placement Volumes.

Placement Revenue as a Percentage of PlacemeninéoRlacement Revenue as a Percentage of Placemamh¥a$ calculated by
dividing revenues recognized during the specifiedqa by Placement Volume first placed with us dgrihat same period. This metric is
subject to some level of variation from period &ipd based upon certain timing differences inaigdbut not limited to, the timing of
placements received by us within a period anddlethat a significant portion of revenues recogdiin a current period is often generated
from the Placement Volume received in prior periddiswever, we believe that this metric providessaful indication of the revenues we are
generating from Placement Volumes on an ongoing laaml provides management with an indication efrtHative efficiency of our recovery
operations from period to period.

Net Claim Recovery Volum@®ur Net Claim Recovery Volume measures the doltdume of improper Medicare claims that we have
recovered for CMS during the applicable periodafetny amount that we have reserved to cover apfigahealthcare providers. We are paid
recovery fees as a percentage of this recoveréd gl@ume. We calculate this metric by dividing alaim recovery revenues by our Claim
Recovery Fee Rate. This metric shows trends ivoheme of improper payments within our region atidvés management to measure our
success in finding these improper payments, oweg.ti

Claim Recovery Fee Rat®ur Claim Recovery Fee Rate represents the walehterage percentage of our fees compared to asount
recovered by CMS. This percentage primarily depemdthe method of recovery and, in some casesypieeof improper payment that we
identify. This metric helps management measuratheunt of revenues we generate from Net Claim Ragovolume.
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Costs and Expenses

We generally report two categories of operatingesges: salaries and benefits and other operatpense. Salaries and benefits expe
consist primarily of salaries and performance itives paid and benefits provided to our employ&dker operating expense includes expe
related to our use of subcontractors, other productlated expenses, including costs associatéddaita processing, retrieval of medical
records, printing and mailing services, amortizatmd other outside services, as well as generpbcate and administrative expenses. In
addition to our main components of operating expens 2011 we incurred a $13.4 million impairmexpense to write off the carrying
amount of the trade name intangible asset duertplan to retire our Diversified Collection Servicénc. trade name, which we report as
impairment of trade name. We expect a significamtipn of our expenses to increase as we grow osinbss. However, we expect certain
expenses, including our corporate and general aslrative expenses, to grow at a slower rate thamevenues. As a result, and over the long
term, we expect our overall expenses to modestiirdeas a percentage of revenues.

We also expect to incur additional professionas faed other expenses resulting from future exparesiol the compliance requirements
of operating as a public company, including incegbaudit and legal expenses, investor relationeresgs, increased insurance expenses,
particularly for directors’ and officers’ liabilitinsurance, and the costs of complying with Seclio# of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. While these
costs may initially increase as a percentage of@egnues, we expect that in the future these esqgewill increase at a slower rate than our
overall business volume, and that they will eveltiyugpresent a smaller percentage of our revenues.

Factors Affecting Our Operating Results

Our results of operations are influenced by a nurobéctors, including allocation of placementwale, claim recovery volume,
contingency fees, regulatory matters, effects ieihtlconcentration and macroeconomic factors.

Allocation of Placement Volume

Our clients have the right to unilaterally set amtease or reduce the volume of defaulted stuldents or other receivables that we
service at any given time. In addition, many of mgovery contracts for student loans and othegivables are not exclusive, with our clients
retaining multiple service providers to servicetmors of their portfolios. Accordingly, the numbafrdelinquent student loans or other
receivables that are placed with us may vary friome to time, which may have a significant effecttbea amount and timing of our revenues.
We believe the major factors that influence the benof placements we receive from our clients engtudent loan market include our
performance under our existing contracts and oilityato perform well against competitors for a peaular client. To the extent that we perfc
well under our existing contracts and differentiate services from those of our competitors, we meggive a relatively greater number of
placements under these existing contracts and magoive our ability to obtain future contracts frémese clients and other potential clients.
Further, delays in placement volume, as well aglacation of placement volume, from any of our éadtjents may cause our revenues and
operating results to vary from quarter to quarter.

Typically we are able to anticipate with reasonatieuracy the timing and volume of placements édudeed student loans and other
receivables based on historical patterns and regatamunication with our clients. Occasionally, lewmer, placements are delayed due to
factors outside of our control. For example, a tetbgy system upgrade at the Department of Edutaignificantly decreased the volume of
student loan placements by the Department of Eductd all recovery vendors, including us. While ared the other recovery vendors have
recently received substantially larger placemeifume in the fourth quarter of 2012 as a resulbef¢ompletion of this technology system
upgrade, the majority of the revenues from theaegshents will be delayed until the third quarte2@13 because we do not begin to earn
rehabilitation revenues from a given placementl atieast nine months after receipt of a placemeaeraddition, for approximately twelve
months beginning in September 2011, the DepartoieBtiucation was not able to process a portion of

38



Table of Contents

rehabilitated student loans and accordingly we weteable to recognize certain revenues assocwtadehabilitation of loans for this client.
However, the Department of Education continuedalp ys based on invoices submitted and we recotaest tcash receipts as deferred
revenues on our balance sheet. The amount of pEternlume that we receive is also dependent oulibet relationships that we maintain.
We analyze the profitability of each of our studemtding clients, and sometimes determine thateswurces servicing a specific client should
be allocated elsewhere. As a result of this prqaesgiecided to terminate an unprofitable contwatit a commercial bank, which we do not
expect will have a significant effect on revenuese&t income in future periods. Our decision tani@ate this contract, as discussed above,
accounts for a substantial portion of the 7.6% el&se in Placement Volume in the year ended DeceBih@012, compared to the prior year
period.

Claim Recovery Volume

While we are entitled to review Medicare recordsdlb Part A and Part B claims in our region, we aot permitted to identify an
improper claim unless that particular type of cldias been pre-approved by CMS to ensure compliaitbeapplicable Medicare payment
policies, as well as national and local coveragerd@nations. The growth of our revenues is deteeaiiprimarily by the aggregate volume of
Medicare claims in our region and our ability tendify improper payments within these claims. Hoargthe long-term growth of these
revenues will also be affected by the scope ofgtees pre-approved by CMS.

Further, our claim recovery volume is currently aofed by a system adjustment that is being implésddoy CMS for its PIP providers.
PIP providers are reimbursed for Medicare clainmsubh different processes than other healthcardggecs, and CMS is in the process of
making certain system adjustments in order to atlmese claims to be processed. Prior to April 20deyere not permitted to audit Medicare
claims for these PIP providers, which we estimatadcount for approximately 20% of Medicare claimsur region. The improper payments
to PIP providers that we have identified were nmocpssed by CMS from April 2012 until January 204Ben a small portion of such payme
began to be processed manually. As a result, wanatirecognize any revenues from identified imgmopayments to PIP providers as of
December 31, 2012, but we have incurred expent#eddo these claims. We estimate that this delaye recognition of approximately $6
million in revenues in 2012, although we begaretmgnize a portion of these revenues startingdrfitht quarter of 2013. CMS remains in the
process of implementing the necessary changes $ystems that would allow these claims to be ezt automatically and allow us to
recognize these revenues. While we believe thatdibliay in automatic processing is temporary, weuacertain of when automatic processing
will begin and the failure of CMS to process thasd future claims on a timely basis will delay cerognition of the revenues until this is
resolved.

In addition, the improper claims approved by CM8 atentified by us may be challenged by affectediggand these challenges may
lead to changes in our RAC contract instituted B§SCFor example, in November 2012 the American litabpAssociation and four hospitals
filed a lawsuit against Kathleen Sebelius, the &ecy of the Department of Health and Human Sesvi¢be lawsuit claims, among other
things, that CMS is acting improperly in completdBnying payment for claims initially made underditare Part A (inpatient) that should
have been made under Medicare Part B (outpatiexitler than remitting the difference between the Rand Part B payments. This type of
improper claim has accounted for a substantiaiqouf the claims we have identified under our Rédhtract. If our contingency fee payment
from CMS for identifying these claims is based e tlifference between a Part A and Part B paynoemtfuture revenues may be effected.

Contingency Fees

Our revenues consist primarily of contract-basettingency fees. The contingency fee percentagesvith@arn are set by our clients or
agreed upon during the bid process, and may cHaoigetime to time either under the terms of exigtaontracts or pursuant to the terms of
contract renewals. For example, we have been atithisd our contractual arrangement with the Depamtrof Education is under review as a
result of the Department
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of Education’s decision to have its recovery vesdmomote IBR to defaulted student loans. The IB&y@m provides flexibility on the
required monthly payment for student loan borrovatran amount intended to be affordable basedbmrrawers income and family size. As
result of the increased application of the IBR paog to defaulted student loans, we expect thaethllt be an increase in the number of loans
that become eligible for rehabilitation becauseemefaulted student loan borrowers will be ablm#ke qualifying payments. In connection
with the implementation of the IBR program, we haeen advised that the Department of Educationredlice the contingency fee rate that
we will receive for rehabilitating student loansdgyproximately 18% effective March 1, 2013, althotigis change is still subject to further
review and finalization by the Department of EdiaratWe expect that revenues derived from the amed volume of rehabilitated students
loans will offset the decrease in contingency fgeg that we receive from the Department of Edanati

Regulatory Matters

Each of the markets which we serve is highly regalaAccordingly, changes in regulations that dffee types of loans, receivables and
claims that we are able to service or the mannesiich any such delinquent loans, receivables &iths can be recovered will affect our
revenues and results of operations. For exampepdlssage of the Student Aid and Fiscal RespoitgiAit, or SAFRA, in 2010 had the effect
of transferring the origination of all governmenipported student loans to the Department of Edocathereby ending all student loan
originations guaranteed by the GAs. Loans guardritgehe GAs represented approximately 70% of guwent-supported student loans
originated in 2009. While the GAs will continuegervice existing outstanding student loans for yéacome, this legislation will over time
shift the portfolio of student loans that we manswyeard the Department of Education, and furthercentrate our sources of revenues and
increase our reliance on our relationship withMepartment of Education. In addition, our entryitiie healthcare market was facilitated by
passage of the Tax Relief and Health Care Act 662Which mandated CMS to contract with privatenirto audit Medicare claims in an ef
to increase the recovery of improper Medicare paymeAny changes to the regulations that affecstbdent loan industry or the recovery of
defaulted student loans or the Medicare prograneigdly or the audit and recovery of Medicare clatoald have a significant impact on our
revenues and results of operations.

Client Concentration

Our revenues from the student loan market deperalioability to maintain our contracts with sometloé largest providers of student
loans. In 2012, four providers of student loanshesmxrcounted for more than 10% of our revenues dwurch period and they collectively
accounted for 55% of our total revenues during pleisod. Our contracts with these clients entltlent to unilaterally terminate their contrac
relationship with us at any time without penalfywk lose one of our significant clients, includifigne of our significant clients is
consolidated by an entity that does not use owicgs, if the terms of compensation for our servickange or if there is a reduction in the I
of placements provided by any of these clients,reuenues could decline.

Our contract with CMS for the recovery of impropéedicare payments began generating significantmee® during 2011 and
represented 25.8% of our total revenues in the geded December 31, 2012. CMS issued a requeguédes in connection with the re-
bidding for the RAC contract in February 2013. Aitigh our RAC contract is currently set to expir@@i4, CMS may terminate our RAC
contract as early as August 2013 in connection thithrebidding process. While we believe our performanogen the existing agreement ¢
the experience we have gained in performing thigregt position us well to renew the agreemenlyifaito renew the agreement or renewal ol
substantially less favorable terms could signifttaharm our revenues and results of operations.

Macroeconomic Factors

Certain macroeconomic factors influence our busirsesl results of operations. These include theasing volume of student loan
originations in the U.S. as a result of increasstibh costs and student enrollment, the defauét od student loan borrowers, the growth in
Medicare expenditures resulting from
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increasing healthcare costs, as well as the flneoddjet tightening of federal, state and local goreants as a result of general economic
weakness and lower tax revenues.

Critical Accounting Policies

Our consolidated financial statements are preparadcordance with generally accepted accountimgiples in the United States, or
GAAP. The preparation of these consolidated finalrgtiatements requires us to make estimates anthpiens that affect the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, costseapdnses and related disclosures. We base onva¢ss on historical experience and on val
other assumptions that we believe to be reasonealaler the circumstances. In many instances, waldwite reasonably used different
accounting estimates, and in other instances clsangbe accounting estimates are reasonably licebccur from period-to-period.
Accordingly, actual results could differ signifiadgnfrom the estimates made by our managementh&exktent that there are material
differences between these estimates and actudis;esur future financial statement presentatiamricial condition, results of operations and
cash flows will be affected. We believe that thecamting policies discussed below are criticalnderstanding our historical and future
performance, as these policies relate to the mgnéfisant areas involving management’s judgmenmnis estimates.

Revenue Recognition

The majority of our contracts are contingency fasdal. We recognize revenues on these contingeadyated contracts when thipdsty
payors remit payments to our clients or remit paytsi¢o us on behalf of our clients, and, consedyetiie contingency is deemed to have b
satisfied. Under our RAC contract with CMS, we mgige revenues when the healthcare provider hasQdiS for a given claim or incurs an
offset against future Medicare claims. Providengehthe right to appeal a claim and may pursue madit appeals if the initial appeal is found
in favor of CMS. We accrue an estimated liability &ppeals based on the amount of commissions/egteihich are subject to appeal and
which we estimate are probable of being returngatdwiders following successful appeal. This esteddiability for appeals is an offset to
revenues on our income statement. Our estimatdsagezl on our historical experience with appealsigcunder our CMS contract since
January 2010. During the year ended December 3R, 2@e reserved an amount equal to 14% of grosntes from our CMS contract. We
have increased our estimated liability for appra&012 due to recent trends in our historical del@ed to the likelihood of successful appeals
Commencing on December 31, 2011, we establishegaate line item in the current liabilities sectaf our balance sheet entitleBstimatec
liability for appeals” to reflect our estimate big liability. The $4.4 million balance as of Dedaen 31, 2012, represents our best estimate of
the probable amount of losses related to appeaiohs for which commissions were previously octiéel. We estimate that it is reasonably
possible that we could be required to pay up tedditional approximately $1.5 million as a resdlpotentially successful appeals. To the
extent that required payments by us related toessfal appeals exceed the amount accrued, reventiesapplicable period would be redu
by the amount of the excess. We similarly accrueltmvance against accounts receivable relatednmassions yet to be collected, which
$1.2 million as of December 31, 2012, based orséimee estimates used to establish the estimateiityiditr appeals of commissions received.
Our inability to correctly estimate the estimatedbilities and allowance against accounts receevablild adversely affect our revenues in
future periods.

Goodwill

We periodically review the carrying value of intdrlg assets not subject to amortization, includjogdwill, to determine whether an
impairment may exist. GAAP requires that goodwiltlacertain intangible assets not subject to anaiitim be assessed annually for
impairment using fair value measurement techniques.

Specifically, goodwill impairment is determined mgia two-step test. The first step of the goodivijpairment test is used to identify
potential impairment by comparing the fair valueaageporting unit with its book value, includingagtwill. If the fair value of the reporting ui
exceeds its book value, goodwill is consideredimpiaired and the second step of the impairmenidesinecessary. If the book value of the
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reporting unit exceeds its fair value, the secdrg of the goodwill impairment test is performedneasure the amount of impairment loss, if
any. The second step of the goodwill impairmertd¢espares the implied fair value of the reportimit’s goodwill with the book value of th
goodwill. If the book value of the reporting unigeodwill exceeds the implied fair value of thabdwill, an impairment loss is recognized in
an amount equal to that excess. The implied fdirevaf goodwill is determined in the same mannehasamount of goodwill recognized in a
business combination. That is, the fair value efrégporting unit is allocated to all of the assatd liabilities of that unit as if the reportingiun
had been acquired in a business combination aniithealue of the reporting unit was the purchpsee paid to acquire the reporting unit. In
September 2011, the Financial Accounting StandBodsd, or FASB, issued Accounting Standards UpdatAaSU, 2011-08Intangibles—
Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Testing Goodwill fmpairment. This ASU permits an entity to make a qualitatsgsessment of whether i
more likely than not that a reporting unit's faalwe is less than its carrying amount before apglyhe twostep goodwill impairment test. If i
entity concludes it is not more likely than notttttee fair value of a reporting unit is less thendarrying amount, it need not perform the two-
step impairment test. The ASU permits early adoptémd based on our qualitative assessment weuttettkhat we are not required to perf
the two-step impairment test at December 31, 20ti1December 31, 2012.

Impairments of Depreciable Intangible Assets

We evaluate depreciable intangible assets for immeit whenever events or changes in circumstandésate that the carrying amount
of such assets may not be recoverable. Deprediathlegible assets consist of client contracts atated relationships, and are being amortize
over their estimated useful life, which is gengrlD years. We evaluate the client contracts iritdagt the individual contract level. The
recoverability of such assets is measured by a adsgn of the carrying amount of the assets toréutundiscounted net cash flows expected t«
be generated by the assets. If the assets areleoedito be impaired, the impairment to be recaghig measured by the amount by which the
carrying amount of the assets exceeds the failewvallthe assets. There was no impairment expenskefweciable intangible assets in 2012,

2011 or 2010.

Results of Operations
Year Ended December 31, 2012 compared to the Yeated December 31, 2011
The following table represents our historical ofiagaresults for the periods presented:

Year Ended December 31
2012 2011 $ Change % Change
(in thousands)

Consolidated Statement of Operations Datz

Revenue! $210,07: $162,97: $ 47,09¢ 29%
Operating expense
Salaries and benefi 83,00: 67,08: 15,92( 24%
Other operating expen: 71,30¢ 49,19¢ 22,10¢ 45%
Impairment of trade nan — 13,40( (13,400 -10C%
Total operating expens 154,30 129,68: 24,62¢ 19%
Income from operation 55,76¢ 33,29: 22,47: 68%
Debt extinguishment cos (3,679 — (3,679 0%
Interest expens (12,419 (13,530 1,11¢ -8%
Interest incom 64 12¢ (61) -49%
Income before provision for income tay 39,733 19,88¢ 19,84¢ 10C%
Provision for income taxe 16,78¢ 7,51¢ 9,27( 125%
Net income $ 22,95! $ 12,37 $ 10,57¢ 86%
Accrual for preferred stock dividen 2,03¢ 6,49¢ (4,457%) -69%
Net income available to common shareholc $ 20,91t $ 5,87 $ 15,03¢ 25€%
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Revenues

Total revenues were $210.1 million for the yearezhBecember 31, 2012, an increase of $47.1 midia28.9%, compared to total
revenues of $163.0 million for the year ended Demam31, 2011. This increase in revenues is primdrike to an increase of $33.2 million in
revenues received from CMS under our RAC contraet eesult of higher claim recovery volume andremease of $4.8 million generated
from a new default-aversion service contract tlatimenced in May 2012, for a new service offeringpnevide in other markets we serve.
Revenues from student lending increased by 8.320112 to $132.4 million from $122.2 million in theigr year period.

Salaries and Benefits

Salaries and benefits expense was $83.0 milliothi®year ended December 31, 2012, an increasksd $illion, or 23.7%, compared
to salaries and benefits expense of $67.1 mill@ritie year ended December 31, 2011. This inclisgs@marily due to hiring of new
employees to provide services under our RAC contww@gh CMS, an increase in expenses associatedthatiengagement of additional softw
engineers to assist in the integration of a regeatjuired software license and an increase inresggeassociated with the hiring of additional
administrative employees.

Other Operating Expense

Other operating expense was $71.3 million for tharyended December 31, 2012, an increase of $2Ridnmor 44.9%, compared to
other operating expense of $49.2 million for tharyended December 31, 2011. This increase is phinthre to (i) an additional $10 million of
subcontractor fees incurred in connection withéased services provided under the RAC contracM#@l contracts and (ii)$1.3 million paic
to an affiliate of Parthenon Capital Partners inr@xction with the termination of an advisory seegiagreement, and an additional $0.9 millior
paid to Parthenon Capital Partners at the closirgioinitial public offering also as a result dittermination of the advisory agreement.

Impairment of Trade Name

We did not recognize an impairment expense fongitale assets in 2012. In 2011, we recorded $13lmof impairment expense to
write off the carrying value of our former tradenma, Diversified Collection Services Inc., due to dacision to retire that trade name.

Income from Operations

As a result of the factors described above, inctrora operations was $55.8 million for the year eh@ecember 31, 2012, compared to
$33.3 million for the year ended December 30, 20&firesenting an increase of $22.5 million, or .5

Debt Extinguishment Costs

As a result of the entry into our new credit fagitind the repayment of all amounts owed undettwem existing credit facility in March
2012, we incurred debt extinguishment costs of §8llfon, comprised of approximately $3.3 million fees paid to the lenders in connection
with our new credit facility and approximately $0r8llion of unamortized debt issuance costs assediaith our old credit facility. We did n
incur a similar expense in the year ended Decei@be2011.

Interest Expense

Interest expense was $12.4 million for the yeaedridecember 31, 2012 compared to $13.5 millioriHeryear ended December 31,
2011, representing a decrease of 8.2% due to Imterest rates under the new credit agreementrapa@d to the interest rates under our old
credit agreement.
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Income Taxes
Income tax expense was $16.8 million for the yemled December 31, 2012 compared to $7.5 millionHeryear ended December 31,
2011, representing an increase of 123.3% consigtiémthe increase in income before provision faxdme taxes. Our effective income tax
increased to 42.2% for the year ended Decembe&®P, from 37.8% for the year ended December 311 28fpproximately 2.5% of the
increase results from changes in the state taxwdtieh include a 2011 one-time benefit from a geim California tax law of 2.3%. In
addition, approximately 1.9% of the increase wass fiuthe non-deductible termination of an advisegices agreement in 2012.

Net Income

As a result of the factors described above, netnrewas $23.0 million for the year ended Decemhbef812, which represented an
increase of $10.6 million compared to net incom&1#.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2011

Year Ended December 31, 2011 compared to the Yewlell December 31, 2010
The following table presents our historical opergtiesults for the periods presented:

Year Ended December 31
2011 2010 $ Change % Change
(in thousands)

Consolidated Statement of Operations Datz

Revenue! $162,97: $123,51¢ $39,45¢ 32%
Operating expense
Salaries and benefi 67,08: 58,11 8,96¢ 15%
Other operating expen: 49,19¢ 33,65¢ 15,54 46%
Impairment of trade nar 13,40( — 13,40( 0%
Total operating expens: 129,68: 91,76¢ 37,911 41%
Income from operation 33,29: 31,751 1,54z 5%
Interest expens (23,530 (15,230) 1,70C -11%
Interest incomt 12F 11€ 7 6%
Income before provision for income tay 19,88¢ 16,63¢ 3,24¢ 20%
Provision for income taxe 7,51¢ 6,664 852 13%
Net income $ 12,37 $ 9,97t 2,397 24%
Revenues

Total revenues were $163.0 million for the yearezhBecember 31, 2011, an increase of $39.5 milbo81.9%, compared to total
revenues of $123.5 million for the year ended Ddzemn31, 2010. Of this increase, $19.7 million tsilatitable to increased recovery activity
our RAC contract with CMS and reflects the firdt-frear of our recovery activity related to thisntmct. The remaining increase was primarily
a result of an increase in revenues from our stuéeding markets, due largely to an approximal&ly% increase in placement volume from
2010 to 2011.

Salaries and Benefits

Salaries and benefits was $67.1 million for theryraled December 31, 2011, an increase of $9.milbr 15.4%, compared to salaries
and benefits expense of $58.1 million for the yerated December 31, 2010. This increase is primduéyto an increase in employee
headcount associated with hiring to staff our ofi@na under the RAC contract. Our employee headowas 1,280 as of December 31, 2011,
an increase of 160, or 14.3%, over the employeddoeant of 1,120 as of December 31, 2010.
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Other Operating Expense

Other operating expense was $49.2 million for tharyended December 31, 2011, an increase of $liBidnmor 46.2%, compared to
other operating expense of $33.7 million for tharyended December 31, 2010. This increase is phjntare to the use of subcontractors as
expand our operations in our healthcare markeelp &ddress the new and significant claims actidtyng with increases in payments to
healthcare providers for the transfer of medicebrds as required under the RAC contract. In asfuitive recorded a $1.2 million expense in
2011 related to a legal settlement that was paidnathe first quarter of 2012.

Income From Operations

As a result of the factors described above, inctrora operations was $33.3 million, for the yeareth®ecember 31, 2011, as comparec
to $31.8 million for the year ended December 31,0 his reflects an expense of $13.4 million edab impairment expenses to write off the
carrying amount of the trade name intangible ashststo the retirement of a former trade name.rimeérom operations excluding this expe
totaled $46.7 million for the year ended Decemter2®11, which represents an increase of $14.9omjlor 47.1%, as compared to income
from operations for the year ended December 310201

Interest Expense

Interest expense was $13.5 million for the yeaednidecember 31, 2011, a decrease of $1.7 millimm $15.2 million for the year end
December 31, 2010. The reduction in interest ex@éndue primarily to lower notes payable balanmesslting from principal repayments.

Income Taxes

Income tax expense of $7.5 million for the yeareehBecember 31, 2011, represented an effectivextaof 37.8% of income before
provision for income tax. Income tax expense o¥$6illion was recorded for the year ended Decer8tie2010, and represented an effective
tax rate of 40%.

Net Income

As a result of the factors described above, netrmewas $12.4 million for the year ended DecemltieB811, which represented an
increase of $2.4 million over net income of $10iliom for the year ended December 31, 2010. Exicigdhe impairment expenses to write
the carrying amount of the trade name, net incomeldvhave been $20.7 million for the year endedebdmer 31, 2011.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our principal sources of liquidity are cash flowsrh operations, term loans, and the proceeds reddiem our initial public offering in
August 2012. Cash and cash equivalents, whicheth87.8 million as of December 31, 2012, consistarily of cash on deposit with banks.
We expect that operating cash flows will continoidé a primary source of liquidity for our operagtimeeds. There are currently no borrowings
outstanding under our revolving credit facility etithan a $1.4 million letter of credit. Due to ayerating cash flows, our existing cash and
cash equivalents and availability under our reva\weredit facility, we believe that we have thelighto meet our working capital and capital
expenditure needs for the foreseeable future.
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The following table presents information regardiug cash flows for the years ended December 312,28011 and 2010:

Year Ended
December 31,
2012 2011 2010
(in thousands)
Net cash provided by operating activit $ 37,00t $ 28,98t $ 18,21«
Net cash used in investing activiti (12,199 (6,117 (4,92
Net cash used in financing activiti (6,979 (13,949 (12,139

Cash flows from operating activities

Operating activities provided $37.0 million of cadiliring the year ended December 31, 2012, an isereb$8.0 million, compared to
cash provided by operating activities of $29.0 imnillfor the year ended December 31, 2011 primallg to the increase in net income for the
year ended December 31, 2012 to $23.0 million coethto $12.4 million for 2011. Cash used to pay@ed salary and benefits totaled $
million in 2012, as compared to the $7.1 millioreiccrued salaries and benefits payable for the acabfe period in 2011. Accounts payable
increased $1.3 million in 2012 compared to 201imarily due to timing. The estimated liability fappeals for revenue received from CMS
totaled $4.4 million in 2012, compared $0.5 millior2011, due to higher claim recovery volumes urmmde RAC contract with CMS.

We generated $29.0 million of cash from operatictiviies during the year ended December 31, 2ptitparily resulting from our net
income of $12.4 million, non-cash depreciation antbrtization of $7.8 million, an impairment expetsevrite off the carrying amount of the
trade name intangible asset due to the retirenfahediversified Collection Services, Inc. trademe of $13.4 million and changes in
operating assets and liabilities of $3.8 millioffset by non-cash deferred income taxes of $9.6anil

We generated $18.2 million of cash from operatictiviies during the year ended December 31, 2ptitarily resulting from our net
income of $10.0 million, non-cash depreciation, dmation and impairment of intangible assets oP#illion and interest expense from debt
issuance costs of $2.0 million, partially offsetrmn-cash changes in operating assets and liabilifi $1.5 million.

Cash flows from investing activities

Investing activities resulted in cash outflow o2 million during the year ended December 31, 2012 primary uses of cash
associated with investing activities in 2012 weté @ million for property, equipment and leasehaigrovements, to enhance our proprietary
technology platform, improve our telecommunicatisgstems, upgrade our IT infrastructure for storage operating activities, and $0.8
million for the purchase of a perpetual softwaceitise. We used $6.1 million and $4.9 million ofrcesinvesting activities for the purchase of
property, equipment and leasehold improvementsidutie years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010anigirfor investments in information
technology systems and infrastructure to supparesed business volumes.

Cash flows from financing activities

For the year ended December 31, 2012, our primiaan€ing activities were $156 million in proceedsnfi term loans, $12.8 million of
net proceeds from our IPO which was completed igusti 2012, and $4.5 million in revolving creditifig borrowings. These proceeds were
offset by $103.4 million used for the repaymenbof old notes payable and repayment of principabannew term loans, $12.7 million used
for the repayment of our old and new lines of d;ekB0.3 million used to redeem 5.3 million shavépreferred stock, and $3.1 million used
for debt issuance costs.We used $13.9 million shéa financing activities for the repayment ofespayable during the year ended
December 31, 2011. We used $11.1 million of cagmamncing activities during the year ended Decen®ig 2010, comprised of $10.0 millic
used for the repayment of notes payable and $ll@mised for debt issuance costs.
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Long-term Debt

On March 19, 2012, we, through our wholly ownedssdilary, entered into a $147.5 million credit agneat with Madison Capital
Funding LLC as administrative agent, ING Capitald s syndication agent, and other lenders partgttieThe senior credit facility consists
of (i) a $57.0 million term A loan that matureshtarch 2017, (ii) a $79.5 million term B loan thaatares in March 2018 , and (iii)) a $11.0
million revolving credit facility that expires in &ch 2017, which had a borrowing capacity of $9ilion as of December 31, 2012. On
June 28, 2012, we increased the amount of our Wwargs under our term B loan by $19.5 million. Weynadso request the lenders to increase
the size of the term B loan or other term loansippyo an additional $10.5 million at any time priorMarch 19, 2014.

All borrowings under the credit agreement bearregeat a rate per annum equal to an applicablgimplus, at our option, either (i) a
base rate determined by reference to the highdsi dfie prime rate published in the Wall Streefrdal or another national publication, (b) the
federal funds rate plus 0.5%, and (c) 2.5% or(liondon Interbank Offered Rate, or Libor, rateed®ined by reference to the highest of (a) a
Libor rate published in Reuters or another natigndilication and (b) 1.5%. The term A loan andrilving credit facility have an applical
margin of 4.25% for base rate loans and 5.25% fiooiLrate loans. The term B loan has an applicataegin of 4.75% for base rate loans and
5.75% for Libor rate loans. The minimum per annateriest rate that we are required to pay is 6.7&@%he term A loan and revolving credit
facility and 7.25% for the term B loan. Interestlige at the end of each month for base rate loashatthe end of each Libor period for Libor
rate loans unless the Libor period is greater tharonths, in which case interest is due at thedagtof each 3-month interval of such Libor
period.

The credit agreement requires us to prepay theidwo loans on a prorated basis and then to prdmasetolving credit facility under
certain circumstances: (i) with 100% of the nethgaoceeds of any asset sale or other disposifiassets by us or our subsidiaries where the
net cash proceeds exceed $1 million, (ii) with eceetage of our annual excess cash flow each ylearensuch percentage ranges from 25%-
75% depending on our total debt to EBITDA ratiouegld by any voluntary prepayments that are madaioterm loans during the same
period and (iii) with any net cash proceeds froqualified initial public offering by us, less natygeeds applied to redeem any outstanding
preferred equity or convertible debt, to pay a canrshareholder dividend not to exceed $20 milliprifave comply with an adjusted
EBITDA ratio set forth in the agreement, to ourtchalances in an amount not to exceed $75 millide.applied the proceeds from our initial
public offering to our cash balances.

We have to abide by certain negative covenantsdocredit agreement, which limit the ability fanrssubsidiaries and us to:

* incur additional indebtednes

» create or permit liens

» pay dividends or other distributions to our eqtittders;

» purchase or redeem certain equity interests oéquity holders, including any warrants, options atiter security rights
e pay management fees or similar fees to any of quitgholders;

* make any redemption, prepayment, defeasance, feme®r any other payment with respect to any slireted debt

e consolidate or mergs

» sell assets, including the capital stock of oursgdibries;

» enter into transactions with our affiliate

» enter into different business lines; ¢

* make investment:
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The credit agreement also requires us to meeticdimancial covenants, including maintaining agfikcharge coverage ratio and a total
debt to EBITDA ratio as such terms are definedunaedit agreement. These financial covenantsested at the end of each quarter
beginning on December 31, 2012. The table belothéurdescribes these financial covenants, as wellia status under these covenants as of
December 31, 2012.

Covenant Actual Ratio at
Financial Covenant Requirement December 31, 201
Fixed charge coverage ratio (minimum) 1.20to 1. 1.9:
Total debt to EBITDA ratio (maximurr 3.25t0 1. 2.11

Contractual Obligations
The following summarizes our contractual obligasi@s of December 31, 2012:

Payments Due by Perioc

Less More

Than 1-3 3-5 Than
Contractual Obligations Total 1 Year Years Years 5 Years
Long-Term Debt Obligations $147,76¢ $11,04( $22,08( $21,29: $93,35¢
Interest Paymeni 45,78¢ 10,44¢ 18,61 15,25¢ 1,47:
Operating Lease Obligatiol 6,754 1,74C 3,17¢ 1,771 65
Purchase Obligatior 3,69¢ 3,65( 48 — —
Total $204,00¢ $26,87¢ $43,917 $38,31¢ $94,89:

(1) We entered into our new credit agreement onckld®, 2012 and amended it on June 28, 2012, Witduestanding indebtedness under
our prior loan facility paid in full. Long-term debbligations and interest payments presentedisntdiole relate solely to our new credit
agreement, as amendi

Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Net Inconr

To provide investors with additional informatiorgeeding our financial results, we have disclosethatable below and within this rep
adjusted EBITDA and adjusted net income, both attvlare non-GAAP financial measures. We have pexvia reconciliation below of
adjusted EBITDA to net income and adjusted netnmedo net income, the most directly comparable GAiABncial measure to these non-
GAAP financial measures.

We have included adjusted EBITDA and adjusted meirne in this report because they are key meassezgsby our management and
board of directors to understand and evaluate o gperating performance and trends and to prepat@pprove our annual budget.
Accordingly, we believe that adjusted EBITDA anguatied net income provide useful information todstors and analysts in understanding
and evaluating our operating results in the sameneraas our management and board of directors.

Our use of adjusted EBITDA and adjusted net incbiaelimitations as an analytical tool, and you $thowt consider it in isolation or as
a substitute for analysis of our results as replanteder GAAP. Some of these limitations are:

« although depreciation and amortization are non-casinges, the assets being depreciated and andontiag have to be replaced in
the future, and adjusted EBITDA does not reflesthceapital expenditure requirements for such replents or for new capital
expenditure requirement

» adjusted EBITDA does not reflect interest expenseur indebtednes
« adjusted EBITDA does not reflect changes in, ohaasjuirements for, our working capital nee
» adjusted EBITDA does not reflect tax payme
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» adjusted EBITDA and adjusted net income do noecéfihe potentially dilutive impact of eqL-based compensatio

» adjusted EBITDA and adjusted net income do noec¢fihe impact of certain non-operating expensadting from matters we do
not consider to be indicative of our core operapjegformance; an

» other companies may calculate adjusted EBITDA aljdséed net income differently than we do, whictiuees its usefulness as a
comparative measur

Because of these limitations, you should consid@grsted EBITDA and adjusted net income alongsitieiotinancial performance
measures, including net income and our other GAgsRIts.

The following tables present a reconciliation ofusted EBITDA and adjusted net income for the yesided December 31, 2012, 2011
and 2010 to actual net income for these periods:

Year Ended December 31
2012 2011 2010
(in thousands)

Reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA:

Net income $22,95: $12,37: $ 9,97¢
Provision for income taxe 16,78¢ 7,51¢ 6,66
Interest expens 12,41 13,53( 15,23(
Interest incom (64) (125) (11¢)
Debt extinguishment cos® 3,67¢ — —

Depreciation and amortizatic 9,50¢ 7,76¢€ 7,21z
Impairment of trade nan® — 13,40( —

Non-core operating expens® 47 2,54¢ 1,10¢
Advisory fee® 2,641 634 75¢
Stock based compensati 1,61¢ 12C 62¢
Adjusted EBITDA $69,57: $57,76: $41,46(

Year Ended December 31
2012 2011 2010
(in thousands)

Reconciliation of Adjusted Net Income:

Net income $22,95: $12,37: $ 9,97¢
Debt extinguishment cos® 3,67¢ — —

Impairment of trade nan — 13,40( —

Non-core operating expens® 47 2,54¢ 1,10¢
Advisory fee® 2,641 634 75¢
Stock based compensati 1,61¢ 12C 62¢
Amortization of intangible®) 3,67¢ 3,04: 3,04:
Deferred financing amortization co«® 1,161 1,25¢ 1,99
Tax adjustment( (5,126 (8,400 (3,019
Adjusted net incom $30,64: $24,97: $14,49°

(1) Represents debt extinguishment costs compasagproximately $3.3 million of fees paid to lenslén connection with our new credit
facility and approximately $0.3 million of unamaeid debt issuance costs in connection with oucddit facility.

(2) Represents impairment expenses to write oft#reying amount of the trade name intangible adsetto the plan to retire the Diversified
Collection Services, Inc. trade nan

(3) Represents professional fees and settlement adated to strategic corporate development actsvaied a $1.2 million legal settlemen
2011.
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(4) Represents expenses incurred under an ad\§sovices agreement with Parthenon Capital Partmérish was terminated in April 2012.
See Note 1*Related Party Transactio”

(5) Represents amortization of capitalized expenslased to the acquisition of Performant by ailiaté of Parthenon Capital Partners in
2004 and an acquisition in the first quarter of2@1.enhance our analytics capabiliti

(6) Represents amortization of capitalized financingtgoelated to debt offerings conducted in 200202ind 2012

(7) Represents tax adjustments assuming a margineatzvof 40%

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We have no off-balance sheet arrangements.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Under the JOBS Act, emerging growth companies edaydadopting new or revised accounting standamtissuch time as those
standards apply to private companies. However, avead intend to elect to take advantage of thismokéd transition period provided in
Section 7(a)(2)(B) of the Securities Act as allovigdSection 107(b)(1) of the JOBS Act.

In December 2011, FASB issued ASU No. 2011B4dlance Sheet (Topic 210): Disclosures about GffgpAssets and LiabilitiesASU
201141 requires an entity to disclose information abuftgetting and related arrangements to enablesufdmancial statements to underst.
the effect of those arrangements on its finanaaitpn, and to allow investors to better compamaricial statements prepared under GAAP
with financial statements prepared under Intermatfi¢-inancial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The nendards are effective for annual periods
beginning January 1, 2013, and interim periodsiwithose annual periods. Retrospective applicatorquired. We have implemented the
provisions of ASU 2011-11 as of January 1, 2013.d&@ot believe our adoption of the new guidandehaive an impact on our consolidated
financial statements.

In June 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-0&mprehensive Income (Topic 220): Presentationashf@rehensive IncomeéJnder this
ASU, an entity will have the option to present tioenponents of net income and comprehensive incareéhier one or two consecutive
financial statements. The ASU eliminates the optin@AAP to present other comprehensive incomé&énstatement of changes in equity. An
entity should apply the ASU retrospectively. Faraampublic entity, the ASU is effective for fiscaars ending after December 15, 2012, and
interim and annual periods thereafter. Early adwopis permitted. In December 2011, the FASB dectdatkfer the effective date of those
changes in ASU 2011-05 that relate only to thegmion of reclassification adjustments in théesteent of income by issuing ASU 2011-12,
Comprehensive Income (Topic 220): Deferral of tffedfive Date for Amendments to the PresentatidReziassifications of ltems Out of
Accumulated Other Comprehensive income in AccogiBtandards Update 20-05. We adopted this new guidance with no impact to ou
consolidated financial statements.

In May 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-64jr Value Measurement (Topic 820): Amendmentsctieéve Common Fair Value
Measurement and Disclosure Requirements in U.S.Fc#l IFRS. The new standards do not extend the use of &irvbut, rather, provide
guidance about how fair value should be appliedrevitealready is required or permitted under IFR&AAP. For GAAP, most of the chanc
are clarifications of existing guidance or wordiftanges to align with IFRS. A nonpublic entityésjuired to apply the ASU prospectively for
annual periods beginning after December 15, 2014 adbpted this new guidance with no impact to omsolidated financial statements.

ITEM 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

We do not hold or issue financial instruments fading purposes. We conduct all of our busined$.$ currency and therefore do not
have any direct foreign currency risk. We do haxosure to changes in interest
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rates with respect to the borrowings under ourasesgcured credit facility, which bear interesaatariable rate based on the prime rate or
LIBOR. For example, if the interest rate on ourrbaings increased 100 basis points (1%) from tleditfacility floor of 1.5%, our annual
interest expense would increase by approximately fillion. In July 2012, we entered into an intreate cap agreement per the terms of ou
senior secured credit agreement. The interestegdt@greement is effective beginning in OctobeR2@hd matures in October 2014, with a
total notional amount of $75 million and a cap dBQR at 2.0%. If the LIBOR rate were to increasell®@ basis points (1.0%) above the
credit facility floor of 1.5% for a year, we woutdceive a payment from the interest rate cap ofeqpmately $0.4 million.

While we currently hold our excess cash in an dpegaaccount, in the future we may invest all grostion of our excess cash in short-
term investments, including money market accownlt&re returns may reflect current interest ratessaAesult, market interest rate changes
impact our interest expense and interest incoms. ifitpact will depend on variables such as the ritade of interest rate changes and the
level of our borrowings under our credit facility @éxcess cash balances.

ITEM 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Dat

Our consolidated financial statements and notegthand the reports of KPMG LLP are set forthhia Index to Financial Statements
under Iltem 15, Exhibits, Financial Statement Schejiand is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Acunting and Financial Disclosure
None.

ITEM 9A. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain a system of disclosure controls andgmtares that are designed to ensure that informegiguired to be disclosed in the
Company’s reports under the Exchange Act is reachroecessed, summarized and reported within the gieriods specified in the Securities
and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms, andstiat information is accumulated and communicateddnagement, including our Chief
Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officas, appropriate, to allow timely decisions regardiguired disclosure. In designing and
evaluating the disclosure controls and procedunasagement recognized that any controls and proesgdoo matter how well designed and
operated, can provide only reasonable assuranaeh@dving the desired control objectives.

Management, with the participation of our Chief Eixéve Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, hegaluated the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures, as definedula R3a-15(e) under the Exchange Act, as of tloalfigear covered by this Annual Report on
Form 10-K. Based on that evaluation, our Chief Exiee Officer and Chief Financial Officer conclud#étht our disclosure controls and
procedures were functioning effectively at the ogable assurance level as of December 31, 2012.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Finangdal Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@aorting (as defined in Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Acprwvide reasonable assurance regarding the réjabflour financial reporting and the
preparation of our consolidated financial statemént external purposes in accordance with UniteddeS Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles (“US GAAP”). Under the supervision ofdawith the participation of our Chief Executivefioér and Chief Financial Officer,
management assessed the effectiveness of intemtabtover financial reporting as of December 3112. Management based its assessmen
on criteria established in “Internal Control Intaetpd Framework” issued by the Committee of Spongd@irganizations of the Treadway
Commission (*COSQ”). Based on this evaluation, nggmaent concluded that its internal control ovearicial reporting was effective as of
December 31, 2012.
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Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportirg

There was no change in our internal control oveairicial reporting during the quarter ended DecerBheP012, that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaftf, our internal control over financial reportirmgher than those noted above.

ITEM 9B. Other Information
None.

PART IlI

ITEM 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corpeate Governance

This Item is incorporated by reference to our défie proxy statement on Schedule 14A, which wélfiled within 120 days after the
close of the fiscal year covered by this reporEorm 10-K, or if our proxy statement is not fileg that date, will be included in an amendmen
to this Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 11. Executive Compensation

This Item is incorporated by reference to our défie proxy statement on Schedule 14A, which wélfiled within 120 days after the
close of the fiscal year covered by this reporfFonm 10-K, or if our proxy statement is not fileg that date, will be included in an amendmen
to this Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners andvlanagement and Related Stockholder Matter:

This Item is incorporated by reference to our défie proxy statement on Schedule 14A, which wélfiled within 120 days after the
close of the fiscal year covered by this reporForm 10-K, or if our proxy statement is not fileg that date, will be included in an amendmen
to this Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, an®irector Independence

This Item is incorporated by reference to our défie proxy statement on Schedule 14A, which wélfiled within 120 days after the
close of the fiscal year covered by this reporfFomnm 10-K, or if our proxy statement is not fileg that date, will be included in an amendmen
to this Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Service

This Item is incorporated by reference to our défie proxy statement on Schedule 14A, which wélfiled within 120 days after the
close of the fiscal year covered by this reporEorm 10-K, or if our proxy statement is not fileg that date, will be included in an amendmen
to this Report on Form 10-K.

PART IV

ITEM 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedule
(a) Financial Statements

Financial Statementd.he financial statements filed as part of this repoe identified in the Index to Consolidated Ficial Statements
on page F-1.

Financial Statement ScheduleSee Item 15(c) below.
Exhibits. See Item 15(b) below.
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(b) Exhibits

The following exhibits are filed herewith or arearporated by reference to exhibits previouslydfieth the Securities and Exchange
Commission. The Company shall furnish copies oflgihfor a reasonable fee (covering the expendarafshing copies) upon request.

Exhibit
Number Description
3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Registr@mtorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1(b) te @ompany’s Registration
Statement on Form-1/A filed July 23, 2012
3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Registrant (incaedrby reference to Exhibit 3.2(b) to the Compamegistration
Statement on Form-1/A filed July 23, 2012
4.2 Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreerdated as of August 15, 2012, among the Registmahthe persons list
thereon (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.the Compar’'s Registration Statement on For-1/A filed July 23, 2012
10.1 Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Regig and its officers and directors (incorporatgdeference to Exhibit
10.1 to the Compar's Registration Statement on Fori-1/A filed July 30, 2012
10.2 2004 Equity Incentive Plan and form of agreememgseunder (incorporated by reference to Exhibi2 16 the Company’s
Registration Statement on Forr-1 filed July 3, 2012
10.3 2004 DCS Holdings Stock Option Plan and form okagrents thereunder (incorporated by reference hibEx 0.3 to the
Compan’s Registration Statement on Fori-1 filed July 3, 2012
10.4 2007 Stock Option Plan and form of agreements timeler (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.thevCompany’s
Registration Statement on Forr-1 filed July 3, 2012
10.5 Recovery Audit Contractor contract by and betwearei3ified Collection Services, Inc. and Centerftedicare and Medicaid

Services dated as of October 3, 2008, as amendeatfiorated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Gany’'s Registration
Statement on Form-1/A filed July 23, 2012

10.6 Credit Agreement, dated as of March 19, 2012, ldyaanong DCS Business Services, Inc., the Lendetg Hareto, Madison
Capital Funding LLC, and ING Capital (incorporatadreference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Company’s Riegion Statement on
Form &-1/A filed July 23, 2012

10.7 Form of Change of Control Agreement, as amendembiporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Canys Registration
Statement on Form-1/A filed July 30, 2012

10.8 Employment Agreement between the Registrant aral Inis dated as of April 15, 2012, as amended (pm@ted by reference
to Exhibit 10.8 to the Compa’s Registration Statement on For-1/A filed July 23, 2012

10.9 Employment Agreement between the Registrant anddJ&haver dated as of March 31, 2003, as amenideatforated by
reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Comp’s Registration Statement on For-1/A filed July 23, 2012

10.10 Repurchase Agreement between the Registrant aadlLism dated as of July 3, 2012 (incorporateddfgrence to Exhibit

10.10 to the Compa’'s Registration Statement on Fori-1 filed July 3, 2012

10.11 Repurchase Agreement between the Registrant anb.J8haver dated as of July 3, 2012 (incorporateckference to Exhibit
10.11 to the Compa’'s Registration Statement on Fori-1 filed July 3, 2012
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Exhibit
Number

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

21

23

24

311
31.2
32.1
32.2
101.INS
101.SCH
101.CAL
101.DEF
101.LAB
101.PRE

Description

Director Nomination Agreement between the Registaaw Parthenon DCS Holdings, LLC dated as of 20ly2012
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to@wmpan’s Registration Statement on Fori-1/A filed July 23, 2012

Advisory Services Agreement between Diversifiedl€dlon Services, Inc. and Parthenon Capital, Lla@d as of January 8,
2004, as amended (incorporated by reference tcbiExtd.13 to the Company’s Registration Statemenform S-1/A filed
July 23, 2012

Termination of the Advisory Services Agreement testw Diversified Collection Services, Inc. and Pemtin Capital, LLC
dated as of January 8, 2004, as amended, datddipsilal3, 2012 (incorporated by reference to Ebihil0.14 to the
Compan’s Registration Statement on For-1/A filed July 23, 2012

2012 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by refeeeiocExhibit 10.15 to the Company’s Registratioat&nent on Form $#A
filed July 23, 2012

List of Subsidiarie:

Consent of KPMG LLP, Independent Registered Pukdicounting Firm
Powers of Attorney (included in the signature pegthis report

Rule 13-14(a)/15+14(a) Certification, executed by Lisa C.

Rule 13-14(a)/15¢14(a) Certification, executed by Hakan L. On

Furnished Statement of the Chief Executive Offisetler 18 U.S.C. Section 13
Furnished Statement of the Chief Financial Offigeder 18 U.S.C. Section 13
XBRL Instance Documer

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schen

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkba

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurh

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkba

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkb.

Schedules not listed above have been omitted bectheyg are not applicable or required, or the mftion required to be set forth ther
is included in the Consolidated Financial StatementNotes hereto.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Performant Financial Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets of Performant Financial Corporation afididiaries as of December 31, 2012
and 2011, and the related consolidated stateménfseoations, changes in redeemable preferred stodlstockholders’ equity (deficit), and
cash flows for each of the years in the thyear period ended December 31, 2012. These coasatidinancial statements are the responsil
of the Company’s management. Our responsibilitp isxpress an opinion on these consolidated fimhstatements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBioUnited States). Those standard:s
require that we plan and perform the audit to abtaasonable assurance about whether the finastaieiments are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on Blasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digds in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princied and significant estimates made by managenenelaas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetegeferred to above present fairly, in all matenégpects, the financial position of Performan
Financial Corporation and subsidiaries as of Deer8th, 2012 and 2011, and the results of theiraijmars and their cash flows for each of the
years in the thre-year period ended December 31, 2012, in conformitly U.S. generally accepted accounting principles

/sl KPMG LLP

San Francisco, California
March 21, 2013
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PERFORMANT FINANCIAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Assets
Current assett
Cash and cash equivalel
Trade accounts receivable, net of allowance fobtfalaccounts of $65 and $77, respectively ant
estimated allowance for appeals of $1,199 and $48pectively
Deferred income taxe
Prepaid expenses and other current a:
Debt issuance costs, current port
Total current asse
Property, equipment, and leasehold improvements
Identifiable intangible assets, r
Goodwill
Debt issuance cos
Other asset

Total asset

Liabilities, Redeemable Preferred Stock and StockHders’ Equity (Deficit)
Liabilities:
Current liabilities:
Current maturities of notes payal
Accrued salaries and benel
Accounts payabl
Other current liabilitie:
Income taxes payab
Deferred revenu
Estimated liability for appea
Total current liabilities
Notes payable, net of current porti
Line of credit, drawr
Deferred compensatic
Deferred income taxe
Other liabilities
Total liabilities

Commitments and contingenci

Redeemable preferred stc
Series A convertible preferred stock, $0.0001 @dwer. Authorized, 50,000 and 18,000 shares; is:
and outstanding, 0 and 5,296 shares at Decemb@032,and 2011, respective

Stockholder' equity (deficit):
Due from stockholder

Common stock, $0.0001 par value. Authorized, 500 &8d 50,000 shares at December 31, 2012 and

2011, respectively; issued and outstanding 45,88233,667 shares at December 31, 2012 and
2011, respectivel
Additional paic-in capital
Accumulated defici
Total stockholder equity (deficit)
Total liabilities, redeemable preferred stock, atatkholder equity (deficit)

See accompanying notes to consolidated finana&dstents.
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December 31

December 31

2012 2011

$ 37,84: $ 20,00
23,04 19,39¢
3,79¢ 5,34¢
2,87¢ 3,29:
1,12¢ 59¢
68,68¢ 48,63
20,66¢ 14,91¢
36,24« 36,51¢
81,57: 81,57
3,84¢ —

73C 65¢

$ 21174 $ 182,29
$ 11,04 $ 8,13
9,28¢ 7,13¢
1,40: 60
8,25: 8,47¢
43¢ 47¢
2,187 2,21¢
4,37¢ 45C
36,97¢ 26,94
136,72 87,05
— 8,19¢

— 1,761
11,27: 14,64"
2,69¢ 1,15¢
187,67: 139,75¢
— 58,24¢
— (2,266)

4 4

35,97( 19,37:
(11,907 (32,819
24,07: (15,70%)

$ 211,74 $ 182,29
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PERFORMANT FINANCIAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Operations
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Revenues
Operating expense
Salaries and benefi
Other operating expens
Impairment of trade narn
Total operating expens
Income from operation
Debt extinguishment cos
Interest expens
Interest incom
Income before provision for income tay
Provision for income taxe
Net income
Accrual for preferred stock dividen
Net income available to common shareholc

Net income per share attributable to common shéder®(see Note 1
Basic

Diluted

Weighted average shares (see Not
Basic

Diluted

See accompanying notes to consolidated financa&stents.
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For the Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
$210,07.  $162,97¢  $123 51
83,00: 67,08: 58,11
71,30 49,19¢ 33,65t
— 13,40( —
154,30° 129,68 91,76¢
55,76¢ 33,29: 31,75:
(3,679) — —
(12,41 (13,53() (15,23()
64 12¢ 11¢
39,73 19,88¢ 16,63¢
16,78¢ 7,51¢ 6,66¢
$2295 $1237. $ 9,97
2,03¢ 6,49¢ 5,771
$2091¢ $ 5877 $ 4,20
$ 046 $ 014 $  0.C
$ 04 $ 015 $ 0.0¢
43,98t 42,96 42,96
47 59¢ 45,74; 45,01¢
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PERFORMANT FINANCIAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Redeemadfierferd Stock and Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)
For the Years Ended December 31, 2012, 2011 an@d 201
(In thousands)

Redeemable Preferred

Si?%cskA Additional - Accumulated
Convertible Preferred Stock Due From Common Stock Paid-In
Shares Amount Stockholders Shares Amount Capital Deficit Total
Balance, December 31, 2009 529¢ $ 4598. | $ (2,16)) 37,667 $ 4 $18,72¢ $ (42,89 $(26,32)
Increase in redemption value of Serie
preferred stocl — 5,771 — — — — (5,777 (5,777
Interest on notes receivable from
stockholder: — — (209 — — — — (209)
Stocl-based compensation expel — — 10€ — — 523 — 62¢
Net income — — — — — — 9,97t 9,97t
Balance, December 31, 20 5,29¢ 51,75 (2,15¢) 37,66 4 19,25: (38,69) (21,59
Increase in redemption value of Serie
preferred stocl — 6,49t — — — — (6,49%) (6,49%)
Interest on notes receivable from
stockholder: — — (10¢) — — — — (108
Stoclk-based compensation expel — — — — — 12C — 12C
Net income — — — — — — 12,37: 12,37
Balance, December 31, 20 5,29¢ 58,24¢ (2,26€) 37,66 4 19,37: (32,819 (15,709
Increase in redemption value of Serie
preferred stocl — 2,03¢ — — — — (2,039 (2,039
Conversion of Series A preferred stoc
to Series B preferred stock which \
immediately redeemed for ca — (60,28¢) — — — — — —
Conversion of Series B preferred stock
to commor (5,296 — — 5,29¢ — — — —
Exercise of stock optior — — — 284 — 17t — 17t
Issuance of stoc — — — 2,24: — 15,42( — 15,42(
Purchase of treasury sto — — — (98) — (1,225 — (1,225
Interest on notes receivable from
stockholder: — — (57 — — — — (57
Repayment of notes receivable from
stockholders — — 2,32: — — — — 2,32:
Stocl-based compensation expel — — — — — 1,61¢ — 1,61«
Income tax benefit from employee stc
options — — — — — 61E — 61=
Net income — — — — — — 22,95! 22,95!
Balance, December 31, 20 — — | $ — 4539: $ 4 $3597( $ (11,90) $ 24,07:

See accompanying notes to consolidated finana&dstents.
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PERFORMANT FINANCIAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cashigdeal by operating activitie:
Loss on disposal of asst
Impairment of intangible ass
Depreciation and amortizatic
Write-off of unamortized debt issuance cc
Deferred income taxe
Stocl-based compensatic
Interest expense from debt issuance costs and iaatah of discount note payak
Interest income on notes receivable from stockhel
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Trade accounts receivat
Prepaid expenses and other current a:
Other asset
Accrued salaries and benel
Accounts payabl
Other current liabilitie:
Income taxes payab
Deferred revenu
Estimated liability for appea
Other liabilities

Net cash provided by operating activit

Cash flows from investing activities:

Purchase of property, equipment, and leaseholdavepnents
Purchase of perpetual software license and compgtgépmen

Net cash used in investing activit

Cash flows from financing activities:

Borrowing under notes payat
Borrowing under line of cred
Redemption of preferred sto
Repayment of notes payal
Repayment of line of crec
Debt issuance costs p:
Proceeds from exercise of stock opti
Proceeds from issuance of stc
Repayment of promissory notes from stockholt
Income tax benefit from employee stock opti
Payment to stockholde
Purchase of treasury sto
Payment of purchase obligati
Net cash used in financing activiti

Net increase in cash and cash equival

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of
Cash and cash equivalents at end of

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow informat

Cash paid for income tax
Cash paid for intere:
Cash paid as debt extinguism

Supplemental disclosure of r-cash investing and financing activitit

Obligation to sellers of perpetual licer
Issuance of common stock as part of debt issuavsts

See accompanying notes to consolidated financ&stents.
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For the Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
$ 2295 $ 12,37: $ 9,97t
51 — —

— 13,40( —
9,50t 7,76€ 7,21¢
33t — —
(1,826) (9,640 32
1,61¢ 12C 62¢
1,27: 1,25¢ 1,991
(57) (108 (109
(3,646) (5,399 1,61(
41€ (94) (664)

(79) 372 (399
2,15( 2,54z (69)
1,34: ®) (255)
(1,229 4,71¢ (1,887)
(4c) 47¢ —

27 2,21¢ —
3,92¢ 45C —
33C (1,459 12¢
37,00 28,98t 18,21+
(11,356 (6,119 (4,927
(837) — —
(12,199 (6,119 (4,92))
156,00 — _
4,50( — _
(60,286 — —
(103,416 (13,949 (9,967
(12,699 — —
(3,079 — (1,179
178 — —
12,62 — —
2,32: — —
615 — —
(1,769 — —
(1,229 — —
(750) — —
(6,979) (13,949 (11,139
17,83¢ 8,92¢ 2,15¢
20,00+ 11,07¢ 8,92+
$ 37,84 $  20,00: $ 11,07
$ 18,03 $ 15,83( $  6,20¢
$  11,17¢ $  12,24¢ $ 13,04
$ 3,344 $ — $ —
$ 3,25( $ — $ —
$ 2,79¢ $ — $ —
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PERFORMANT FINANCIAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes To Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Years Ended December 31, 2012, 2011 an@ 201

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(@)

(b)

(©)

(d)

Organization and Nature of Business

Performant Financial Corporation (the Company)lsaaling provider of technology-enabled recoveny analytics services in the
United States. Company services help identifyruestire and recover delinquent or defaulted assetsmproper payments for b
government and private clients in a broad rangaarkets. Company clients typically operate in carnd regulated
environments and outsource their recovery needsder to reduce losses on billions of dollars dad#ed student loans, improper
healthcare payments and delinquent state tax aleldktreasury receivables. The Company generadlyighes our services on an
outsourced basis, where we handle many or all é&spéthe clients’ recovery processes.

The Company’s consolidated financial statementsidecthe operations of Performant Financial CorponaPFC), its wholly
owned subsidiary Performant Business Services, &ml its wholly owned subsidiaries Performant Recg, Inc. (Recovery), and
Performant Technologies, Inc. Effective August 2312, we changed the name of our wholly owned slidryi from DCS Business
Services, Inc. (DCSBS) to Performant Business 8Sesvyilnc., and DCSBS’ wholly owned subsidiariesfiiversified Collection
Services, Inc. (DCS), and Vista Financial, Inc. [Vko Performant Recovery, Inc., and Performarnthifmlogies, Inc., respectively.
PFC is a Delaware corporation headquartered irfd@aia and was formed in 2003. Performant Busirg&swices, Inc. is a Nevada
corporation founded in 1997. Recovery is a Cali@eorporation founded in 1976. Performant Techgias, Inc. is a California
corporation that was formed in 2004.

The Company is managed and operated as one bysii#sa single management team that reports tctiief Executive Officer.

Principles of Consolidatior

The accompanying consolidated financial statemieaée been prepared in accordance with U.S. Gepekallepted Accounting
Principles, or U.S. GAAP. The Company consolida&tatities in which it has controlling financial inést, and as of December 31,
2012, all of the Company’s subsidiaries are 100%exv All significant intercompany balances and ¢eartions have been
eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates in the Preparation of Consolidatéithancial Statements

The preparation of the consolidated financial stetets in conformity with U.S. GAAP, requires managet to make certain
estimates and assumptions that affect the repartemints of assets and liabilities, primarily acdasurceivable, intangible assets,
goodwill, estimated liability for appeals, accrumgenses, and disclosure of contingent assetsabilities at the date of the
consolidated financial statements and the rep@medunts of revenues and expenses during the reggréiriods. Our actual results
could differ from those estimates.

Stock Split

On July 26, 2012, the Company effected a two-fag-stock split of the Company’s shares of CommomwliStaccordingly, all per
share amounts, average shares outstanding, shastsnaling, and equity based compensation preseantbd consolidated
financial statements and notes have been adjustezhctively to reflect the stock split. Sharehafddeficit has been retroactively
adjusted to give
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()

(f)

(9)

(h)

effect to the stock split for all periods presengdeclassifying the par value of the additiorfedres issued in connection with the
stock split to additional paid-in capital. Concunttg with the stock split, the authorized Commoncktwas increased from
25,000,000 shares to 60,000,000 shares. On Augu&012, the authorized Common Stock was incretsB80,000,000 shares
and the authorized preferred stock was increasg@,f00,000 shares.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include demand depaositsighly liquid debt instruments with original rmadties of three months or
less when purchased. These investments can inolodey market funds that invest in highly liquid Ugevernment and agency
obligations, certificates of deposit, bankers’ gtaaces, and commercial paper.

The Company collects monies on behalf of its cie@ash is often held on behalf of the clientsdrious trust accounts and is
subsequently remitted to the clients based on aonial agreements. Cash held in these trust accémtontracting agencies is
included in the Company’s assets (Note 12(a)).

Hosted Service Installation and Implementation Detirables

In 2008, the Company entered into a long-term @antio provide hosted services to a client begominMarch 2009. The
Company determined that certain installation anplémentation deliverables were not separate uhgs@unting within the
contract, and should be combined for revenue ratogrpurposes with the hosted service deliverabteordingly, revenue for
these contract elements is being taken ratably fremtommencement of hosted services in March 2@@igh the contract period
of March 2018. Additionally, the Company deferrbd direct incremental costs associated with thiallation and implementation
deliverables, with the costs being expensed ratabig the March 2009 commencement of services tiftrddarch 2018.

Property, Equipment, and Leasehold Improveme

Property, equipment, and leasehold improvementstated at cost, net of accumulated depreciatiomifare and equipment are
depreciated using the straight-line method ovemesed useful lives ranging from 5 to 7 years. Binigjs are depreciated using the
straight-line method over 31.5 years. Leasehold@vgments are amortized using the straight-linehogbver the shorter of the
estimated life of the asset or the remaining tefth® lease. Computer software and computer hamlewar depreciated using the
straight-line method over 3 years and 5 years gasgely.

Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense@sead. Improvements that extend the useful lofesssets are capitalized.

When property is sold or retired, the cost andréh@ted accumulated depreciation are removed frantonsolidated balance sheet
and any gain or loss from the transaction is inetlih the consolidated statements of operations.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Asse’

Goodwill represents the excess of purchase prideaated costs over the fair value assigned tmét@ssets of businesses
acquired. Goodwill is not amortized, but insteadeisewed for impairment at least annually. Impamhis the condition that exists
when the carrying amount of goodwill is not recalde and its carrying amount exceeds its fair vdluaccordance with
Accounting Standard Update (ASU) 2011-08angibles — Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): TagtiGoodwill for Impairmentthe
Company performed a qualitative assessment of whétis more likely than not that goodwill fair lua is less than its carrying
amount for 2012, and concluded that there was ed te
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(i)

()

(k)

()

perform an impairment test. The Company performgdaditative assessment of whether it is more yikklen not that goodwill fair
value is less than its carrying amount for 2014 again concluded that there was no need to peorimpairment test. The
Company applied impairment tests to its goodwitl determined that no impairment loss had occurtgthd 2010.

Identifiable intangible assets consist of custonwettracts and related relationships, a perpetoah$ie, and covenants not to
compete. Customer contracts and related relatipastre amortized over their estimated useful lifé e 20 years. The perpetual
license is amortized over its estimated usefuldifé years.

Impairment of Lon¢-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets are evaluated for impairment wkienevents or changes in circumstances indicatetike carrying amount of
such assets or intangibles may not be recoverBeleoverability of assets to be held and used isured by a comparison of the
carrying amount of the assets to future undiscaling cash flows expected to be generated by setsadf such assets are
considered to be impaired, the impairment to begeized is measured by the amount by which the/iceyiamount of the assets
exceeds the fair value of the assets. The Compianyad recognize an impairment expense for intaegilssets in 2012 and 2010.
In 2011, the Company recorded $13.4 million of iimpant expense to write off the carrying amounit®former trade name,
Diversified Collection Services, Inc. (DCS). Therquany determined that the DCS trade name woultv@aised in the future, and
retired the trade name intangible asset accordingly

System Developmen

The Company follows the provisions of Financial Aanting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standbhoidate (ASC)
Subtopic 350-40internal-Use Softwarewhich specifies that costs incurred during theligption stage of development should be
capitalized. All other costs are expensed as iecuuring 2012, 2011 and 2010, costs of $5.4 omI2.5 million and $2.1
million respectively, were capitalized for projegishe application stage of development, with detion expense of $2.4 million,
$2.1 million and $1.5 million respectively, for cphated projects.

Debt Issuance Cost

Debt issuance costs represent loan and legal fédsmpconnection with the issuance of long-termtdBebt issuance cost is
amortized to interest expense in accordance wightésens of the notes as amended.

Revenues, Accounts Receivable, and Estimated Lighibr Appeals

Revenue is recognized upon the collection of dédduban and debt payments. Loan rehabilitatioemee is recognized when the
rehabilitated loans are sold (funded) by clientsehtive revenue is recognized upon receipt o€iadfinotification of incentive
award from customers. Under the Company’s RAC eattvith CMS, the Company recognizes revenues whehealthcare
provider has paid CMS for a given claim or off§&toviders have the right to appeal a claim and mague additional appeals if
initial appeal is found in favor of CMS. The Compatcrues an estimated liability for appeals basethe amount of commissio
received which are subject to appeal and whiclCthimpany estimates are probable of being returnedoaders following
successful appeal. At December 31, 2012, a totdbdf million was presented as an allowance agagwsinue, representing the
Company’s estimate of claims that may be overtur@édhis amount, $1.2 million was related to amtsun accounts receivable
and $4.4 million was related to commissions whiel klready been received. The balances at Dece3ib8012 and 2011, were
$4.4 million and $0.5 million, respectively, repeasthe Company’s best estimate of the probablesataf losses related to
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appeals of claims for which commissions were pnesip collected. In addition to the $4.4 million anmb accrued at December 31,
2012, the Company estimates that it is reasonaiggiple that it could be required to pay an add#&i@mount up to approximately
$1.5 million as a result of potentially successfppeals. To the extent that required paymentséZtimpany exceed the amount
accrued, revenues in the applicable period woulcetaced by the amount of the excess.

For the year ended December 31, 2012, the Compaah¥ lelients whose individual revenues exceeded dio¥te Company’s total
revenues. The dollar amount and percent of totedmee of each of the 5 clients is summarized irtdbée below (in thousands):

Percent of

Rank 2012 Revenu total revenue
1 $ 54,13( 25.8%
2 39,18: 18.1%
3 29,02 13.8%
4 25,46¢ 12.1%
5 22,39 10.7%

For the year ended December 31, 2011, the Compaah lclients whose individual revenues exceeded dio¥te Company’s total
revenues. The dollar amount and percent of totedmee of each of the 5 clients is summarized irtabée below (in thousands):

Percent of
Rank 2011 Revenu total revenue
1 $ 30,73 18.%
2 28,50¢ 17.5%
3 21,81: 13.2%
4 21,54¢ 13.2%
5 17,93¢ 11.(%

For the year ended December 31, 2010, the Compaahy lelients whose individual revenues exceeded dio¥te Company’s total
revenues. The dollar amount and percent of totedmee of each of the 4 clients is summarized irtabée below (in thousands):

(m)

Percent of
Rank 2010 Revenu total revenue
1 $ 27,88 22.6%
2 20,77¢ 16.¢%
3 17,28 14.(%
4 15,44¢ 12.5%

Revenue from the largest three customers was 58%,a&5d 53% of total revenue in 2012, 2011 and 2E&pectively. Accounts
receivable due from these three customers were 83%,and 41% of total trade receivables at Decer®bgp012, 2011 and 2010,
respectively. Trade accounts receivable are redoatiehe invoiced amount and do not bear intefgsbunts collected on trade
accounts receivable are included in net cash pea\viy operating activities in the consolidatedestants of cash flows. The
Company determines the allowance for doubtful antoby specific identification. Account balances eharged off against the
allowance after all means of collection have bedraasted and the potential for recovery is considieemote. The allowance for
doubtful accounts was $0.1 million and $0.1 millmrDecember 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

Legal Expense:
The Company recognizes legal fees related to tibgaas they are incurred.
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(n)

(0)

(p)

(a)

Comprehensive Incom

The Company has no components of comprehensivenaather than its net income. Accordingly, compreiie income is
equivalent to net income.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company'’s financial instruments include casth @ash equivalents, accounts receivable, accoaytfe and accrued
liabilities, short-term debt and long-term debteTdarrying values of cash and cash equivalentguats receivable, accounts
payable, and accrued liabilities approximate tfairvalues based on or due to their short-termunitggs. The carrying values of
short-term debt and long-term debt approximatevialiue, in which their variable interest rates agpnate market rates.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under thet-assl-liability method. Deferred income tax asseid liabilities are
recognized for future tax consequences attributabtifferences between the carrying value of asaetl liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and for taxation purposes. Bedencome tax assets and liabilities are measuse) the enacted tax rates
expected to apply to taxable income in the yeawshith those temporary differences are expectduktecovered or settled. The
effect of a change in tax rates on deferred inctarassets and liabilities is recognized in incamihe period that includes the
enactment date. Valuation allowances are establigiien necessary to reduce deferred tax assdte wnount expected to be
realized.

The Company recognizes the effect of income taiipas only if those positions are more likely thaot of being sustained.
Recognized income tax positions are measured dathest amount that is greater than 50% likelpaihg realized. Changes in
recognition or measurement are reflected in theagen which the change in judgment occurs.

Preferred Stock

The carrying amounts of preferred stock are pecaltyi increased by amounts representing dividemdsurrently declared or paid,
but which would be payable under certain redempatures. Such increases in carrying amountsea@ded against retained
earnings.

Stock Options

The Company accounts for its employee stock-basetbensation awards in accordance with FASB ASC dap8,Compensatio
— Stock CompensatiorFASB ASC Topic 718 requires that all employeelstbased compensation is recognized as a cosgin th
financial statements and that for equity-classifiggrds, such cost is measured at the grant dateafae of the award. The
Company estimates grant date fair value using taekBScholes-Merton option-pricing model.

FASB ASC Topic 718 also requires that excess taetits recognized in equity related to stock opgomrrcises are reflected as
financing cash inflows. The Company recognized inedax benefits resulting from the exercise of lstgations in 2012, 2011 and
2010 of $0.6 million, $0 million and $0 million,spectively.
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(s)

(t)

Earnings per Share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividieigincome available to common shareholders bgtine of the weighted average
number of common shares outstanding during th@geius the weighted average number of Series feperl shares outstanding
during the period. The Series A shares are inclidéide basic denominator because they could beected into common shares
for no cash consideration (via conversion unitBiather described in Note 7), and were thus comsitleutstanding common shares
in computing basic earnings per share. Dilutediagenper share is calculated by dividing net incawailable to common
shareholders by the weighted average number of aansiares and dilutive common shares equivalenssamaing during the
period. The Company’s common share equivalentsistoofsstock options.

The following table reconciles the basic to dilutegighted average shares outstanding using theutneatock method (shares in
thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
Weighted average shares outstanding — basic 43,98¢ 42,96: 42,96:
Dilutive effect of stock option 3,61¢ 2,78( 2,057
Weighted average shares outstan« diluted 47,59¢ 45,74: 45,01¢

For the year ended December 31, 2012, the Comparyded from the calculation of diluted earnings gigeare options to purchase
2,364,000 shares because such outstanding optionddined exercise price, unamortized fair value exwbss tax benefits were
greater than the average market price of our conshares in each of those periods because theat @ffauld be anti-dilutive (i.e.,
including such options would result in higher eagsi per share).

Recent Accounting Pronouncemen

In December 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011BBlance Sheet (Topic 210): Disclosures about QffgpAssets and
Liabilities . ASU 2011-11 requires an entity to disclose infation about offsetting and related arrangemenéntble users of
financial statements to understand the effect @ad¢harrangements on its financial position, aralltw investors to better compare
financial statements prepared under U.S. GAAP fiiigincial statements prepared under Internatiomer€ial Reporting
Standards (IFRS). The new standards are effeativarfnual periods beginning January 1, 2013, atedim periods within those
annual periods. Retrospective application is reglilThe Company implemented the provisions of ABW1211 as of January 1,
2013. The Company does not believe its adoptiche@hew guidance will have an impact on its consdéd financial statement.

In June 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-©0&mprehensive Income (Topic 220): Presentationash@ehensive IncomeJnder
this ASU, an entity will have the option to presthved components of net income and comprehensiwriadn either one or two
consecutive financial statements. The ASU elimim#te option in U.S. GAAP to present other compnshe& income in the
statement of changes in equity. An entity shoulplyathe ASU retrospectively. For a nonpublic entitye ASU is effective for

fiscal years ending after December 15, 2012, atatim and annual periods thereafter. Early adogdqrermitted. In December
2011, the FASB decided to defer the effective déthose changes in ASU 2011-05 that relate onthéopresentation of
reclassification adjustments in the statement efafions by issuing ASU 2011-12pmprehensive Income (Topic 220): Deferral o
the Effective Date for Amendments to the Presemtatf Reclassifications of Items Out of Accumul&éter Comprehensive
income in Accounting Standards Update No. 2011Fd8. Company adopted this new accounting guidanttervai impact to our
consolidated financial statements.

In May 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-04, Fair \édileasurement (Topic 820dmendments to Achieve Common Fair Value
Measurement and Disclosure Requirements in U.S.Rz# IFRSs The new standards do not extend the use of &irevbut,
rather, provide guidance about how fair
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value should be applied where it already is reguinepermitted under IFRS or U.S. GAAP. For U.S.ABPA most of the changes
are clarifications of existing guidance or wordiftanges to align with IFRS. A nonpublic entityésjuired to apply the ASU
prospectively for annual periods beginning aftec®waber 15, 2011. The Company adopted ASU 2 ir 2012 with no impact 1
our consolidated financial statements.

(v) Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made to thé& Ba@lances to conform to the 2012 presentationh Serlassifications have no
effect on net income or retained earnings as pusWyaeported.

2. Acquisition

In February 2012, the Company purchased a perpstftalare license and computer equipment from H@R®#&n-public Florida
company, in a transaction valued at $3.68 millibime purchase agreement calls for a total of $4lBomin cash payments to be made
over an approximate 3 year period, beginning witlinétial payment of $0.8 million which was madeRabruary 2012, followed by
quarterly payments of $0.3 million. As part of thensaction valuation, these payments were diseduiata present value using an
estimate of our incremental borrowing rate.

The HOPS proprietary software platform providesadatering services for government and commeroedlth plans to help identify
improper payments made to health providers, andrm@s our existing service offering in recoveryngbroper payments.

The purchase is being treated as a business catobifiar accounting purposes; the following tablensnarizes the estimated fair values
of the assets acquired at the acquisition datth@nsands):

February 1,

2012
Computer equipment $ 28C
Perpetual licens 3,25(
Customer relationshir 15C
Total identifiable assets acquir $ 3,68(

The acquired intangible assets will be amortizeer dleir estimated useful lives, which are 5 arygdrs for the perpetual license and
customer relationships, respectively.
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The following represents our pro forma Consolidegégtements of Income as if HOPS had been incliudedr consolidated results for
the years ending December 31, 2012 and 2011 ¢pimsdnds, except for per share data):

For the year ended
December 31,

2012 2011
Total revenue $211,32¢ $164,23(
Net income available to common shareholt $ 18,75 $ 3,71t
Earnings per share attributable to common sharehs
Basic $ 0.4¢ $ 0.0¢
Diluted $ 0.3¢ $ 0.0¢

3. Property, Equipment, and Leasehold Improvement:
Property, equipment, and leasehold improvementsisoof the following at December 31, 2012 and 2(dthousands):

December 31 December 31

2012 2011
Land $ 1,761 $ 1,767
Building and leasehold improvemel 5,50( 4,797
Furniture, equipment, and automok 4,40¢ 3,612
Computer hardware and softwz 40,88¢ 31,197
52,56! 41,37:
Less accumulated depreciation and amortize (31,899 (26,459
Property, equipment and leasehold improvements $ 20,66¢ $ 14,91t

Depreciation and amortization expense of propeduipment and leasehold improvements was $5.8omjl$4.7 million and $4.2
million for the years ended December 31, 2012, 26xid 2010, respectively.

4. Identifiable Intangible Assets
Identifiable intangible assets consist of the fellog at December 31, 2012 and 2011 (in thousands):

Accumulated

Gross
December 31, 201 Amounts Amortization Net
Amortizable intangibles
Customer contracts and related relations $62,19¢ $ (28,609 $33,59(
Perpetual licens 3,25( (599 2,65¢
Total intangible asse $65,44¢ $ (29,209 $36,24:

Accumulated

December 31, 201 Amounts Amortization Net
Amortizable intangibles

Customer contracts and related relations $62,04¢ $ (25,530 $36,51¢
Total intangible asse $62,04¢ $ (25,53() $36,51¢
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For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 ar@] a6fortization expense related to intangible assmiounted to $3.7 million, $3.0
million and $3.0, respectively.

The estimated aggregate amortization expense ébr @ahe five following fiscal years is as folloia thousands):

Year Ending December 31 Amount

2013 $ 3,731
2014 3,731
2015 3,731
2016 3,69¢
2017 3,097
Thereaftel 18,25¢
Total $36,24¢

5. Credit Agreement

On March 19, 2012, the Company recapitalized emgarito a credit agreement (the Agreement) comgjsif a Term A Loan of $57.0
million, a Term B Loan of $79.5 million, and a réwiag credit facility of $11.0 million. In conneach with the recapitalization, our old
credit facility, scheduled to mature in 2012, wasrguished, and our indebtedness on the old fgailas paid in full. As of December
31, 2011, the indebtedness on the old facility sted of $33.2 million under the Term 2koan, $62 million under the Term B Loan ¢
$8.2 million under the line of credit. On June 2812, the Agreement was amended to increase time Bdroan to $99 million. Paymel
under the Agreement are as follows (in thousands):

Year Ending December 31 Amount

2013 $ 11,04(
2014 11,04(
2015 11,04(
2016 11,04(
2017 10,25:¢
Thereafte! 93,35¢
Total $147,76¢

Proceeds from the new Term A, Term B, and revolareglit facility borrowings were used along with4$8 million of our cash to repay
our old notes payable and line of credit in the ami@f $103.4 million and to redeem 3,897,000 shafeSeries A Convertible Preferred
Stock plus accrued dividends for a total of $44illion. Fees paid in conjunction with the crediregment totaled $8.1 million, includii
an agency fee for $1.5 million to an entity assmtlavith our majority stockholder, and an agreentemfrant 215,000 shares of Common
Stock valued at approximately $2.8 million to amaéstment bank acting as advisor.

Proceeds from the additional Term B borrowings wesed to redeem the remaining 1,399,000 sharesr@sSA Convertible Preferred
Stock outstanding plus accrued dividends for d tit&16.3 million. Fees paid in conjunction withetcredit agreement totaled

$0.8 million, including an agency fee for $0.2 il to an entity associated with our majority stoakler. Remaining proceeds of $2.3
million were used along with existing cash to pé#itlee line of credit balance of $4.5 million.

The Term A Loan is charged interest either at Piisubject to a 2.50% floor) +4.25% or LIBOR (sulbjeca 1.50% floor) +5.25%,
which was 6.75% at December 31, 2012. The Termaf kequires quarterly payments of $2.5 million begig in June 2012, with the
remaining outstanding principal balance due Mai@h2017. As of December 31, 2012, the Term A laadirgy balance, including the
current portion was $49.5 million.

The Term B loan is charged interest at Prime +4.7{&Wject to a 2.50% floor) or LIBOR (subject t@.&0% floor) +5.75% which was
7.25% at December 31, 2012. The Term B loan regujuarterly
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payments of $0.2 million beginning in June 2012Zhwthe outstanding principal balance due March2Dd.8. As of December 31, 2012,
the Term B loan ending balance, including the curpsrtion was $98.3 million.

The Company has a line of credit under the Agreemhich allows for borrowings of up to $11 millioBorrowings accrue interest at
Prime + 4.25% or LIBOR + 5.25%, which was 6.75%atember 31, 2012. Both the Prime and the LIBO&m@éttives are subject to
minimum rate floors. In addition, a facility fee @5% is assessed on the commitment amount. Thene o outstanding borrowings
under this line of credit at December 31, 2012, atetter of credit outstanding in the amount of%dillion, leaving remaining
borrowing capacity under the line of credit of $&nblion at December 31, 2012. The line of credipiees in March 19, 2017.

The Agreement contains certain restrictive finahoiaenants, which require, among other thingg, weameet a minimum fixed charge
coverage ratio of 1.20 and maximum total debt toTER\ ratio of 3.25. Additionally, these covenanéstrict the Company and its
subsidiaries’ ability to incur certain types or amts of indebtedness, incur liens on certain assetke material changes in corporate
structure or the nature of its business, disposeatérial assets, engage in a change in contriddrdion, make certain foreign
investments, enter into certain restrictive agrags)er engage in certain transactions with aféia\We were in compliance with all st
covenants at December 31, 2012.

During our March 19, 2012 recapitalization, debtance costs of $5.0 million were capitalized,udotg $1.5 million of agent fees paid
to an entity associated with our majority stockleoJdand $0.8 million paid to third parties for légad other services and a grant of
215,044 shares of Common Stock issued as compensatan investment bank acting as financial adwstued at approximately $2.8
million, based upon a price of $13 per share. Tlvesés are being amortized to expense over theflifiee new loans.

The Company capitalized an additional $0.8 millielated to our June 28, 2012 amendment to the Aggag which included $0.2
million of agent fees paid to an entity associatgti our majority stockholders, and $0.04 millioaigh to third parties for legal and other
services. Debt issuance costs are being amortiziedierest expense over the life of the new loAtsumulated amortization of debt
issuance costs amounted to $0.9 million at Dece@bgP012.

Debt extinguishment costs of $3.7 million were exge, including $3.3 million of fees paid to lergJeand $0.3 million of unamortized
debt issuance costs associated with the old diadiity.

6. Commitments and Contingencie:

The Company leases office facilities and certaim@gent. In January 2012, we renewed two of oulif@s leases and entered into a
new lease agreement for approximately 6,000 sdeaten Livermore, California.

Future minimum rental commitments under non-cafdelases as of December 31, 2012 are as folliovtBqusands):

Year Ending December 31 Amount
2013 $1,74(
2014 1,76¢
2015 1,40¢
2016 98¢€
2017 78t
Thereaftel 65
Total $6,754

Lease expense was $2.4 million, $1.9 million an@®$dillion for the year ended December 31, 2014,128nd 2010, respectively.
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7.

Capital Stock

Prior to August 15, 2012, the total number of sharfecapital stock that the Company has authouoifggue is 96,000,000, consisting of
18,000,000 shares of Series A Participating Sefieferred Stock (Series A Preferred Stock), $0.G220value per share (Series A
Preferred Stock); 18,000,000 shares of Series R:&adble Senior Preferred Stock, $0.0001 par vaustmre (Series B Preferred
Stock); and 60,000,000 shares of Common Stock0$0.Par value per share. On August 15, 2012, ttteamed Common Stock was
increased to 500,000,000 shares and the authqrieéerred stock was increased to 50,000,000 shares.

(a) Series A Preferred Stoc

Issuance — On May 23, 2006, the Company sold 5,295,676shaf Series A Preferred Stock to shareholdeaspaice of $5.67 per
share, receiving gross proceeds of $30,000,000nengroceeds of $29,925,000 after issuance cb$50000.

Dividends— The holders of Series A Preferred Stock werdledtto receive dividends as declared by the boadirectors. The
dividends accrued on a daily basis at the rate286 per annum on the sum of the Liquidation Values@ccumulated dividends and
accrued and unpaid dividends thereon from the afatsuance of the Preferred Stock. As of DecerBief011, the Company had
accrued dividends payable of $28,248,000 recordexhancrease to the Series A Preferred Stock.

Voting — Each share of Series A Preferred Stock entitiechblder to cast a number of votes per share ¢ojtla¢ number of votes that
the holder would be entitled to cast assumingshah shares of Series A Preferred Stock had beereded into shares of Common
Stock.

Liguidation — In the event of any liquidation, dissolutionwinding up of the Company, before any distributayrpayment to holders of
Common Stock, but on parity with the holders ofi&eB Preferred Stock, holders of shares of SériBseferred Stock were entitled to
be paid an amount equal to the Liquidation Valug®mb7 per share plus any accumulated or accruednpaid dividends thereon. In
addition to the payments set forth above, the hsldéshares of Series A Preferred Stock wereledtib participate, on a parity and
ratably on a per-share basis with the holders ah@on Stock, with respect to all such distributionpayments that the holders of
Series A Preferred Stock would have been entite@deive with respect to the number of sharesoofion Stock into which such
holders’ shares of Series A Preferred Stock wenvexible immediately prior to any relevant recdate or payment date in connection
with liquidation, dissolution, or winding up, bunly to the extent that shares of Common Stock wbiale participated in such
distributions or payments (and such payment skegjubior to all equity securities of the Compangttrank senior to the Common Stock,
including without limitation the Series B Prefer®tbck).

Conversion— The Serieé\ Preferred Stock was convertible into Conversianité)(as defined below), at a rate of one Convaertloit for
one share of Series A Preferred Stock. A Converdioib consisted of (i) the number of shares of Camrtock determined by dividing
the Liquidation Value of the Series A Preferredcgtby the Conversion Price then in effect (the CamrRortion) and (ii) one share of
Series B Preferred Stock (the Series B Portionjestilto adjustments. If upon conversion there vegng unpaid, accrued, or accumulated
dividends due on the shares of Series A PreferreckSsuch dividends continued to be deferredware considered unpaid, accrued, or
accumulated dividends (as the case may be) dueecBdries B Preferred Stock.

« Optional conversion — Each share of Series A Predebtock was convertible, at the option of thedbothereof, into a Conversion
Unit at any time after the date of issuance of sidre

» Automatic conversion — Each share of Series A PrefieStock automatically could have been convertedConversion Units on
the date specified by written consent or agreemgtite holders of a majority of the then outstagdshares of Series A Preferred
Stock.
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» Conversion price — The initial Conversion Pricata shares issued in May 2006 was $5.67 per shmaoeder to prevent dilution of
the conversion rights granted to the holders ofSbees A Preferred Stock, the Conversion Pricesuagect to adjustment from
time to time under certain circumstances. If thenpany (i) declared a dividend on the Common Stagkaple in shares of its
capital stock (including Common Stock), (ii) subidied the outstanding Common Stock, (iii) combineel dutstanding Common
Stock into a smaller number of shares, or (iv)éssany shares of its capital stock in a reclasgifion of the Common Stock, then
each such case, the Conversion Price was to bempimmately adjusted so that, in connection wittoaversion of the shares of
Series A Preferred Stock after such date, the halfighares of Series A Preferred Stock would Hzeen entitled to receive the
aggregate number and kind of shares of capitakstalgich, if the conversion had occurred immediat#ior to such date, the
holder would have owned upon such conversion ard batitled to receive by virtue of such dividesdbhdivision, combination, or
reclassification

(b) Redemption of Series A Preferred Sta

On March 19, 2012, the Company recapitalized. At @fahe recapitalization, 3,897,000 shares ofeSef Convertible Preferred Stock
were converted into conversion units, which coesigif one share of Series B Preferred Stock andloae of Common Stock. The
Series B Preferred shares plus accrued dividends redeemed for cash of $44 million, and 3,897 fires of Common Stock were
issued to the holders of the redeemed Series A &thle Preferred Stock.

In June 2012, the remaining 1,399,000 shares a¢$SArConvertible Preferred Stock were convertéd aonversion units of one share
Series B Preferred Stock and one share of Comnuok Sthe shares Series B Preferred Stock plus eddaividends were redeemed for
cash of $16.3 million and 1,399,000 shares of Com8imck were issued to the holders of the redee®eegs A Convertible Preferred
Stock.

(c) Issuance of Shares of Common Stock as Compense

As part of the March 19, 2012 recapitalization, @mmpany issued to its financial advisor as comaiéms in connection with the debt
portion of the recapitalization 215,000 shares ofi@on Stock valued at approximately $2.8 milliosdzhupon a price of $13 per share.
This amount represents debt issuance costs amihig Amortized to expense over the 5 to 6 yeapofitbe loans described in Note 5.

(d) Initial Public Offering

In August 2012, the Company completed its initiablc offering (IPO) in which we issued and sol824,000 shares of Common Stock
at a public offering price of $9.00 per share. Twmpany received net proceeds of $12.6 millionrafeslucting underwriter discounts
and commissions of $1.0 million and other offerixgpenses of approximately $3.6 million. In additiarfinancial advisor to the
Company was paid $0.9 million through the issuasfcE03,500 shares of Common Stock valued at $90GIpare.

8. Stock-based Compensatior
(&) Stock Options

The Company has established the 2004 DCS Holditagk ©ption Plan, the DCS Holdings, Inc. 2004 Eguiicentive Plan (Performant
Financial Corporation is the new name of DCS Haidirinc.), the Performant Financial Corporation28@ock Option Plan, and the
Performant Financial Corporation 2012 Stock Inaenilan (the Plans). Under the terms of the 2008 BiGIdings Stock Option Plan,
stock options may be granted for up to 4,000,0@0eshof the Company’s authorized but unissued Camtock. The 2004 DCS
Holdings Stock Option Plan was terminated on themetion of the Company’s initial public offering August 2012. No shares of our
common stock are available under our 2004 Stocko@gtlan other than for satisfying exercises o€lstoptions granted under this plan
prior to termination.
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Under the terms of the DCS Holdings, Inc. 2004 Bgimcentive Plan, incentive and nonqualified stogiions, stock bonuses, and rights
to acquire restricted stock may be granted foroup,800,000 shares of the Company’s authorizedihissued Common Stock. Options
granted under the DCS Holdings, Inc. 2004 Equitehtive Plan generally vest over a four-year peridee Company’s DCS Holdings,
Inc. 2004 Equity Incentive Plan was terminatedl@nd¢ompletion of its initial public offering in Augt 2012. No shares of our common
stock are available under our 2004 Equity Incenfiian other than for satisfying exercises of stmgtons granted under this plan prio
termination.

Under the terms of the Performant Financial Conpona2007 Stock Option Plan, incentive and nondigalistock options may be gran
for up to 4,000,000 shares of the Company’s autkdrbut unissued Common Stock. Options grantedrihdeéPerformant Financial
Corporation 2007 Stock Option Plan generally vest @ five-year period. Performant Financial Cogtion 2007 Stock Option Plan was
terminated on the completion of its initial pubdiffering in August 2012. No shares of our commamrlstare available under our 2007
Stock Option Plan other than for satisfying exegsief stock options granted under this plan padetmination.

The terms of the Performant Financial Corporatioh2Stock Incentive Plan provides for the granth@gcentive stock options within
the meaning of Section 422 of the Code to emplogedsthe granting of nonstatutory stock optionstrieted stock, stock appreciation
rights, stock unit awards and cash-based awards\pdoyees, non-employee directors and consultahtss Company has reserved
4,300,000 shares of common stock under the 2012 Biations granted under the Performant Finanaep@ration 2012 Stock Incenti
Plan generally vest over a five-year period.

The exercise price of incentive stock options spaiierally not be less than 100% of the fair mavkéite of the Common Stock subjec
the option on the date that the option is grantée. exercise price of nonqualified stock optionalistenerally not be less than 85% of
fair market value of the Common Stock subject todption on the date that the option is grantedio@p issued under the Plans have a
maximum term of 10 years and vest over schedulesrdaed by the board of directors. Options issuledler the Plans generally provide
for immediate vesting of unvested shares in thaeweka sale of the Company.

Total stock-based compensation expense chargesdaages and benefits expense in the consolidatddreents of operations was $1.6
million, $0.1 million and $0.6 million for the yemended December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010, resplgcti
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The following table sets forth a summary of ourcktoption activity for the year ended December 31:

Weighted
Weighted average
average remaining Aggregate
exercise prict contractual life Instrinsic Value
Outstanding

Options per share (Years) (in thousands)
Outstanding at December 31, 2009 5,443,50! $ 0.61 6.9C
Grantec 202,00( 1.5C
Forfeited (134,75() 0.5¢€
Exercisec — —
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 5,510,75! 0.64 6.0C
Grantec 180,00( 5.5C
Forfeited (25,287) 0.74
Exercisec (718) 0.5(C
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 5,664,75! 0.8C 5.2C
Grantec 2,549,10 10.3Z
Forfeited (29,079 7.9¢
Exercisec (285,059 0.61
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 7,909,72. $ 3.8t 5.8¢ $ 49,41
Vested or expected to ve® at December 31, 201 7,5614,23 $ 3.6€ 5.64 $ 48,38
Exercisable at December 31, 2( 4,854,961 $ 0.64 3.8¢ $ 4592}

@ Options expected to vest reflect an estimated itorierate.

The weighted-average grant-date exercise priceookoptions granted during the years ended DeceBihe2012, 2011 and 2010 was
$10.32, $5.50 and $1.50, respectively, per shdre.aggregate intrinsic value of our stock optidghe @mount by which the market price
of the stock on the date of exercise exceededxeise price of the option) exercised during tharg ended December 31, 2012, 2011
and 2010, was $2.9 million, $0 million and $0 noifij respectively. At December 31, 2012, 2011, &iD2there was $12.0 million, $0.6
million and $0.4 million, respectively, of unrecaped stock-based compensation expense relatechtoesied stockased compensatit
arrangements, which the Company expects to recegnier a weighted-average period of 4.21 yeartoak-based compensation
expense.

Net cash proceeds from the exercise of stock opticere $0.2 million, $0 million and $0 million dog 2012, 2011 and 2010,
respectively. For the years ended December 31,, 20121 and 2010, we realized a $0.6 million, $Qianiland $0 million tax benefit
from the exercise of stock options, respectively.

The fair value of each option grant was estimatgdgithe Black-Scholes option pricing model. Expdotolatilities are calculated based
on the historical volatility data of comparable peempanies over a term comparable to the expeetedof the options issued. The
expected term of the award is determined baseteaverage of the vesting term and the contratéual. Management monitors share
option exercise and employee termination patterrestimate forfeiture rates within the valuationdelo Separate groups of employees
that have similar groups of employees with sintilstorical exercise behavior are considered sepigridr valuation purposes.
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We estimated the fair value of options grantedgisiiBlack-Scholes option pricing model with thddaling assumptions:

For the Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
Expected volatility 48.2% 39.8% 40.6%
Expected dividend 0.C 0.C 0.C
Expected term (year: 6.5 6.3 6.3
Risk-free interest rat 1.01% 1.2% 2.8%
Weightedaverage estimated fair value of options grantethd
the yeal $ 5.22 $ 2.2¢ $ 0.6¢€

Valuation and Amortization MethodFhe Company estimates the fair value of stock ogtigranted using the Black-Scholes-
Merton option pricing model. The fair value is theamortized on a straight line basis over the regugervice periods of the awards,
which is generally the vesting period. Stock opgitypically have a ten year life from the grantedahd vesting periods of four to five
years. The fair value of the Company’s common steddased on the market price of the stock on #te df grant.

Expected Term Fhe Company’s expected term represents the pdraidhe Company’s stock-based awards are expextas t
outstanding. For awards granted subject only teigevesting requirements, the Company utilizessihwlified method under the
provisions of FASB ASC 718-10-S99-1 (Staff AccoungtBulletin No. 107) for estimating the expecteatef the stock-based award.

Expected Volatility -Because there is insufficient history of the Conmyastock price returns, the Company lacks suffitie
historical volatility data for its equity awardscéordingly, the Company calculates the expectedtiity using comparable peer
companies over a term comparable to the expeateddithe options issued.

Expected Dividend F¥he Company has never paid dividends on its conshanes and currently does not intend to do so.
Accordingly, the dividend yield percentage is z&noall periods.

Risk-Free Interest RateFhe risk-free interest rate used in the Black Sehehluation method is based on the U.S. Treasury
constant maturity interest rate whose term is cest with the expected life of our stock options.

(b) Restricted Stocl

Option Agreements issued under the 2004 DCS Hadd8tgck Option Plan allow for the participants xereise options whether or not
vesting has occurred, provided that the participanter into a restricted stock agreement. Theict=st stock agreement is to specify tha
the stock issued for unvested options will contimasting, with the unvested shares subject to odyase at the lower of original cost and
fair market value.

In January 2005, two executives exercised a podfdheir options, including unvested options, Ioyeging into restricted stock
agreements with the Company. The restricted stgodesments allow for the executives to receive dindlpayments, subject to forfeiture
if the executives leave the Company prior to theting of the restricted shares. On February 4, 2ftfteitable dividends of $1 million
were paid on the executives’ unvested restrictedesh This amount has been recorded as “due frecktstlders’in the equity caption ¢
the consolidated balance sheet, and is being aedrinto compensation expense as the underlyingsted restricted shares vest.
Compensation expense associated with the forfeidibidends received on unvested restricted sheasst0 million, $0 million and $0.1
million in 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively.
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9. Employee Benefit Plar

The Company has a 401(k) Salary Deferral PlanKtha) covering all full-time employees who have wetain service requirements.
Employees may contribute a portion of their salgwyto the maximum limit established by the IntefRavenue Code for such plans.
Employer contributions are discretionary. No matghtontributions were made during 2012, 2011 arid20

10. Income Taxes
The Company’s income tax expense (benefit) conefstse following (in thousands):

2012 2011 2010
Current:
Federa $15,14: $14,05: $5,50(
State 3,47( 3,10: 1,132
18,61: 17,15¢ 6,632
Deferred:
Federa $(1,599 $(7,350 $ (172
State (227) (2,290 204
(1,82¢) (9,640 32
Total Expense (Benefi $16,78¢ $ 7,51¢ $6,664

A reconciliation of the income tax expense caladaising the applicable federal statutory ratébeactual income tax expense for the
years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 201(fafi @ss:

2012 2011 2010

Federal income at the statutory rate 3% 3% 3%
State income tax, net of federal ben 5% 3% 5%
Permanent difference 2% 1% 2%
Other 0% -1% -2%
42% 38% 40%
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The following table summarizes the components ef@ompany’s deferred tax assets and liabilitiesf &ecember 31, 2012, and 2011
(in thousands):

2012 2011
Deferred tax asset

Bad debt reserv $ 26 $ 30
Vacation accrue 90¢ 31t
Remeasurement expense nonqualified stock op 1,765 1,137
Amortization of deferred finance co: 3,08 1,822
Acquisition costt 197 22¢
Bonus accrue — 48¢
State tax deferr: 1,37: 1,041
Stock option compensatic — 69C
Deferred revenu 91 1,28¢
State tax credit 56€ 38¢€
Estimated liability for appea 1,26( 36¢€
Other 82 55¢
9,35: 8,34
Valuation allowanct (35)) (149)
9,002 8,19¢

Deferred tax liabilities
Identifiable intangible asse (13,007 (14,307
Book versus tax depreciatis (3,44¢) (3,029
Amortization of deferred finance co: — (13%)
Other (22 (22
(16,479 (17,49)
Net deferred tax liabilitie $ (7,479 $ (9,299

The Company believes that it is more likely thahthat the results of future operations will getersufficient taxable income to realize
the deferred tax assets, except for certain saateredits. Income tax expense is allocated tatibsidiaries included in the consolidated
tax return on the basis of the subsidiaries’ stalote tax provision.

The Company has a valuation allowance of approxm&0.4 million as of December 31, 2012 relate@#bifornia enterprise zone tax
credits for which it is not more likely than nogttthe tax benefit will be realized. The total amibof the valuation allowance representec
includes increases from the amount recorded asoédber 31, 2011 due to the generation of addittamecredits in 2012, for which it

is not more likely than not that the tax benefill e realized.

The Company has state tax credits of $0.6 millibiictv can be carried forward indefinitely. The Comyphas state net operating loss
carryforwards of $0.4 million which expire in 202lhe following table reconciles the Company’s ungdzed tax benefits as of
December 31, 2012 from its unrecognized tax benafitof December 31, 2011 (in thousands):

Unrecognized tax benefits balance at December @11, $—
Increase related to prior year tax positi 11¢&
Decrease related to prior year tax positi —
Increase related to current year tax posit 164
Settlement: —
Lapse of statute of limitatior —
Unrecognized tax benefits balance at December (B2 $27¢
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11.

12.

13.

At December 31, 2012 and 2011, we had approxim&@!y million and $0 million of unrecognized taxneéits, respectively. We do not
expect any significant change in unrecognized tnefits during the next twelve months. The Compaaprds interest expense and
penalties related to unrecognized tax benefitgling, general, and administrative expenses. Theumt of accrued interest was not
material at December 31, 2012 and 2011, respegtiMea penalties were recognized in 2012 or accatddecember 31, 2012 and 2011,
respectively. Unrecognized tax benefits of appratety $0.3 million which, if recognized, would faably affect the Company’s
effective income tax rate.

The Company files federal and state income taxmstu-or years before 2008, the Company is no losgigiect to federal or state tax
examinations.

Related Party Transactions

Our notes payable, both before and after the readagition of March 19, 2012, are held by a numifdenders, some of whom also
invested in our stock. As a result, these entiiesconsidered related parties. Interest experder these arrangements totaled $11.1
million, $12.3 million and $13.2 million for the ses ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, resggcand the debt extinguishme
expense associated with the recapitalization tdtd83 million for the year ended December 31, 2012

In an agreement dated April 13, 2012, the Compauayaa affiliate of Parthenon Capital Partners taatéd an existing advisory services
agreement, which called for quarterly paymentsCd $nillion. As part of the April 13, 2012 termiiat agreement, the Company agreec
to pay Parthenon Capital $1.3 million in equal ¢erdy installments of $0.1 million beginning in Ap2012, provided that the remaining
balance will become due and payable immediatelyupe closing of an IPO or the sale of the Compaime. Company paid two
guarterly installments of $0.1 million and paid tleenaining balance of $1.1 million on August 15120the date the IPO closed. In
addition, the agreement specifies that the aféliaill be due a fee equal to 1% of the aggregadeggproceeds of an IPO offering or 19
the aggregate consideration paid in connection thighsale of the Company, as applicable. The Coynpapensed and paid $0.9 million
to Parthenon Capital Partners in August 2012 upieoessful closing of the IPO.

Other Commitments and Contingencies

(@) Trust Funds

The Company collects principal and interest paysiant collection costs on defaulted loans for waricontracting agencies. Cash
collections for some of the Company’s customershatd in trust in bank accounts controlled by tlmpany. The Company remits trust
funds to the contracting agencies on a regulasb@tie amount of cash held in trust and the relébdity are separated from and not
included in the Company’s assets and liabilitiessiCheld in trust for customers totaled $1.4 milémd $1.8 million at December 31,
2012 and 2011, respectively.

(b) Litigation

The Company, during the ordinary course of its affens, has been named in various legal suits s, several of which are still
pending. In the opinion of management and the Coryipdegal counsel, such legal actions will not @avmaterial effect on the
Company’s financial position or results of operati@r cash flows.

Subsequent Event:

In January 2013, the Company completed a secomdfEnyng in which selling stockholders issued antii®,200,000 shares of common
stock at a public offering price of $10.65 per ghdthe Company did not receive any proceeds franséte of the shares by the selling
stockholders. The Company paid the related offegixgenses.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredatyp authorized.

PERFORMANT FINANCIAL CORPORATION

By: /s/ LisaC.Im
Lisa C. Im
Chief Executive Officer

Date: March 21, 2013
POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each pemsbose sighature appears below constitutes anoirgpp.isa C. Im an
Hakan L. Orvell, and each of them, his or her &nd lawful attorneys-in-fact, each with full powsrsubstitution, for him or her in any and all
capacities, to sign any amendments to this reppRarm 10-K and to file the same, with exhibitsréte and other documents in connection
therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Comiaris$ereby ratifying and confirming all that eaxfrsaid attorneys-in-fact or their
substitute or substitutes may do or cause to be tgrvirtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xga Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on behalf
of the registrant and in the capacities and ord#ies indicated.

Name Title Date
/s/ LisaC.Im Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive March 21, 2013
Lisa C.Im Officer) and Director
/s/ Hakan L. Orvell Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and March 21, 2013
Hakan L. Orvell Accounting Officer)

/s/ Dr. Jon D. Shaver Chairman of the Board and Director March 21, 2013
Dr. Jon D. Shaver

/s/  Todd R. Ford Director March 21, 2013

Todd R. Ford
/s/ Brian P. Golson Director March 21, 2013

Brian P. Golson

/s/ William D. Hansen Director March 21, 2013
William D. Hansen

/sl William C. Kessinger Director March 21, 2013
William C. Kessinger

/sl Jeffrey S. Stein Director March 21, 2013
Jeffrey S. Stein
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SCHEDULE Il - VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 ar@l 201

Allowance for doubtful accounts (in thousands):

Balance at
Beginning of Additions
Charged Balance at
Description Period against Revenu Recoverie: Charge-offs End of Period
2012 $ 77 — 2 (14) $ 65
2011 $ 45 28 14 (10) $ 77
2010 $ 221 37 - (219) $ 45

Estimated allowance and liability for appeals — RB@nhtract (in thousands):

Appeals founc

Balance at A(?dhdelltrlggj in Providers Balance at
Description Beginning of against Revenu Favor End of Period
2012 $ 934 8,58¢ (3,946 $ 557*
2011 $ 101 1,742 (910 934*
2010 $ — 101 — 101*

* Includes $1,199, $484 and $101 related to thieneséd allowance for appeals that apply to unctélg@accounts receivable as of 2012, 2011
and 2010, respectivel
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Exhibit

Number

3.1

3.2

4.2

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

EXHIBIT INDEX

Description

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Registr@mtorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1(b) te @ompany’s Registration
Statement on Form-1/A filed July 23, 2012

Amended and Restated Bylaws of Registrant (incetgorby reference to Exhibit 3.2(b) to the CompaiReégistration
Statement on Form-1/A filed July 23, 2012

Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreerdatgd as of August 15, 2012, among the Registmiahthe persons listt
thereon (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.the Compar’'s Registration Statement on For-1/A filed July 23, 2012

Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Regig and its officers and directors (incorporatgdeference to Exhibit
10.1 to the Compalr’'s Registration Statement on Fori-1/A filed July 30, 2012

2004 Equity Incentive Plan and form of agreememgseunder (incorporated by reference to Exhibi2 16 the Company’s
Registration Statement on Forr-1 filed July 3, 2012

2004 DCS Holdings Stock Option Plan and form okagrents thereunder (incorporated by reference hibEx 0.3 to the
Compan’s Registration Statement on Fori-1 filed July 3, 2012

2007 Stock Option Plan and form of agreements timeter (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.thesCompany’s
Registration Statement on Forr-1 filed July 3, 2012

Recovery Audit Contractor contract by and betwearei3ified Collection Services, Inc. and Centerftedicare and Medicaid
Services dated as of October 3, 2008, as amendeatfiorated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Gany’'s Registration
Statement on Form-1/A filed July 23, 2012

Credit Agreement, dated as of March 19, 2012, ldyaanong DCS Business Services, Inc., the Lendetg Hareto, Madison
Capital Funding LLC, and ING Capital (incorporatadreference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Company’s Riegion Statement on
Form &-1/A filed July 23, 2012

Form of Change of Control Agreement, as amendemb(porated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Canys Registration
Statement on Form-1/A filed July 30, 2012

Employment Agreement between the Registrant aral Inis dated as of April 15, 2012, as amended (pm@ted by reference
to Exhibit 10.8 to the Compa’s Registration Statement on For-1/A filed July 23, 2012

Employment Agreement between the Registrant anddJ&@haver dated as of March 31, 2003, as amernideatforated by
reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Comp’s Registration Statement on For-1/A filed July 23, 2012

Repurchase Agreement between the Registrant aadlLism dated as of July 3, 2012 (incorporateddfgrence to Exhibit
10.10 to the Compa’s Registration Statement on Fori-1 filed July 3, 2012

Repurchase Agreement between the Registrant anb.J8haver dated as of July 3, 2012 (incorporateckference to Exhibit
10.11 to the Compa’s Registration Statement on Fori-1 filed July 3, 2012

Director Nomination Agreement between the Registaanl Parthenon DCS Holdings, LLC dated as of 20ly2012
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to@wmpan’s Registration Statement on Fori-1/A filed July 23, 2012

Advisory Services Agreement between Diversifiedl€@ilon Services, Inc. and Parthenon Capital, Lla®d as of January 8,
2004, as amended (incorporated by reference tabiExt0.13 to the Company’s Registration StatemenfEarm S1/A filed July
23, 2012
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Exhibit

Number Description

10.14 Termination of the Advisory Services Agreement tesiw Diversified Collection Services, Inc. and Pamtin Capital, LLC
dated as of January 8, 2004, as amended, datéd\psilal3, 2012 (incorporated by reference to Bbihil0.14 to the
Compan’s Registration Statement on For-1/A filed July 23, 2012

10.15 2012 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by refeegiacExhibit 10.15 to the Company’s Registratioat&nent on Form $/A
filed July 23, 2012

21 List of Subsidiarie:

23 Consent of KPMG LLP, Independent Registered Pukdicounting Firm

24 Powers of Attorney (included in the signature pegthis report

31.1 Rule 13-14(a)/15¢+14(a) Certification, executed by Lisa C.

31.2 Rule 13-14(a)/15¢14(a) Certification, executed by Hakan L. On

32.1 Furnished Statement of the Chief Executive Offizeder 18 U.S.C. Section 13

32.2 Furnished Statement of the Chief Financial Offigeder 18 U.S.C. Section 13

101.INS XBRL Instance Documer

101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schen

101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkba

101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurh

101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkba

101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkb.
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SUBSIDIARIES

Company Name State of Incorporation
Performant Business Services, | Nevada

Performant Recovery, In California

Performant Technologies, | California



Exhibit 23
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accourking

The Board of Directors
Performant Financial Corporation:

We consent to the incorporation by reference irréggstration statement on Form S-8 (No. 333-183@%0ur report dated March 21, 2013
with respect to the consolidated balance shed®gigbrmant Financial Corporation and subsidiareesfaDecember 31, 2012 and 2011, and th
related consolidated statements of operations,ggsaim redeemable preferred stock and stockhol@ersty (deficit), and cash flows for each
of the years in the three year period ended DeceBhe2012, which report appears in this Form 10-K.

/sl KPMG LLP

San Francisco, California
March 21, 2013



Exhibit 31.1

[, Lisa C. Im, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fRerformant Financial Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notador@ny untrue statement of a material fact or dméttate a material fact necessary to mak
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoger which such statements were made, not misigadith respect to the period covered by
this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the registrant as of, and for, theégos presented in this report;

4. The registrans other certifying officer and | are responsibledstablishing and maintaining disclosure contanld procedures (as define:
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) foreéhéstrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedoresiused such disclosure controls and procedoifes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duriig teriod in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financiglorting, or caused such internal control over fiahreporting to be designed

under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registeadisclosure controls and procedures and presantais report our conclusions abr
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls adguatures, as of the end of the period coveredibydport based on such evaluation; ant

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the tegyis’s internal control over financial reportirtgat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repog) tlas materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s intexl control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorernal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit commititthe registrant’s board of directors (or pessperforming the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize aqbrt financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaweanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Dated: March 21, 2013

/s/ Lisa C. Im
Lisa C. Im
Chief Executive Office




Exhibit 31.2
I, Hakan L. Orvell, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fRerformant Financial Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notador@ny untrue statement of a material fact or dn#ttate a material fact necessary to mak
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoger which such statements were made, not misigadith respect to the period covered by
this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the registrant as of, and for, thegoks presented in this report;

4. The registrans other certifying officer and | are responsibledstablishing and maintaining disclosure contanld procedures (as definet
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) foreéhéstrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedoresiused such disclosure controls and procedoifes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duriig period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financiglorting, or caused such internal control over fiahreporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registeagiisclosure controls and procedures and presémthd report our conclusions abi
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such evaluation; an

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the tegig's internal control over financial reportirttat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tlas materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s intexl control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorernal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit commitibthe registrant’s board of directors (or pessperforming the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize aqbrt financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaweanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Dated: March 21, 2013

/s/ Hakan L. Orvel
Hakan L. Orvell
Chief Financial Office




Exhibit 32.1
SECTION 1350 CERTIFICATIONS

I, Lisa C. Im, Chief Executive Officer of Perforntafinancial Corporation (the “Company”), certifyyngsuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted
pursuant to 8 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 282 to my knowledge the Annual Report on ForrKléf the Company (the “Report”),

which accompanies this Certificate, fully compheish the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(djhef Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and
all information contained in the Report fairly peess, in all material respects, the financial cbadiand results of operations of the Company.

Dated: March 21, 2013

/s/ Lisa C. I
Lisa C. Im
Chief Executive Office




Exhibit 32.2
SECTION 1350 CERTIFICATIONS

I, Hakan L. Orvell, Chief Financial Officer of Permant Financial Corporation (the “Company”), dgrtpursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as
adopted pursuant to 8 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley®2002, that to my knowledge the Annual Reporfonm 10-K of the Company (the
“Report”), which accompanies this Certificate, fjutlomplies with the requirements of Section 13¢a)%(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, and all information contained in the Repaitly presents, in all material respects, the faiaincondition and results of operations of the
Company.

Dated: March 21, 2013

/s/ Hakan L. Orvel
Hakan L. Orvell
Chief Financial Office




